
 

 
 
By Electronic Delivery 
 

 
December 21, 2010 
 
 
Hon. Jaclyn A. Brilling 
Secretary to the Commission 
New York State Public Service Commission 
Agency Building 3  
Albany, NY 12223-1350 
 
Subject:  Petition of the New York Independent System Operator, Inc. Pursuant to 
Section 69 of the New York Public Service Law  
 
Dear Ms. Brilling: 

 
Pursuant to the electronic filing guidelines of the Public Service Commission of 

the State of New York, attached for filing is the Petition of the New York Independent 
System Operator, Inc. (“NYISO”) for Authority to Incur Indebtedness for a Term in 
Excess of Twelve Months, together with supporting affidavits and documents.  

 
Should you have any questions, please contact me by phone at (518) 356-6220 or 

by email at cpatka@nyiso.com.  
  

Very truly yours,  
 
/s/ Carl F. Patka   
Carl F. Patka 
Assistant General Counsel 

 

10 Krey Boulevard   Rensselaer, NY  12144 

mailto:cpatka@nyiso.com�


 
 
 
 

BEFORE THE 
NEW YORK STATE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 

 

----------------------------------------------------------x 
 
In the Matter of the Petition of The New York  
Independent System Operator, Inc. Under  Case No.  10-E-______ 
Public Service Law Section 69 for Authority 
to Incur Indebtedness for a Term in 
Excess of Twelve Months 
 
----------------------------------------------------------x 
 
 
 

 
 

PETITION OF THE NEW YORK INDEPENDENT SYSTEM OPERATOR, INC. 
FOR AUTHORITY TO INCUR INDEBTEDNESS FOR  

A TERM IN EXCESS OF TWELVE MONTHS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DATED: DECEMBER 21, 2010 
 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
Page 

I. Background..........................................................................................................................3 
II. Description of the Project ....................................................................................................7 
III. Rationale for the Project ....................................................................................................11 

A. Meeting Expanded Operational and Reliability Needs..........................................13 
1. Broader Regional Markets Initiatives. .......................................................13 
2. Smart Grid Technologies. ..........................................................................15 
3. Intermittent Renewable Energy Resources................................................18 
4. NERC Requirements..................................................................................19 

B. Specific Facilities Requirements to Meet Expanded Responsibilities...................20 
1. Enhancing Situational Awareness..............................................................21 
2. Additions to the Control Room and Operations Staff................................22 

C. Deficiencies at Existing Facilities..........................................................................24 
1. Current Primary Control Center.................................................................24 
2. Krey Property Control Center....................................................................27 
3. Carman Property Data Center....................................................................31 

D. Alternatives and Why Proposed Project is Best Option ........................................32 
IV. The Proposed Construction Facility...................................................................................37 
V. Required Information.........................................................................................................43 

A. Financial Condition of the NYISO ........................................................................43 
B. Book Cost of the NYISO’s Utility Property ..........................................................44 
C. No Amounts for a Franchise ..................................................................................45 
D. No Issuance of Stock .............................................................................................45 
E. Amount of Proposed Indebtedness ........................................................................45 
F. Purpose of the Proposed Construction Facility......................................................45 
G. Other Funds Available For Stated Purpose............................................................46 
H. Finalized Loan Agreement.....................................................................................46 
I. Estimated Costs and Expenses of the Proposed Construction Facility..................47 
J. Mortgage or Other Security Agreement ................................................................47 
K. No Planned Merger or Consolidation ....................................................................47 
L. Stockholders Consent to Proposed Construction Facility......................................48 
M. No Other Required Approvals ...............................................................................48 
N. No Capitalization of Any Franchise ......................................................................48 
O. Affidavit of Principal Accounting Officer.............................................................48 
P. General Work Description and Estimated Cost .....................................................48 
Q. Construction Work Agreement ..............................................................................49 
R. Retired Property .....................................................................................................50 
S. Affidavit of Principal Accounting Officer.............................................................50 
T. State Environmental Quality Review Act..............................................................50 

VI. The Proposed Financing Is In the Public Interest ..............................................................52 
VII. Supporting Attachments.....................................................................................................54 
 
 



BEFORE THE 
NEW YORK STATE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 

 

----------------------------------------------------------x 
 
In the Matter of the Petition of The New York  
Independent System Operator, Inc. Under  Case No.  10-E-______ 
Public Service Law Section 69 for Authority 
to Incur Indebtedness for a Term in 
Excess of Twelve Months 
 
----------------------------------------------------------x 
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FOR AUTHORITY TO INCUR INDEBTEDNESS FOR  

A TERM IN EXCESS OF TWELVE MONTHS 
 

 

Pursuant to Section 69 of the New York Public Service Law (“NYPSL”) and applicable 

parts of Title 16 of the New York Code of Rules and Regulations (“NYCRR”), The New York 

Independent System Operator, Inc. (the “NYISO”) submits this Petition to request authorization 

from the Public Service Commission of the State of New York (“NYPSC” or “Commission”) to 

incur indebtedness for a term in excess of twelve months. 

As described in detail below, the NYISO respectfully submits that the Commission 

should authorize this credit facility because it is necessary to finance a construction and 

renovation project at the NYISO’s facilities.  This project, described in detail below, includes: 

• Construction of an addition to serve as a new primary control center at the NYISO’s 

Krey Boulevard facility to provide necessary situational awareness technology and 

expanded space for additional control center operator positions.   
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• Construction of an addition at the NYISO’s Carman Road facility to serve as the new 

data center. 

• Upgrades and improvements to the control center at the NYISO’s Carman Road 

facility to serve as the new alternate control center. 

• Additional renovations at both the Krey Boulevard and Carman Road properties to 

rectify specific deficiencies and implement certain technology upgrades. 

Each aspect of the proposed project is necessary to address scheduled or anticipated 

reliability and compliance changes in the industry that have been mandated or proposed by 

regulators, policymakers and stakeholders.  These initiatives include implementation of Broader 

Regional Markets, introduction of Smart Grid Technologies, incorporation of intermittent 

renewable resources, and evolving mandatory NERC reliability standards that potentially will 

apply to all New York Control Area transmission facilities 100 kV and above.  The proposed 

project has been carefully considered by the NYISO and its stakeholders.  Completion of this 

project will allow the NYISO to better fulfill its core mission of maintaining the reliability of the 

bulk power system and operating economically-efficient wholesale markets that provide electric 

service to the ratepayers of New York State by increasing situational awareness in its control 

centers and accommodating additional operations staff including two new operator positions 

needed to implement (i) Broader Regional Markets, and (ii) operational responsibilities for 

transmission facilities 100 kV and above, if implemented by NERC.  In addition, the proposed 

project provides the NYISO with the ability to add a third operator position for the integration of 

additional renewable energy resources and the implementation of Smart Grid technologies.  The 

NYISO submits that the proposed project represents the most cost-efficient and logical option to 
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address the NYISO’s core mission and its evolving responsibilities.  The initiatives described 

herein will be implemented beginning in 2013, and construction will take approximately 36 

months to complete.  Accordingly, the NYISO respectfully requests that the Commission 

approve the proposed financing so the project can be completed as soon as possible in 2013. 

The current primary control center at Carman Road, together with the alternate control 

center at Krey Boulevard, have served the NYISO well and have been incrementally upgraded 

and expanded over the past few decades to meet changing needs.  For the reasons discussed 

below, the NYISO submits that a new primary control center and significant upgrades to other 

aspects of the NYISO’s facilities are necessary.  Without the proposed project, the NYISO 

submits that it will face unacceptable risks to reliability impacting its ability to perform its 

current operating responsibilities together with the new initiatives that the Federal Energy 

Regulatory Commission (“FERC”), the United States Department of Energy (“DOE”) and the 

NYPSC expect the NYISO to implement. 

I. Background 

The NYISO is a not-for-profit corporation, tax exempt under section 501(c)(3) of the 

Internal Revenue Code, that: (i) operates and maintains the reliability of the bulk power system; 

(ii) administers the wholesale electricity markets; and (iii) conducts short-term and long-term 

planning for the bulk power system within the New York Control Area.  The NYISO is an 
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“electric corporation” under the New York State Public Service Law1 and, therefore, may not 

incur indebtedness payable at periods exceeding twelve months without prior authorization from 

the NYPSC.2 

The NYPSC has previously authorized ten NYISO requests to incur indebtedness with a 

term exceeding twelve months:   

• The first authorization was by Order issued September 9, 1999, in Case No. 99-E-

1176, whereby the Commission authorized a $12,000,000 revolving line of credit 

(“Revolver”) for working capital purposes.  On September 7, 2000, the Commission 

authorized an increase in the Revolver to $50,000,000.   

• The second authorization was by Order issued October 20, 1999, also in Case No. 99-

E-1176, whereby the Commission authorized a $54,000,000 term loan agreement 

(“Term Loan”) for start-up costs.   

• The third authorization was by Order issued October 25, 2001, in Case No. 01-E-

1068, whereby the Commission authorized a three-year term note (“3-Year Term 

Note”) with a credit line up to a maximum of $20,000,000 to purchase computer 

hardware.   

                                                 
 

1   NYPSL § 2(12-13).  Although many of the functions of the NYISO are regulated by the FERC, the 
NYPSC determined that the NYISO is an “electric corporation” in an Order issued in Case No. 00-E-1380 (August 
14, 2000). 

2   NYPSL § 69. 
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• The fourth authorization was by Order issued February 10, 2003, in Case No. 02-E-

1565, whereby the Commission authorized a five-year term note (“5-Year Term 

Note”) with a credit line up to a maximum of $59,300,000 to purchase computer 

equipment and software upgrades.   

• The fifth authorization was by Order issued March 8, 2004, in Case No. 03-E-1770, 

whereby the Commission authorized a $100,000,000 revolving line of credit with 

three separate four-year term loan conversion options (“2004-2006 Budget Facility”) 

to provide funding for strategic initiatives related to the management of the New 

York power grid for the years 2004, 2005 and 2006.   

• The sixth authorization was by Order issued May 10, 2005, in Case 05-E-0270, 

whereby the Commission authorized a total of $25,000,000 in secured financing 

(“Mortgage and Renovations Loan”) to provide funding for the acquisition of certain 

real property, and for the renovation of the office building thereon. 

• The seventh authorization was by Order issued July 21, 2005, in Case No. 05-E-0503, 

whereby the Commission authorized a $50,000,000 revolving line of credit 

(“Replacement Revolver”) to replace the Revolver, which was to expire in October, 

2005. 

• The eighth authorization was by Order issued January 19, 2007, in Case No. 06-E-

1254, whereby the Commission authorized a $80,000,000 revolving loan facility 

(“2007-2010 Budget Facility”) to provide funding for strategic initiatives related to 

the management of the New York power grid for the years 2007, 2008, 2009 and 

2010. 
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• The ninth authorization was by Order issued July 19, 2010, in Case No. 10-E-0160, 

whereby the Commission authorized a $50,000,000 revolving line of credit (“2010 

Revolver”) to replace the Replacement Revolver, which was to expire in July, 2010. 

• The tenth authorization was by Order issued July 19, 2010, also in Case No. 10-E-

0160, whereby the Commission authorized a $75,000,000 revolving loan facility 

(“2011-2013 Budget Facility”) to provide funding for strategic initiatives related to 

the management of the New York power grid for the years 2011, 2012 and 2013. 

By this Petition, the NYISO requests authorization from the Commission to borrow up to 

$45,000,000 (the “Proposed Construction Facility”) to finance construction of (i) an addition to 

serve as the new primary power control center and related improvements on real property leased 

by the NYISO and constituting a portion of the property commonly known as 10 Krey 

Boulevard, Rensselaer, New York 12144 (the “Krey Property”), and (ii) construction of an 

addition to serve as the new data center, upgrades to the NYISO’s power control center to serve 

as the new alternate control center and other upgrades on real property owned by the NYISO and 

constituting a portion of the property commonly known as 3890 Carman Road, Schenectady, 

New York 12303 (the “Carman Property”) (collectively, the “Project”).   

Because it will take approximately 36 months to complete the Project, it is necessary to 

begin at this time to meet the future reliability needs of New York State so that the NYISO will 

be prepared to implement multiple new reliability and market initiatives in 2013.  As described 

herein, the NYISO’s current facilities will be inadequate to meet these future needs.   

The Proposed Construction Facility will take the form of a construction loan to be 

advanced as needed until completion of the Project, with interest-only payments due for the first 
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36 months until conversion to a permanent loan with a term of 17 years.  The Proposed 

Construction Facility will be secured by a first lien mortgage (and related Uniform Commercial 

Code filings, if any) on the Carman Property (the “Carman Mortgage”) and carry an interest rate 

equal to a one, three or six month LIBOR3 plus a margin of 325 basis points.  The Proposed 

Construction Facility is currently scheduled to close on or before August 31, 2011.  The terms of 

the Proposed Construction Facility are more fully described in Section IV of this Petition and in 

the commitment letter (“Commitment Letter”) attached to and made part of this Petition as 

Attachment I.  Incurring indebtedness for a period of more than 12 months is the best means to 

finance the bulk of the Project because it involves construction of capital facilities that will serve 

New York State for years to come, and, as described herein, represents a reasonable means to 

reduce the short-term impact of the cost of the Project on ratepayers.   

For the reasons set forth in this Petition and the supporting Attachments, the Project and 

the Proposed Construction Facility required to finance the Project are consistent with the proper 

utility purposes of the NYISO and are in the public interest.  

II. Description of the Project 

The Project involves the construction of an addition at the Krey Property (“Krey Control 

Center”), construction of a new data center at the Carman Property, renovation of the existing 

control center located at the Carman Property (“Carman Control Center”), and certain 

improvements at both properties.  Upon completion of this multi-phased undertaking, the Krey 

                                                 
 

3   London Interbank Offering Rate for the corresponding deposits of U.S. Dollars quoted by major banks in 
London. 
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Property will become the primary control center and work place for most operations staff, and 

the renovated Carman Control Center will be the new alternate control center.  The Project will 

involve a mix of new construction, facility upgrades, and technology implementation, with 

construction activities to be performed at each of the two NYISO facilities: (1) new construction 

and upgrades at the Carman Property are expected to be completed in approximately one year, 

followed by (2) new construction at the Krey Property expected to be completed in 

approximately two years thereafter.4   

The site improvements at the Carman Property will include a small building expansion to 

house a new data center, control center renovations for additional grid operations functions, 

replacement of emergency generation facilities, and remediation of other facility deficiencies to 

continue operating the control center reliably.  Project activities at the Krey Property will entail a 

building expansion to house a new control center designed to meet evolving grid reliability and 

market operation requirements outlined below, the creation of sufficient office space to locate the 

NYISO operations staff at the Krey Control Center, updated control center technology to 

enhance situational awareness5, and the addition of a second power feed and enhanced 

emergency generation facilities at the Krey Property.  The new Krey Property addition will be 

approximately 64,000 square feet, consisting of approximately 27,000 square feet for the control 

                                                 
 

4 The Project schedule was changed to extend the construction period from two years to three years due to 
the need to proceed with certain urgent aspects of the Project in 2010. See Footnote 6. 

5   Situational awareness refers to the ability of system operators to continuously monitor the system so that 
system contingencies can be better managed so as to reduce the likelihood of a violation of reliability standards or 
that cascading outages will occur.  Situational awareness is increasingly necessary as operators are required to 
process an anticipated increase in the volume of data resulting from the implementation of technology upgrades such 
as the Smart Grid system. 
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center, 30,000 square feet for office space to house operations staff needed to run the bulk power 

system and wholesale markets, and 7,000 square feet for a security lobby. 

Construction activities at the Carman Property started in 2010,6 and are scheduled to be 

complete in early 2012.  Construction activities at the Krey Property are targeted to begin in the 

second half of 2011, with the new control center to be activated by late 2013 and the remaining 

construction to be completed no later than mid-2014. 

The going-forward cost to complete the Project is $48,900,000, $7,000,000 of which is 

projected to be funded from sources outside of this Petition (some of which comes from 

spending underruns against amounts budgeted for 2010), for a cost currently expected to be 

financed by the Proposed Construction Facility of up to $41,900,000.  Therefore, the NYISO is 

requesting authorization for financing in the aggregate amount of $45,000,000, which includes a 

financing contingency of $3,100,000.7  The NYISO has high confidence that the Project can be 

completed within the financing limit.   

                                                 
 

6 Due to the urgency of certain needs, the NYISO has completed or commenced work on certain activities 
related to the Project including: (i) asbestos abatement at the Carman Property, (ii) procurement of emergency 
generators for both the Carman Property and the Krey Property, (iii) design and construction of the data center 
addition at the Carman Property, and (iv) design of the new control center at the Krey Property.  The NYISO 
expects to have incurred approximately $2,000,000 for work undertaken in 2009 and $5,000,000 for work 
undertaken in 2010 (based, in part, on projected expenditures for the latter part of 2010, which remain subject to 
confirmation upon completion of the NYISO’s 2010 annual financial statements).    

7 Given the uncertainties that can exist between initial plans and final design, and the relative expense of 
securing an additional loan commitment as opposed to funding a contingency out of current operating budgets, the 
NYISO determined that it was prudent to establish a reasonable financing contingency.  A financing contingency 
will permit the NYISO to address necessary but unforeseen changes in the design or scope of the Project.  The 
amount of the financing contingency is lower than requested in 2009 because the NYISO planning process has 
advanced such that it is better able to estimate the total actual cost of the Project. 
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The cost estimates developed for the Project were derived from a detailed requirements 

process, are based on a set of concept designs produced by a qualified architect, and are 

supported by material and labor estimates from reputable builders.  The breakdown of the 

estimated going-forward costs to complete the Project is as follows: 

 2011 2012 2013 Totals 

Carman Property Data 
Center and other Upgrades 

$10,900,000 2,500,000 -- $13,400,000 

Krey Property Control 
Center Design 

$1,200,000 -- -- $1,200,000 

Krey Property 
Construction 

-- $17,000,000 $17,300,000 $34,300,000 

Totals $12,100,000 $19,500,000 $17,300,000 $48,900,000 

 

The total cost of the Project has increased from the estimated cost the NYISO calculated 

in 2009 due to the following factors: 

• Project lifecycle:  The current plan spans three years whereas prior plans occurred 

over two years. 

• Economic synergies:  Economic synergies resulting from the previous plan for 

simultaneous construction at both sites have been reduced due to the current plan to 

sequence construction at the two sites. 

• Higher construction and material costs:  As anticipated, material costs have increased 

since 2009. 

• Inflation:  Inflationary assumptions are included for a longer project timeline. 



 

11 

• Additional Architectural Analyses:  Additional scenario analyses for planning options 

and justifications were not included in original estimates. 

On November 17, 2010, the NYISO’s Management Committee, which is composed of 

market participants from all industry sectors, recommended that the NYISO proceed with filing 

this Petition for approval of financing for the Project by an affirmative vote of over 80%.8  On 

December 20, 2010, the NYISO Board of Directors unanimously approved the Project and the 

Proposed Construction Facility.   

III. Rationale for the Project 

Over the course of the next three years, the NYISO will be required by FERC, the DOE 

and the NYPSC to implement or be prepared to implement the following four initiatives: (1) 

Broader Regional Markets (FERC)9, (2) the incorporation of Smart Grid Technologies (DOE)10, 

(3) increasing incorporation of intermittent renewable generation resources (NYPSC Renewable 

Portfolio Standard)11, and (4) evolving NERC requirements, potentially including reliability 

                                                 
 

8   The NYISO governance process requires a 58% affirmative vote for the Management Committee to 
approve proposed actions.  See Section 7.10 of the NYISO Independent System Operator Agreement.  The actual 
vote was as follows: 81.6% in favor, 6.13% against, and 12.27% abstaining. 

9 Order Conditionally Accepting NYISO’s Status Report Addressing the Development of Long-Term, 
Comprehensive solutions to the Occurrence of Lake Erie Region Loop Flows, Final Rule, Order on Compliance 
Filing Docket No. ER08-1281-004, 132 FR 61031 (July 15, 2010). 

10 DOE Grant No. DE-OE0000368. 
11 Case 03-E-0188, Proceeding on Motion of the Commission Regarding a Retail Renewable Portfolio 

Standard, Order Establishing New RPS Goal and Resolving Main Tier Issues (issued and effective January 8, 2010), 
at 13 (approving increase of Renewable Portfolio Standard from 25 percent of New York energy generation by 2013 
to 30 percent of energy generation by 2015). 
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oversight of all New York Control Area transmission facilities 100 kV and above (FERC)12.   

After considering several means by which the NYISO could achieve the necessary 

enhancements, it was determined that the Project would be the most cost-effective and efficient 

option given the existing constraints posed by the NYISO’s aging facilities. 

The NYISO engaged several independent consultants, Potomac Economics (“Potomac”), 

KEMA, Inc. (“KEMA”) and Energy Initiatives Group, LLC (“EIG”), to assist in its analysis of 

the Project.  Potomac was engaged to assess the potential benefits of the Broader Regional 

Market initiatives.  The Affidavit of David B. Patton, Ph.D. of Potomac is attached as 

Attachment XII hereto and includes Potomac’s full report.  KEMA was engaged to (i) review the 

adequacy of the facilities at the Carman Property and the Krey Property for accommodating 

existing and new responsibilities to maintain reliable grid operations and efficient market 

administration, and (ii) to make recommendations regarding any necessary modifications or 

improvements to the facilities in keeping with industry best practices.  The Affidavit of Ralph 

Masiello is attached as Attachment XIII hereto and includes KEMA’s full report.  EIG was 

engaged to conduct a cost-benefit analysis of the Project and several alternatives to the Project to 

determine which is the most cost-effective approach for upgrading the NYISO’s facilities.  The 

Affidavit of Francis J. Flynn of EIG is attached as Attachment XIV hereto and includes EIG’s 

full report.  The recommendations and analysis of each of the consultants were carefully 

considered by the NYISO and formed an important part of its decision to proceed with the 

Project. 
                                                 
 

12 Revision to Electric Reliability Organization Definition of Bulk Electric System, Final Rule, Order No. 
743, FERC Stats. & Regs. 133 FR 61150 (Nov. 18, 2010). 
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A. Meeting Expanded Operational and Reliability Needs 

Before deciding to proceed with the Project, the adequacy of the existing NYISO 

facilities was assessed not only against current operational responsibilities and reliability 

requirements, but also against future responsibilities and requirements.  The assessment 

considered the lead time necessary to develop new control center facilities or to renovate existing 

facilities before the NYISO’s responsibilities surpass its capabilities.  The following is a 

discussion of the expanded market, operational and reliability needs that formed the basis of the 

NYISO’s assessment.  The Affidavit of Rick Gonzales, Senior Vice President and Chief 

Operating Officer of the NYISO, attached hereto as Attachment IX supports the following 

discussion. 

1. Broader Regional Markets Initiatives. 

The NYISO, in coordination with its neighboring Independent System Operators 

(“ISOs”) and Regional Transmission Organizations (“RTOs”), intends to implement a set of 

related market enhancements, collectively called the Broader Regional Markets initiatives.  

These initiatives will improve the NYISO’s ability to address complex seams issues, market 

inefficiencies, and reliability challenges that result from unscheduled power flows around Lake 

Erie.  More generally, the initiatives will improve inter-regional ISO efficiencies through the 

availability of enhanced market operations and ISO-to-ISO coordination.  These market 

enhancements are planned to be incorporated beginning in 2013 and, therefore, any required 

facility upgrades to take full advantage of these initiatives should be in place in that year.  The 

following is a summary of some of the Broader Regional Market initiatives: 

• Buy-Through of Congestion - Cost allocation and recovery of congestion costs from 

those external parties not currently participating in the NYISO markets but responsible, 
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in part, for creating transmission system congestion.  Buy-Through of Congestion would 

require that the congestion cost resulting from a party’s transaction schedule be charged 

based on the physical flow of power, unlike the current settlement determination that is 

based only on the party’s transaction contract path.  For example, a party’s transaction 

scheduled from Ontario to MISO to PJM would be charged for any resulting congestion 

impact in New York. 

• Market to Market Coordination - Redispatch of generators within a neighboring control 

area to address transmission constraints when that dispatch is more cost effective than the 

dispatch of generators within the control area experiencing the constraints. 

• Interface Pricing Revisions - Improvement of the pricing of energy for NYISO 

transaction schedules between individual grid operators (ISOs and RTOs) to allow for 

more efficient inter-regional power transfers. 

• Interregional Transaction Coordination - Flexible transaction scheduling provisions 

between individual grid operators (ISOs and RTOs) to improve market and operational 

efficiency by allowing transaction schedules to more frequently adjust to the ever-

changing system conditions and to respond to system contingencies. 

These market enhancements are designed to reduce uplift costs associated with congestion and 

real-time event management, to improve the capability to incorporate intermittent resources, and, 

thereby, to lower total system operating costs.  The NYISO expects the Broader Regional Market 
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initiatives to enhance reliability through regional dispatch and result in cost savings of up to 

$193,000,000 annually13 that will benefit consumers in the State of New York. 

2. Smart Grid Technologies. 

The NYISO is in the preliminary stages of a Department of Energy-funded project, along 

with the New York Transmission Owners, to deploy a network of phasor measurement units 

(“PMUs”) on the New York power grid and to integrate the data collected from the PMUs to 

provide greater situational awareness for NYISO control center operators.  This project is 

scheduled to be implemented by 2013.  The NYISO intends to integrate PMU data with existing 

NYISO systems at its control centers.  The applications that PMU technology will support 

include: 

• Wide-area visualization and monitoring. 

• Phase angle and frequency monitoring. 

• Inter-area oscillation detection and analysis. 

• Proximity to voltage collapse. 

• Dynamic model validation. 

• Fast frequency regulation. 

• Potential optimization of capacitor operation for reliability and loss reduction. 

In the long-term, the NYISO’s PMU network will interoperate with PMU networks in New 

England, the Mid-Atlantic, the Midwest, and Ontario to create broader situational awareness in 

                                                 
 

13   See Potomac Report, Page 12. 
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the NYISO’s control centers and in control centers throughout the Eastern Interconnection.  This 

may help to avoid major system disturbances such as the 2003 Northeast regional blackout, 

which resulted in significant costs.14 

Planned enhancements to the NYISO’s control center layout, to be implemented as part 

of the Project, will provide necessary infrastructure and state-of-the-art visual displays to receive, 

process, and monitor changing system conditions effectively throughout the Eastern 

Interconnection received via the PMU network, providing the NYISO with the enhanced 

capability to take actions to assist in the maintenance of reliable system operations.    

The Project’s objectives are fully consistent with the NYPSC’s views about the value of 

PMUs to prevent or mitigate system disturbances.  The New York State Department of Public 

Service Second Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout identifies needed steps to avoid future 

outages.  The report states that: 

The next step is modeling changes that could be made to the transmission 
system to see if those changes could prevent or mitigate the consequences 
of similar events.  Some of the more conventional steps that are being 
examined include reviews of protective relay settings for transmission 
lines and generators, evaluations of the adequacy of underfrequency and 
undervoltage load shedding, assessments of the adequacy of transmission 
connections within New York and with our neighbors, and use of 
sophisticated measurement devices (phasor measurement) to monitor the 

                                                 
 

14   For the United States alone, costs estimates resulting from the 2003 blackout ranged from $4 to $10 
billion.  U.S. Canada Power System Outage Task Force, Final Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout in the United 
States and Canada:  Causes and Recommendations (April 2004). 
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status of the entire Eastern Interconnection (most of the United States 
and Canada east of the Rockies). 15 

The Commission further expressed support for a New York State PMU network in its July 27, 

2009 Order preliminarily authorizing rate recovery of funds to match DOE stimulus funds for the 

thirty-nine PMUs to be installed by the Transmission Owners.16  The NYPSC stated that: 

The statewide PMU network would provide a wide area and local region 
visualization of the transmission system.  The system would be set up with 
alarms to notify operators of possible voltage violations and angular 
separation of generators in other control areas and to be able to take 
preventive measures.  In addition, the system would provide a history for 
event re-creation following an event.  Each utility is expected to retrieve 
the data and have one or more phasor data concentrators to pick up the 
data and forward the data to the NYISO.  In concert with the NYISO 
project, RPI will develop software to collect the data, screen for bad data, 
alarm for conditions that could lead to a system collapse, and enable the 
users to work with information received from other ISO control areas.  
The full scale application of PMU[s] is expected to take several years to 
accomplish and develop the analytical tools to work with it.  Because this 
project provides system-wide benefits, expands an existing program and 
provides foundational information for the development of more advanced 
operational systems, we will approve it.17 

The Project was conceived, in part, to maximize and enhance the benefits from the integration of 

the PMU data and provide NYISO with improved visualization capabilities and situational 

awareness.  Had such tools been in place throughout the Eastern Interconnection in 2003, it is 

possible that the August 14, 2003 blackout could have been prevented or at least its effects 

                                                 
 

15   The New York State Department of Public Service Second Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout – 
October 2005, at 19 (emphasis added). 

16   Case 09-E-0310, Matter of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 – Utility Filings for 
New York Economic Stimulus, Order Authorizing Recovery of Costs Associated with Stimulus Projects (issued and 
effective July 27, 2009), at 20-21.  

17   Id., Order at 21 (emphasis in original).  
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limited.18  The statewide PMU network is scheduled to be completed in 2013.  Development of 

the Project and the statewide PMU network in parallel will provide the best platform for 

integrating the PMUs to improve its situational awareness and better allow for actions to be 

taken to guard against future disturbances. 

3. Intermittent Renewable Energy Resources 

The Project is expected to meet longer-term reliability challenges for at least the next 

twenty years.  As greater amounts of renewable resources and related technologies are brought 

online in New York19 and elsewhere, today’s technology for managing such resources and 

related storage and grid management devices may not be adequate.  Specifically, reliability 

concerns may arise from infrequent and largely unpredictable wind plant ramp events that must 

be managed.  Such wind plant ramp events may occur during sudden drops in wind speeds or 

when wind speeds approach cut-out levels that can also cause sudden large drops in wind 

generation output levels.  As greater amounts of renewable resources are integrated, NYISO may 

need improved tools to manage wind ramp events, including the ability to receive and process 

real-time data regarding wind speed and direction, requiring state-of-the-art monitoring 

capability using enhanced visualization displays and further enhancements to its current wind 

forecasting capabilities.  In addition, new limited energy storage technologies are being 

developed, such as flywheel and large scale battery technologies, to compliment the variable 

output of renewable resources.   

                                                 
 

18   The Task Force estimated the total cost in the United States of the August 14, 2003 blackout was 
between $4 billion and $10 billion.  See Id., Final Report at 1. 

19   There are currently approximately 7,000 MW of wind projects in the NYISO’s interconnection queue. 



 

19 

Moreover, considerable research is being applied to the problems of coordinated 

management of intermittent resources and storage, which may lead to future automation in the 

control of these resources.  As the level of intermittent energy resources, such as wind and solar, 

increases, the NYISO may need additional operations staff at its control centers to reliably and 

efficiently manage these technologies.  The Project will provide the infrastructure resources the 

NYISO needs to enhance situational awareness and forecasting capabilities, as well as the 

physical space needed to accommodate additional control center staff and equipment to manage 

the increased amounts of wind and other intermittent resources. 

Another related area of concern is the anticipated impact to New York State’s daily load 

profile resulting from a high penetration of Plug in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (“PHEVs”).  It is 

likely that technologies to manage PHEVs’ charging demand and other demand response will be 

developed to maintain reliability.  The Project will provide situational awareness to enhance 

monitoring capabilities in order to manage PHEVs, and the physical space to add additional 

control center staffing, if and when required. 

4. NERC Requirements. 

The mandatory North American Electric Reliability Corporation (“NERC”) and other 

reliability standards that apply to the NYISO will continue to evolve and place additional 

requirements on the operation of the bulk electric system and wholesale markets.  The FERC has 

directed NERC to update and revise its standards in multiple respects.  The NYISO control 

centers must contain sufficient physical space and flexibility to incorporate new control center 

technologies and additional staffing to enable the NYISO to maintain compliance with evolving 

reliability requirements.  Most significantly, on November 18, 2010, FERC directed NERC to 
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expand the definition of Bulk Electric System facilities to apply to all New York State 

transmission facilities 100 kV and above, excluding radial lines and distribution facilities.20   

FERC has directed NERC to file the revised definition of Bulk Electric System facilities 

in one year, and allowed for a transition plan of up to 18 months.  If NERC adopts the 100 kV 

standard for the Bulk Electric System definition, then the NYISO will require at least one 

additional control center position to comply with the expanded reliability oversight 

responsibilities for the transmission facilities 100 kV and above.  Accordingly, the NYISO will 

need to be prepared to carry out additional operational, oversight and reliability coordination 

approximately 30 months from FERC’s November, 2010 order (mid-2013).  Completion of the 

Project will provide sufficient physical space to accommodate the required additional future 

operator positions to the NYISO control center if and when NERC elects to implement the new 

Bulk Electric System definition. 

B. Specific Facilities Requirements to Meet Expanded Responsibilities 

The Affidavit of Rick Gonzales, Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the 

NYISO, attached hereto as Attachment IX supports the following discussion.  The NYISO will 

need to accommodate the following capabilities in its control centers to implement the enhanced 

operational and reliability responsibilities described above: 

• Enhanced situational awareness by including additional visualization technologies in its 

control centers; and 

                                                 
 

20   Revision to Electric Reliability Organization Definition of Bulk Electric System, Final Rule, Order No. 
743 FERC Stats. & Regs. 133 FR 61150 (Nov. 18, 2010).  
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• Accommodate additional control room operations positions to manage related monitoring 

and coordination functions. 

1. Enhancing Situational Awareness. 

The NYISO’s control centers will require improvements in visualization capabilities in 

the areas of: 

• Broader Regional Markets initiatives. 

• PMU data and the results of the related applications. 

The NYISO will enhance operators’ situational awareness via advanced video display 

technology and a significant dedicated area of video wall displays, which requires space and new 

technology in both of the NYISO’s control centers.  The report on the August 2003 blackout21 

pointed to a lack of situational awareness by utility operators as a key element in the events 

leading to the blackout.  While the report does not recommend or require large format video 

displays as a remedy for this problem, most of the industry’s efforts in developing advanced 

visualization tools have focused on video presentations, both small format (on the operators’ 

desks) and large format (video walls).22 

                                                 
 

21   U.S. Canada Power System Outage Task Force, Final Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout in the 
United States and Canada:  Causes and Recommendations (April 2004). 

22   For examples of recent investigations, see: http://www.oe.energy.gov/our_organization/rnd.htm; 
http://www.pnl.gov/main/publications/external/technical_reports/PNNL-19103.pdf; 
http://www.wrldc.com/docs/VHPSO_FINAL.pdf. 
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2. Additions to the Control Room and Operations Staff. 

The NYISO will also need to augment control room staff to manage its expanded 

operational and reliability responsibilities.  The NYISO has identified, and planned for, the 

inclusion of the following additional control room staff responsibilities: 

• The Broader Regional Markets initiatives will add new workload to: 

ο Establish and validate transaction schedules with each of the NYISO’s four 

neighboring control areas as often as every five or fifteen minutes, rather than on 

an hourly basis as is currently done. 

ο Market-to-Market coordination requires coordinating and validating redispatch 

action for, and from, neighboring control areas to ensure efficient resource 

utilization and satisfaction of reliability criteria. 

ο Buy-Through of Congestion requires active monitoring for, and identification of, 

parallel flow impacts on NYISO constrained facilities to minimize unrecovered 

constraint management costs. 

ο The NYISO will have to add at least one additional control room staff position to 

implement the intra-hour transaction scheduling requirement of the Broader 

Regional Market initiatives.   

• The development of Smart Grid Technologies is accelerating and the integration of these 

technologies into the grid is increasing.  Control centers must be equipped to manage 

reliability concerns identified by PMUs and other Smart Grid Technologies.  It is possible 
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that, within the expected lifetime of the Project, one or more new control center positions 

for the management of Smart Grid and renewable resources will be required.   

• Depending on NERC’s response to the FERC order to expand the definition of Bulk 

Electric System facilities, the NYISO may be required to add one additional transmission 

operator position in the control room to carry out additional operational and oversight 

responsibilities with respect to lower voltage transmission systems. 

The NYISO control centers should also contain sufficient space to accommodate an 

adequate staffing level necessary during events where the primary facilities are compromised or 

unavailable.  The additional staff positions (as described above) will further exacerbate existing 

space limitations.  Lack of adequate space at the alternate control center during a contingency 

event presents an unacceptable risk to reliability and to business continuity.  Facility 

accommodations must provide for sufficient space for personnel at both the primary and 

alternate control center.  The Project will provide sufficient space at both locations in order to 

maintain continued and uninterrupted reliability and market operations during a contingency 

event. 

In defining the scope and design for the Project, the NYISO carefully considered its 

current business requirements as well as reasonable expectations for future expansion and 

growth.  While the NYISO currently expects that the scope of the Project will satisfy business 

requirements for the foreseeable future, certain design considerations were incorporated that 

could allow reasonable expansions should unforeseen changes to the NYISO business model or 

responsibilities occur in the future.  Design considerations included allowances for future 

additional operator positions, site design that could accommodate future incremental building 
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additions, and interior design that could accommodate office reconfiguration for additional 

seating.  It is not expected that these future expansions will be required, but the flexibility of the 

design will permit future expansion at a reasonable cost should requirements dictate. 

C. Deficiencies at Existing Facilities 

After identifying the expanded responsibilities facing the NYISO and determining what 

will be required to meet those responsibilities, the NYISO spent considerable time assessing its 

current facilities to determine their suitability to meet these changing requirements, any 

deficiencies that need to be addressed, and to what extent the facilities can be modified or 

expanded, without significant new construction.  The following is a summary of that assessment 

divided between the three key facilities:  (1) the current primary control center at the Carman 

Property, (2) the alternate control center and additional facilities at the Krey Property, and (3) the 

data center at the Carman Property.  The Affidavit of Richard Dewey, Senior Vice President and 

Chief Information Officer of the NYISO, attached hereto as Attachment X supports the 

following discussion. 

1. Current Primary Control Center. 

The facility at the Carman Property was purpose-built as a control center in 1969 by the 

predecessor of the NYISO – the New York Power Pool – which used the building for offices and 

a control center from that date.  It is the oldest of the North American ISO and RTO control 

centers. 

The layout and construction of the Carman Property control center presents challenges to 

the continued reliable and efficient operation of the New York State electric grid.  The 
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deficiencies that should be remedied in the near future to ensure continued reliable operations in 

light of the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities can be grouped as follows: 

• Control center layout. 

• Infrastructure deficiencies. 

• Future expansion requirements. 

Layout 

While the NYISO and the New York Power Pool have maintained and renovated the 

control center over its life, there are several problems with the current layout and infrastructure 

that cannot be resolved without major construction. 

Installation of video display walls and related improvements will require a general 

reconfiguration of the control center to maximize visibility and improve situational awareness for 

control center operators.  While the existing tile mapboard has certain advantages, most ISO 

control centers have implemented video display walls in place of or supplemental to mapboards.  

The set of data presented on a video wall and the form of presentation can be changed moment-

to-moment and the technology allows for the rapid deployment of new presentations of data.  

These capabilities will help realize the full value of the Broader Regional Markets initiatives, and 

Smart Grid technologies, and will assist with the integration of renewable resources.  Large 

format video displays also allow for improved situational awareness for all control center 

operator positions.  This will provide a significant advantage if the control center’s operator 

complement is increased, and, therefore, the distance from the furthest operator to the wall 

displays lengthens. 
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Infrastructure  

The Carman Property control center currently supports reliable and efficient electric grid 

operations.  However, as a result of the facility’s age, there are problems that need to be 

addressed in the near future to ensure continued reliable operations including the following: 

• The existing 600 kW emergency generators are over 30 years old and are nearing end of 

life.  Two new 1500 kW generators have been purchased as replacements.  Before the 

new generators can be installed, there will have to be a substantial reconfiguration of the 

building power distribution system.  Reconfiguration of the building power system will 

replace much of the electric switchgear that connects the emergency generators to the 

building. 

• The existing power distribution and UPS equipment are protected by manual fire 

extinguishers, and the area is not suitable for the installation of a gas-based fire 

suppression system.  An automated fire suppression system is highly desirable as fires 

have proven to be one of the most probable risks to control centers.  This could 

reasonably be accomplished during the installation of new generators and switchgear. 

• The in-ground diesel fuel tanks for the emergency generators are nearing end of life and 

will need replacement to mitigate the risk of fuel leakage. 

• The building roof is nearing end of life and must be replaced to prevent further 

deterioration and possible equipment damage due to water leaks. 
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• Many of the pumps, switchgear components, and mechanical systems are original to the 

building and nearing end of life.  These systems will need to be replaced or rebuilt to 

maintain reliable operations. 

Future Expansion 

The existing Carman Property and Krey Property control centers meet current reliability 

needs.  However, in the near future both control centers will need to be expanded to support the 

NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  Given that it is reasonable to expect that additional 

operating positions may be needed beyond those now planned, any renovation of the control 

centers should include space for additional operator positions beyond what has been identified.  

The Carman Property control center is large enough to accommodate the minimum number of 

additional operator position consoles, but will require construction to incorporate further operator 

position consoles, particularly in conjunction with the redevelopment of the existing wallboard 

with video technology.  If the NYISO were to renovate the Carman Property as the primary 

control center, construction could take 24 to 36 months.23  The NYISO would need to operate 

from the Krey Property alternate control center for some of the construction time.  As discussed 

below, the Krey Property control center is not presently suitable for long-term operation. 

2. Krey Property Control Center. 

In 2005, NYISO purchased the Krey Property to consolidate the majority of its staff into 

a single location.  As part of the renovations to the building, a new data center and a new 

alternate control center were constructed within the building.  The relocation of the alternate 

                                                 
 

23 KEMA Report, page 4-4. 
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control center was primarily driven by the NYISO’s need to resolve certain security risks 

regarding the location of the then-existing alternate control center that had been identified by 

several security studies by U.S. agencies and the NYISO’s internal audit staff.24 

The control center at the Krey Property currently provides a reliable alternate control 

center for the NYISO’s existing responsibilities, as required by NERC.  However, the layout and 

construction of the control center present potential challenges to continued reliable and efficient 

operation of the New York State electric grid.  The deficiencies that must be remedied in the near 

future to maintain continued reliable operations in light of the NYISO’s expanding 

responsibilities can be grouped as follows: 

• Control center layout. 

• Infrastructure deficiencies. 

• Future expansion requirements. 

Layout 

While the Carman Property has adequate space within the control center security zone, 

the Krey Property control center space is very limited.  If the NYISO is to operate from the Krey 

Property control center for more than a few days, arrangements must be made to move personnel 

normally occupying the offices surrounding the alternate control center to make room for the 

required operations support personnel from the primary control center.  If the Carman Property is 

unusable for more than a few weeks, approximately 75 employees would need to move to the 

                                                 
 

24 KEMA Report, page 5-1. 
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Krey Property.  Business continuity plans provide for temporary relocation, but, over time, 

efficiency of operations will suffer if the relocation of staff is required for a longer period of 

time.  These 75 employees do not include approximately 10 management and administrative staff 

who would also be relocated if operations were to move to the Krey Property for more than a few 

days. 

The Krey Property control center video display wall is a two-high by twelve-wide matrix 

of projection cubes, installed into the front wall of the control room.  This display area of 512 

square feet is less than 25% of the Carman Property control center wallboard size (2090 square 

feet).  The two-high column of projectors on the left side of the wall is used to display chart 

recorder data, and the remaining screens show the transmission one-line diagrams.  The Phase 1 

telemetry data is presented in the chart recorder space, but the data feed at the Krey Property 

control center is not considered as reliable as it is dependent on equipment at the Carman 

Property control center.  If the Carman Property control center is out of service, this data will not 

be available at the Krey Property control center. 

The size of the video wall is limited by the length of the room and the low ceiling height.  

While this video display wall is adequate for the current level of operations, it will not be 

adequate for the expansion required to meet the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  This is 

particularly true when considering video display capabilities for enhanced situational awareness. 

Infrastructure  

If the Krey Property control center is to continue as a reliable alternate control center for 

even the near future, shortcomings of the power supply system need to be addressed.  The Krey 

Property is fed from a single substation, and uses a single generator for non-critical load and 
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another single generator for critical loads.  The supply to critical loads is configured for an 

additional generator that has not yet been installed.  There are no provisions for sharing or 

transferring loads between the two generators or for selective load shedding. 

The reliability of the Krey Property power supply is on the order of 97.5%, compared to 

99.9% for the Carman Property.25  This is acceptable for its current use as an alternate control 

center, but not acceptable if it is to be considered a viable primary control center. 

Future Expansion  

The Krey Property control center meets current reliability requirements.  However, in the 

near future both control centers will need to be expanded, replaced, or renovated to support the 

expanded responsibilities identified above. 

One additional control room console position could possibly be added in the Krey 

Property control center by eliminating some office space.  However, the view of the video 

display from that console would be severely compromised with the acute angle to the screens, 

exacerbating an already marginal situation.  Expansion of the room itself is limited by its 

placement within the building; it is bordered on three sides by fixed walls.  The critical problem 

will be expanding the video display as needed to improve situational awareness.  The ceiling 

height is limited by the ceiling structure, which cannot reasonably be altered.  This severely 

limits the amount of data that can be shown on the video displays. 

                                                 
 

25   This comparison assumes the complete loss of utility power and reflect the industry norms for the 
difference between a single emergency generator and an ‘N+1’ configuration. 
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3. Carman Property Data Center. 

The NYISO, and its predecessor, the New York Power Pool, have realized good value 

from the Carman Property Data Center.  Over its forty-year life the Carman Property Data Center 

has been expanded, augmented, and renovated as needs and technology have changed.  The 

Carman Property Data Center is not without problems.  None of these problems in isolation is 

sufficient to necessitate replacing the center.  However, considering the age of the building, and 

the risks to reliability and business continuity that are presented if the NYISO had to carry out its 

core functions and new responsibilities at its existing facilities for an extended period of time, the 

NYISO believes that a new data center is warranted and that construction should be completed as 

soon as possible.   

The Carman Property Data Center is an inefficient design.  The cost of this inefficiency is 

estimated to be $100,000 to $200,000 per year in excess energy costs that will be saved in a new 

data center.26  While not enough to by itself justify a new facility, the savings over the lifetime of 

a new data center can offset some of the construction cost.  The sooner these benefits could be 

realized, the greater the payback. 

Also, the near-term plans for the NYISO’s information technology infrastructure 

reinforce the need for a new data center.  The NYISO refreshes its IT infrastructure over multi-

year cycles, targeted at three years.  Several significant projects now underway would benefit 

from installation directly into a new data center (as opposed to installation into the existing 

center and subsequent movement to a new center).  Benefits would include reduced costs (labor 
                                                 
 

26   See KEMA Report, page 6-1. 
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and shorter project cycles) by avoiding the work to relocate the new hardware from the existing 

center to the new center and reduced risk of outages for the same reason. 

D. Alternatives and Why Proposed Project is Best Option 

As described above, both the Carman Property control center and the Krey Property 

control center have shortcomings in their layout, infrastructure, and their capacity to 

accommodate the expected new functionality and additional operating staff required to 

implement the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  The most pressing issues are the space 

constraints at the Krey Property control center, the out-of-date wall displays at the Carman 

Property control center, the aging infrastructure at the Carman Property, and the need for a new 

Carman Property Data Center.  The Affidavit of Richard Dewey, Senior Vice President and 

Chief Information Officer of the NYISO, attached hereto as Attachment X supports the 

following discussion. 

The constraints imposed by the conditions of the facilities at the Carman Property and the 

Krey Property and the requirements for reliable operations limit the effective alternatives to the 

following: 

• In accordance with industry best practices, the NYISO expects to conduct operations 

from a single control center (while the other center is planned out of service) for a limited 

time only (one day or less). 

• The needed renovations at the Carman Property are extensive and, depending on the 

approach, the construction schedule could extend 24 to 36 months.  During this 

construction time, the control center may not be available for operation as a primary or 

alternate control center for significant periods. 
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• The adequacy of the Krey Property control center to support operations over a long term 

will lessen over time as control room staffing increases.  Current staff planning would at 

least reach, if not exceed, the design capacity of the Krey Property control center within 

the next calendar year. 

• The Krey Property control center cannot be meaningfully expanded due to the building’s 

design and construction. 

These constraints would require development of an interim alternate control center during 

the necessary renovation of the Carman Property control center.  Given the costs to establish an 

adequate facility and the fact that such a facility would be of limited long term value to the 

NYISO, this alternative is inadvisable.  If a third control center must be developed during 

renovation of the Carman Property, it would be better to devote such efforts to a new primary 

control center.   

With the above conclusions in mind, the NYISO analyzed, from a cost-benefit 

standpoint, the following two possible projects as viable means by which to meet the expanded 

responsibilities described above. 

Alternative 1 

This option includes the following: 

• Renovate the Carman Road facility to house an expanded primary control center and 

new data center. 

• Expand the Krey Property to house a renovated alternate control center. 
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• Update the Krey Property building infrastructure to support greater redundancy for 

commercial and emergency power. 

• Provide low-tech temporary building options located at Krey Property for operations 

support staff when operating as control center for extended periods. 

The Carman Property control center would be expanded to accommodate the additional 

operating positions necessary for the Broader Regional Markets initiative and other expanded 

responsibilities.  However, expanding beyond those additional positions would involve 

significant brick and mortar modifications since the control room is built out to existing exterior 

walls.   

The existing alternate control center at the Krey Property would be relocated to a new 

15,000 square foot addition to the existing building.  This addition would only house the control 

center and a new video wallboard similar to the primary control center.  Future expansion of the 

alternate control center may not be viable since it would be built out to exterior walls.  

This plan includes provision for housing the additional operations staff at the Krey 

Property at the Krey Property in temporary trailers for extended operation.    

The plan would accommodate the need for increased situational awareness and smart grid 

functions on the video wallboards. 
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The 2011-2013 cost estimate for this alternative is $56,200,000.27  This alternative would 

achieve approximately $150,000 in energy savings per year once the Carman Property data 

center commences operation and the old data center is retired.28   

Alternative 2 

This option includes the following: 

• New addition at the Krey Property site to house an expanded primary control center 

and office space for operations support staff. 

• Update the Krey Property infrastructure to support greater redundancy for 

commercial and emergency power  

• Renovate the Carman Property facilities to house a new data center, upgrade the 

emergency generators, and remediate aging infrastructure.  

The new Krey Property control center would be built initially for the additional operating 

positions that would address short term needs and accommodate potential long term needs, as 

envisioned by NYISO.  Expansion beyond those additional positions would be possible since 

renovations would involve interior sheetrock walls rather than exterior building walls.   

Under this alternative, the existing Carman Property control center would become the 

new alternate control center.  The static mapboard would remain and additional large video 

                                                 
 

27 This estimate excludes costs incurred in 2009 and 2010. 

28 EIG Report, page 14.  Savings would begin in year 3 of the Project. 
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screens would be added around the side perimeters of the room for increased situational 

awareness.  This site also has the ability to be renovated at a future time to replace the static 

mapboard with a video wallboard and to reposition the operator consoles to accommodate 

additional operators. 

If the new alternate control center is required to be operational for extended periods 

(greater than two weeks), the operations support staff would be housed in existing office space, 

conference rooms and potentially the old data center area.    

The 2011-2013 cost estimate for this alternative is $48,900,000.29  This alternative would 

achieve approximately $150,000 in energy savings per year once the Carman Property data 

center begins operation and the old data center is retired.30 

Under this alternative, the NYISO has also identified gains in internal operational 

efficiencies by consolidating NYISO functions on a single campus.  These efficiencies are 

estimated to be approximately $700,000 per year beginning in year four of the Project.  These 

savings result from full time equivalent employee reductions of a physical security shift 

($200,000) and other staff ($500,000). 

Cost Benefit Analysis Conclusions 

Alternative 2 provides NYISO with the foundation, feasibility and infrastructure to 

support its current and expanded responsibilities.  This option gives the NYISO flexibility in 

                                                 
 

29 This estimate excludes costs incurred in 2009 and 2010. 

30 EIG Report, page 14.  Savings would begin in year 3 of the Project. 
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present day operation and in the future in both the control centers.  There is also no need for 

additional temporary facilities to be installed at the alternate control center, since existing 

offices, conference rooms and the old data center would be available to temporarily 

accommodate operations staff during a contingency event. 

The analysis of Alternative 1 indicated that although this option would fulfill the 

NYISO’s present day needs, it will not support future expansion due to limited space.  

Temporary office space to house the operation support staff would need to be installed at the 

Krey Property in the event that the primary control center becomes unavailable for use.  Even 

though the trailers would only be installed on an as-needed basis, the NYISO would have to 

absorb the annual cost to keep them available on short notice.  In addition, the Carman Property 

is limited in its utility because it is an aging facility that has been modified and adapted 

numerous times to meet the expanding needs of the NYISO. 

The results from this analysis and findings shows that Alternative 2 is the most economic 

plan with net present cost of $40,500,000 as compared to $48,200,000 for Alternative 1 through 

2021.  Alternative 2 positions the NYISO to meet its expanded responsibilities for the future and 

provides options for the NYISO to accommodate future growth.   

IV. The Proposed Construction Facility 

The terms and conditions of the Proposed Construction Facility are outlined in the 

Commitment Letter and Term Sheet attached to and made part of this Petition as Attachment I.  

These terms and conditions will allow the NYISO to finance expenditures in connection with the 

Project over a 20-year term.  The NYISO will recover the funds needed to pay the principal and 

interest of the Proposed Construction Facility through Rate Schedule 1 of its Open Access 
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Transmission Tariff and Rate Schedule 1 of its Market Administration and Control Area Services 

Tariff.  The Affidavit of Mary McGarvey, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the 

NYISO, attached as Attachment XI hereto supports the following discussion. 

The NYISO is mindful of the present economic climate and of the NYPSC’s directives to 

jurisdictional companies to prioritize and, where possible, defer expenditures to mitigate 

financial impacts upon ratepayers.  Nevertheless, it is unavoidable that the NYISO will 

immediately incur expenditures connected with its control centers in 2011 and beyond.  Because 

of its 20-year term, the expenditures to be financed through the Proposed Construction Facility 

will more gradually be passed on to ratepayers than under other possible financing options.  

Given the immediate need to expend funds to ameliorate deficiencies at its facilities, the NYISO 

believes that the short-term rate impacts of the Proposed Construction Facility are consistent 

with the NYPSC’s recent rulings. 

Given the current economic climate, the NYISO has further arranged for the payments to 

consist of interest only for the first three years of the loan.  Estimated amounts to be charged 

under Rate Schedule 1 over the next three years under the Proposed Construction Facility would 

be $100,000 for 2011, $1,000,000 for 2012, and $2,300,000 for 2013, representing less than 

0.1%, 1%, and 1.5%, of the NYISO’s Rate Schedule 1 budget for each respective year.  These 

amounts would, in turn, be allocated among the NYISO’s Market Participants according to Rate 

Schedule 1.  Approximately 75% of these amounts are borne by load serving entities including 

the several public utilities subject to the Commission’s retail rate jurisdiction, with the remainder 

to be paid by other stakeholders.  The table attached hereto as Attachment XVI further describes 

the cost of the Proposed Construction Facility to ratepayers in the State of New York. 



 

39 

The Proposed Construction Facility, therefore, represents a way to gradually phase-in to 

rates expenditures the NYISO will be required to make to address the needs described herein at 

both the Carman Property and at the Krey Property. 

The commercial terms and conditions set forth in the attached Commitment Letter 

(Attachment I) represent the terms that the NYISO and Berkshire Bank, National Association 

(“Berkshire”) have agreed to and are representative of those available in the market for 

comparable loans.  Berkshire is administrative agent for a syndicate of lending banks including, 

as of the date hereof, The Washington Trust Company and Pioneer Savings Bank, National 

Association (together with Berkshire, the “Lenders”).  While the NYISO has not yet executed a 

definitive loan agreement with the Lenders, it has executed a Commitment Letter and anticipates 

closing on the Proposed Construction Facility on or before August 31, 2011.  The NYISO 

expects that the material terms and conditions of the definitive loan agreement will be the same 

as or consistent with those set forth in the Commitment Letter.  

From 2008 through 2010, the NYISO sought, evaluated and negotiated various financing 

options for the Project with numerous multi-national, regional, community and other financial 

institutions, most of which are headquartered or contain a significant banking presence within 

New York State.31  When considering financing options to support the Project, the overwhelming 

majority of these potential lenders were either unwilling to provide any loan commitment or 

                                                 
 

31 Throughout 2008 and 2009 the NYISO pursued financing options with numerous potential lenders.  
During 2010, the NYISO met with 14 potential lenders, many of whom had also expressed interest in 2008 or 2009. 
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limited their offers to a term no longer than five years.  Given the estimated useful life of the 

Project renovations, financing the cost over five years is generally not appropriate.   

Based on the NYISO’s discussions with potential lending sources, it is apparent that, in 

addition to an increased level of risk aversion amongst lenders, the recent economic crisis has 

resulted in lenders demanding deposits as part of any loan commitments, maintaining the ability 

to reset loan pricing and/or deny loan extensions, and avoiding lengthy loan terms.  Based on the 

results of the extensive negotiations mentioned above, the NYISO believes that the Proposed 

Construction Facility contains terms and conditions that, in their totality, are reasonable and 

competitive.   

One of the most advantageous aspects of the Proposed Construction Facility is the length 

of the loan commitment period.  When Berkshire extended the offer for the Proposed 

Construction Facility to the NYISO in November, 2010, they agreed to hold the loan 

commitment for a period of nearly ten months (until the August 31, 2011 proposed loan closing).  

This commitment timeframe allows the NYISO the necessary time to pursue required permits 

and approvals.  Since market conditions and other factors can change significantly over time, it is 

unusual for financial institutions to extend a financing offer with a commitment period of this 

duration.  

Another very favorable condition of the Proposed Construction Facility is the length of 

the loan term.  During the NYISO’s negotiations, the predominant loan term suggested by 

financial institutions was less than 20 years, which would have resulted in debt service 

repayment costs to Market Participants considerably higher than what is included in the 

Proposed Construction Facility.  However, the 20-year period of the Proposed Construction 
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Facility (3-years’ interest-only payments during construction, followed by 17 years of principal 

and interest payments) defers principal repayment until mid-2014 and permits the NYISO’s 

current and future Market Participants to repay this financing over a period of time 

commensurate with the long-term investment in the Project.   

As mentioned above, financial institutions have placed an increased focus on receiving 

deposits as part of extending loan offers, particularly in connection with large or multi-year 

transactions.  The Proposed Construction Facility contains a requirement to place an amount 

equal to 10% of the total loan commitment (up to $4,500,000) in deposits with the Lenders.  This 

level of depository requirement is considerably less than depository requirements in the majority 

of other financing options that the NYISO has recently considered.  

As is common in most real estate financings, the Proposed Construction Facility requires 

that the Lenders receive a security interest as part of this long-term financing.  The Lenders were 

willing to accept a security interest in the Carman Property, which avoids further encumbering 

the Krey Property.  Additionally, most commercial mortgages require a security interest in assets 

equal to the amount of the financing.  However, in this case, the security interest in the Carman 

Property is a fraction of the maximum principal amount of the Proposed Construction Facility. 

The covenants required as part of the Proposed Construction Facility are expected to 

mirror those in the NYISO’s existing financings, thereby not introducing any significant 

financial or operating restrictions and enabling the NYISO to maintain the same level of 

reporting and monitoring as is required by the NYISO’s existing debt. 

The Proposed Construction Facility also permits the NYISO to prepay the outstanding 

balance of the loan without penalty, as long as standard notice is provided to the Lenders.  This 
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provides the NYISO the flexibility to consider potential alternatives to refinance this loan during 

its 20-year term, if economic conditions and the lending climate were to significantly change. 

From a cost perspective, the fees associated with the Proposed Construction Facility are 

generally consistent with other lending offers considered by the NYISO in connection with the 

Project and with several of the NYISO’s current credit facilities, including the 2010 Revolver 

and the 2011-2013 Budget Facility.  The interest spread on the Proposed Construction Facility is 

also generally consistent with current market trends.  Based on the one-month LIBOR rate as of 

December 1, 2010, the annual interest rate for the Proposed Construction Facility would be 

3.51%. 

The existing credit facilities previously authorized by the Commission are not available 

to finance the remaining portion of the Project over 2011, 2012 and 2013.  The Revolver 

authorized by the Commission in Case No. 99-E-1176 and the Replacement Revolver authorized 

in Case No. 05-E-0503 both have expired.  The Term Loan authorized in Case No. 99-E-1176, 

the 3-Year Term Note authorized in Case No. 01-E-1068, the 5-Year Term Note authorized in 

Case No. 02-E-1565, and the 2004-2006 Budget Facility authorized in Case No. 03-E-1770 have 

all been paid off and terminated.  The draw period for the Mortgage and Renovations Facility 

authorized in Case No. 05-E-0270 expired in 2006.  The 2010 Revolver authorized by the 

Commission in Case No. 10-E-0160 is intended solely as a cash flow management tool, to 

provide working capital to balance monthly receipts and remittances, and to provide liquidity to 

the NYISO administered markets.  The 2007-2010 Budget Facility authorized by the 

Commission in Case No. 06-E-1245 is expected to be fully drawn by January 2011.  Finally, the 

2011-2013 Budget Facility is an unavailable resource because it is intended to finance strategic 
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initiatives budgeted for the years 2011, 2012, and 2013, including computer equipment and 

software upgrades.   

V. Required Information 

The information required to support a Petition for authorization to incur indebtedness 

pursuant to Section 69 of the NYPSL is specified in the Commission’s regulations, including 

Parts 18 and 37 of Title 16 and Part 617 of Title 6 of the NYCRR.  In compliance with those 

regulations, the NYISO states as follows: 

Pursuant to 16 NYCRR, § 37.1 

A. Financial Condition of the NYISO 

As a not-for-profit corporation, the NYISO has not issued any capital stock or equity 

interests of any kind and, therefore, has not declared any dividends.  The NYISO has not issued 

any bonds.  Pursuant to Commission authorization granted in Case No. 05-E-0270, the NYISO 

executed a 20-year commercial mortgage on July 8, 2005, to fund the purchase of the Krey 

Property.  HSBC Bank USA, National Association is the mortgagee.  

As discussed above, the Commission has previously authorized ten credit facilities for the 

NYISO pursuant to Section 69 of the NYPSL:  (i) the $50,000,000 Revolver authorized in Case 

No. 99-E-1176, (ii) the $54,000,000 Term Loan authorized in Case No. 99-E-1176, (iii) the 

$20,000,000 3-Year Term Note authorized in Case No. 01-E-1068, (iv) the $59,300,000 5-Year 

Term Note authorized in Case No. 02-E-1565, (v) the $100,000,000 2004-2006 Budget Facility 

authorized in Case No. 03-E-1770, (vi) the $25,000,000 Mortgage and Renovations Loan 

authorized in Case No. 05-E-0270, (vii) the $50,000,000 Replacement Revolver authorized in 
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Case No. 05-E-503, (viii) the $80,000,000 2007-2010 Budget Facility authorized in Case No. 06-

E-1245, (ix) the $50,000,000 2010 Revolver authorized in Case No. 10-E-0160, and (x) the 

$75,000,000 2011-2013 Budget Facility authorized in Case No. 10-E-0160. 

As of today, there are no amounts outstanding under the 2010 Revolver.  The aggregate 

balance currently outstanding under the 2007-2010 Budget Facility (including borrowings which 

have been converted into term loans) is $40,766,667.  There is currently $20,402,679 outstanding 

under the Mortgage and Renovations Loan.  As of today, there are no amounts outstanding under 

the 2011-2013 Budget Facility. 

The NYISO has no contingent assets or liabilities.  Included with this Petition, as 

Attachment II hereto, is a table containing the amounts of interest accrued at each applicable rate 

of interest on the outstanding indebtedness of the NYISO for the most recent audited fiscal 

period ending December 31, 2009.  The latest unaudited financial statements through 

September 30, 2010, are included in Attachment III hereto.  Also included, as Attachment IV 

hereto, is a copy of the Annual Report of the NYISO for the year ended December 31, 2009, 

which includes detailed financial statements for the calendar years ending December 31, 2008, 

and December 31, 2009.  See 16 NYCRR, §§ 37.1(a) and 18.1.  

B. Book Cost of the NYISO’s Utility Property 

The value of the NYISO’s property and equipment as of December 31, 2009, was 

$205,420,831.  Such value represents the “original cost” of such property and equipment as 

defined in 16 NYCRR § 31.1(f).  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(b).   
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C. No Amounts for a Franchise 

The book value reported for the NYISO’s property and equipment includes no amount 

for a franchise, consent, or any other right to operate as a public utility.  See 16 NYCRR, 

§ 37.1(c). 

D. No Issuance of Stock 

As a New York State not-for-profit corporation, Type B, the NYISO has not issued any 

stock or equity interests of any kind and does not propose in this Petition to do so now.  See 16 

NYCRR, § 37.1(d).  

E. Amount of Proposed Indebtedness 

As described above in Section III of this Petition, the NYISO proposes to execute the 

Proposed Construction Facility in the aggregate principal amount of up to $45,000,000.  Once 

converted to a term loan, the Proposed Construction Facility will mature on or about August 31, 

2031, assuming a closing date of August 31, 2011.  Amounts outstanding under the Proposed 

Construction Facility will bear interest at a rate per annum equivalent to a one, three or six month 

LIBOR plus a margin of 325 basis points.  The Proposed Construction Facility will be secured 

by a first lien mortgage (and related Uniform Commercial Code filings, if any) on the Carman 

Property.  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(e). 

F. Purpose of the Proposed Construction Facility 

As described above in Section II of this Petition, the NYISO proposes to use the funds 

from the Proposed Construction Facility for: (i) construction of an addition at the Krey Property 

to house a new primary power control center, (ii) construction of an addition at the Carman 

Property to serve as a new data center, (iii) upgrades and improvements to the control center at 
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the Carman Property to serve as the new alternate control center, and (iv) additional upgrades at 

both the Krey Property and the Carman Property to rectify specific deficiencies and implement 

certain technology improvements.  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(f). 

G. Other Funds Available For Stated Purpose 

As described above in Section IV of this Petition, the 2010 Revolver is intended solely as 

a cash flow management tool, to provide working capital to balance monthly receipts and 

remittances, and to provide liquidity to the NYISO administered markets and therefore is not an 

available source of funding for the Project.  The Term Loan authorized in Case No. 99-E-1176, 

the 3-Year Term Note authorized in Case No. 01-E-1068, the 5-Year Term Note authorized in 

Case No. 02-E-1565, and the 2004-2006 Budget Facility authorized in Case No. 03-E-1770 have 

all been paid off and terminated.  The Mortgage and Renovations Loan is an unavailable 

resource because the draw period expired in 2006.  The 2007-2010 Budget Facility is an 

unavailable resource because it is expected to be fully drawn by January 2011.  Finally, the 

2011-2013 Budget Facility is an unavailable resource because it is intended to finance strategic 

initiatives budgeted for the years 2011, 2012, and 2013, including computer equipment and 

software upgrades.  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(g). 

H. Finalized Loan Agreement 

The commercial terms and conditions set forth in the attached Commitment Letter 

represent the terms that the NYISO and Berkshire have agreed to and are representative of those 

currently available in the commercial loan market.  While the NYISO has not yet executed a 

definitive loan agreement with the Lenders, it anticipates closing the Proposed Construction 

Facility on or before August 31, 2011.  The NYISO expects that the material terms and 

conditions of the final loan agreement will be the same as or consistent with those set forth in the 
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Commitment Letter, and requests authorization for the Proposed Construction Facility on the 

basis of those described terms and conditions.  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(h). 

I. Estimated Costs and Expenses of the Proposed Construction Facility 

Because the NYISO has not yet executed a definitive loan agreement with the Lenders, 

the NYISO does not know what the exact costs and expenses of the Proposed Construction 

Facility will be.  However, the attached Commitment Letter contains a cap on the expenses 

incurred by the Lenders that the NYISO would be obliged to reimburse.  The NYISO believes 

that the borrowing rates, margins and commitment fees outlined in the Commitment Letter are 

competitive, and the NYISO anticipates that such terms will be the same as or materially 

consistent with those set forth in the attached Commitment Letter.  The NYISO anticipates that 

any other costs and expenses associated with the Proposed Construction Facility will be similar 

to those associated with comparable credit facilities offered by other lenders and, therefore, will 

be commercially reasonable.  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(i). 

J. Mortgage or Other Security Agreement 

The NYISO and the Lenders have not executed the Carman Mortgage, but plan to do so 

at closing of the Proposed Construction Facility.  Promptly upon execution, the NYISO will file 

a certified copy of the Carman Mortgage with the Commission.  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(j).   

K. No Planned Merger or Consolidation 

The NYISO has no plans to merge or consolidate with another organization.  See 16 

NYCRR, § 37.1(k). 
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L. Stockholders Consent to Proposed Construction Facility 

The NYISO has no stockholders, but has obtained consent of its Management Committee 

and Board of Directors.  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(l).   

M. No Other Required Approvals 

Based on the terms and conditions of the Proposed Construction Facility, no 

authorization or approval is required from any other public authority.  See 16 NYCRR § 37.1(m).  

The NYISO is regulated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, but that federal agency 

need not approve a financing authorized under Section 69 of the NYPSL.  See 16 NYCRR, 

§ 37.1; and see 16 U.S.C. § 824(f). 

N. No Capitalization of Any Franchise 

The NYISO is not proposing to capitalize any franchise in connection with the Proposed 

Construction Facility.  See 16 NYCRR, § 37.1(n). 

O. Affidavit of Principal Accounting Officer 

The affidavit of Mary McGarvey, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the 

NYISO and its principal accounting officer, is attached as Attachment V hereto, attesting that, 

among other things, the NYISO is in compliance with all applicable accounting standards.  See 

16 NYCRR, § 37.1(o). 

Pursuant to 16 NYCRR, § 37.3  

P. General Work Description and Estimated Cost 

The Project involves construction activities at two NYISO sites:  the Carman Property 

and the Krey Property, as follows: 
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(i)  Construction at the Carman Property entailing modifications to the existing 

structure in order to make the facility suitable to serve as an alternate power 

control center.  Specific activities include building an addition to serve as a 

data center, replacement of many aging components of the mechanical and 

electrical systems, replacement of the roof and other repairs that are required 

to assure that the building functions reliably.  The estimated Project costs for 

work remaining at the Carman Property are approximately $13,400,000.  

(ii)  Site improvements at the Krey Property include modifications to the existing 

structure in order to make the facility suitable to act as a primary control 

center.  Specific activities include building an addition to serve as a control 

center, as well as adjacent offices needed to support the NYISO operations 

staff, replacing emergency backup generators and adding a second power 

feed to the property.  Construction will also include enhancements to the 

electric power service for both commercial power and emergency power.  

The estimated Project costs for work remaining at the Krey Property are 

approximately $35,500,000. 

See 16 NYCRR, § 37.3(a). 

Q. Construction Work Agreement 

Attached hereto as Attachment XV is a copy of the Construction Management Agreement 

entered into between the NYISO and U.W. Marx, Inc. for management of the Project.  See 16 

NYCRR, § 37.3(b). 
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R. Retired Property 

The NYISO is not retiring any property owned by it as part of this proposal.  See 16 

NYCRR, § 37.3(c). 

S. Affidavit of Principal Accounting Officer 

The affidavit of Mary McGarvey, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the 

NYISO and its principal accounting officer, is attached as Attachment VI, attesting that no part 

of the cost of the work proposed to be financed through the Proposed Construction Facility is in 

whole or in part reasonably chargeable to operating expenses or income.  See 16 NYCRR, 

§ 37.3(d).  

Pursuant to 6 NYCRR, § 617 

T. State Environmental Quality Review Act 

 Before authorizing the Proposed Construction Facility, the Commission must 

ensure that the provisions of the State Environmental Quality Review Act and its implementing 

regulations (collectively referred to as  “SEQRA”) have been complied with.  As outlined in 

more detail below, compliance with SEQRA has been completed for both the Krey Property and 

the Carman Property in connection with the Project. 

 The Town of East Greenbush Town Board (the “Town Board”) acted as the 

SEQRA Lead Agency for the Krey Property and conducted a coordinated environmental  review 

with all involved and interested agencies.  The Commission was an Involved Agency under 

SEQRA and reviewed the project plans and related documents as part of the SEQRA process.  

Following a review of comments received from other State and local agencies including the New 

York State Department of Environmental Conservation, the New York State Department of 
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Transportation, the Rensselaer County Planning Board, and the Town of North Greenbush, and 

consideration of the Project’s potential environment impacts, on March 10, 2010, the Town 

Board unanimously adopted a detailed Negative Declaration under SEQRA finding that 

NYISO’s proposed project at the Krey Property would not have a significant adverse impact on 

the environment and that a draft environmental impact statement would not be prepared. A copy 

of the Town Board’s Negative Declaration is attached hereto as Attachment VII.     

 The Town of Guilderland Zoning Board of Appeals (the “ZBA”) acted as the 

SEQRA lead agency for the Carman Property and conducted a coordinated environmental  

review with all involved and interested agencies.  The Commission was an involved agency 

under SEQRA and reviewed the project plans and related documents as part of the SEQRA 

process.  Following a review of comments received from other State and local agencies including 

the New York State Department of Transportation, and the Albany County Planning Board, and 

consideration of the Project’s potential environment impacts, on March 17, 2010, the ZBA 

unanimously adopted a detailed Negative Declaration under SEQRA finding that NYISO’s 

proposed project at the Carman Property would not have a significant adverse impact on the 

environment and that a draft environmental impact statement would not be prepared. A copy of 

the ZBA’s Negative Declaration is attached hereto as Attachment VII.     

 Copies of the Negative Declarations were sent to the Commission on March 31, 

2010.  Pursuant the SEQRA regulations, receipt of the Negative Declarations ends the SEQRA 

process and is binding on the Commission and all other involved agencies.   As a result, no 

future SEQRA compliance is necessary in connection with this Petition.   See 6 NYCRR, § 

617.3(a); and see 6 NYCRR, § 617.6(b). 
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VI. The Proposed Financing Is In the Public Interest 

Completion of the Project will allow the NYISO to fulfill its core mission of maintaining 

reliable and efficient operation of the bulk power system that provides electric service to the 

ratepayers of New York State by replacing its 40-year old power control center with a new 

power control center at the Krey Property, construction of a new data center at the Carman 

Property, and renovation of the existing control center located at the Carman Property to serve as 

a new alternate control center.  The new facilities will have the controls, displays, 

communications equipment, computing facilities, and other improvements to enhance situational 

awareness.  The Project will also allow the NYISO facilities to properly accommodate additional 

operations staff. 

Specifically, the Project is required to meet the combination of the NYISO’s existing 

operations and markets functions together with several new responsibilities assigned or expected 

to be assigned to the NYISO by the FERC, the DOE and the NYPSC.  These are:  (i) the 

implementation of Broader Regional Markets, (ii) introduction of Smart Grid Technologies, (iii) 

incorporation of intermittent renewable resources, and (iv) new operational responsibilities for 

transmission facilities 100 kV and above in accordance with potential NERC reliability 

standards.  Each of these new responsibilities is or will be required and will result in significant 

reliability and efficiency benefits to New York State ratepayers, including substantial cost 

savings.  Undertaking these new responsibilities in addition to the NYISO’s existing core 

reliability and market operations functions without completion of the Project would create risks 

to electric system reliability and market integrity that are unacceptable.  Completion of the 
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Project will also result in annual cost savings to the NYISO from energy savings and other 

efficiencies estimated to be approximately $850,000.32  Accordingly, by a greater than 80% 

majority vote the NYISO’s stakeholders supported the Project and proceeding with the necessary 

financing, and the NYISO’s Board of Directors voted unanimously in support as well. 

As the pace of technological innovation accelerates, and the tools for reliable and 

efficient operation of wholesale electric markets and bulk power systems become more 

sophisticated, the importance of maintaining a modern power control center continues to grow.  

This reality has been recognized across the country.  New power control centers have been built 

in the last five years by the California ISO, the Electric Reliability Council of Texas, PJM 

Interconnection, ISO New England, and Midwest ISO.  Each of these projects was initiated to 

provide updated technology so power control centers can most effectively manage the power 

grid, as well as to position control centers to take advantage of emerging advanced technologies, 

such as Smart Grid.  The NYISO has the oldest control center of all of the ISOs and RTOs in the 

country.  Without a significant enhancement having been made to the NYISO primary control 

center in 40 years, these upgrades are necessary and may soon become overdue. 

The NYISO respectfully submits that completion of the Project is in the public interest 

and the Proposed Construction Facility is the best method by which to finance the remainder of 

                                                 
 

32 These savings consist of (i) approximately $150,000 in energy savings per year once the Carman 
Property data center begins operation and the old data center is retired, and (ii) internal operational efficiencies 
gained by consolidating NYISO functions on a single campus estimated to be approximately $700,000 per year 
beginning in year four of the Project.   
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the Project.  The NYISO further submits that the terms of the Proposed Construction Facility are 

reasonable and competitive.   

VII. Supporting Attachments 

In support of this Petition, the NYISO submits the following Attachments: 

Attachment Description 
I. Commitment Letter and Term Sheet 
II. Accrued Interest on Outstanding Indebtedness 
III. Most Recent Unaudited Financial Statements 
IV. Most Recent Annual Report including Most Recent 

Audited Financial Statements 
V. Affidavit: 16 NYCRR Section 37.1(o) 
VI. Affidavit: 16 NYCRR Section 37.3(d) 
VII. Negative Declarations of East Greenbush and 

Guilderland 
VIII. Certificate of Incorporation 
IX. Affidavit of Rick Gonzales, Senior Vice President 

and Chief Operating Officer of the NYISO 
X. Affidavit of Richard Dewey, Senior Vice President 

and Chief Information Officer of the NYISO 
XI. Affidavit of Mary McGarvey, Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer of the NYISO 
XII. Affidavit of David B. Patton (Potomac Report) 
XIII. Affidavit of Ralph Masiello (KEMA Report) 
XIV. Affidavit of Francis J. Flynn (EIG Report) 
XV. Construction Agreement 
XVI. Table of Costs to Ratepayers 
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Commitment Letter and Term Sheet













































 

 

Attachment II. 

Accrued Interest on Outstanding Indebtedness 



Facility Interest Rate Outstanding Principal Accrued Interest

Replacement Revolver n/a -$                           -$                  
2004-2006 Budget Facility 2.23% 12,252,000$               23,540$             
2007-2010 Budget Facility 1.83% - 5.73% 26,700,000$               111,543$           
Mortgage and Renovations Loan 5.79% - 5.96% 21,956,497$               110,858$           

Totals 60,908,497$              245,941$          

NYISO
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

ACCRUED INTEREST ON INDEBTEDNESS

At December 31, 2008:



 

 

Attachment III. 

Most Recent Unaudited Financial Statements









 

 

Attachment IV. 

Most Recent Annual Report including Most  
Recent Audited Financial Statements 
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2009 was a milestone in the history of the New York Independent System Operator, marking our 
fi rst decade of successfully energizing the Empire State.

Since the NYISO began operations in 1999, New York’s competitive marketplace has helped improve 
reliability and increase the responsiveness of the power system, providing benefi ts for all New Yorkers.

These benefi ts include a decrease in power plant emissions, an increase in renewable resources, and the 
development of demand-side management innovations. The markets have provided sustained economic 
value to consumers by fostering innovation and expanding customer choice.

While our industry-leading record of innovation and value continued in 2009, the NYISO also faced many 
challenges as the economic downturn continued. In response to reduced electricity use, the NYISO cut its 
planned spending by $12 million. Prices were similarly affected by decreased demand, as well as reductions 
in the cost of fuel. This led to an unprecedented 50% drop in power prices as compared to 2008 – with the 
average 2009 price at a level lower than any year in our history.

Whether we are addressing dynamic economic conditions or advancing the evolution of grid operations and 
market design, the NYISO’s unique shared governance system provides advantages for managing change. 
Combining an independent Board of Directors and actively engaged stakeholder committees, shared 
governance has been instrumental in guiding the progress of the past decade.

The NYISO Board is a diverse body whose members feature backgrounds in the electric industry, public 
service, fi nance, academics, information technology, and communications. In 2009, we welcomed two new 
Board members: Ave M. Bie, former Chair of the Wisconsin Public Service Commission; and Michael B. 
Bemis, who has more than three decades of experience as an executive in the electric utility industry. 

The NYISO continued its leadership in market design, grid operations, electricity system planning, and 
technological innovation in 2009. In our operation of the bulk electricity grid, we remained intently focused 
on the reliable supply of electricity, which sustains the lives and livelihoods of New York State’s families, 
businesses, and institutions. 

Letter from the Board Chair and President & CEO
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Through market design and advanced grid technology, we pioneered the integration of wind energy and new 
energy storage technologies. There are now over 1,275 megawatts of wind generation in operation with an 
additional 7,000 megawatts proposed for grid connection. 

We expanded our quest for new solutions to New York’s energy needs with an initiative to receive Smart Grid 
funding from the federal government. The U.S. Department of Energy awarded the NYISO $37.8 million in 
federal stimulus funds to support Smart Grid investments in New York. The funds will support grid technology 
to enhance the reliability of the bulk electricity system. 

Working in collaboration with grid operators and system planners beyond our borders, we began signifi cant 
initiatives for broader regional markets and expanded interregional planning.

In addition, we added an important economic component to our long-term system reliability planning process. It 
features a fi rst-of-its-kind economic analysis of transmission congestion on New York State’s bulk power system 
and the potential costs and benefi ts of relieving the congestion. 

Seeking an independent view of our fi rst decade of operations, in 2009 we commissioned a comprehensive 
external study by the Analysis Group. The report, released in April 2010, offered an unbiased, independent 
look at our history to date. It found that the NYISO has succeeded in operating the electric grid reliably and 
has developed the best market design in the nation. It noted that New York’s competitive wholesale electricity 
markets have helped to create demand response programs and increase generation and transmission in the 
right locations – paid for by developers, not ratepayers. It highlighted the role of markets in fostering the growth 
of renewable resource and reducing emissions. 

The Analysis Group report also noted that, like any organization, there are areas in which we can improve, 
including working to enhance transparency and sharpen our focus on consumer interests.

Building on our ten-year record of progress, we are committed to making the grid smarter, greener, and more 
effi cient. We are proud that others recognize our record of excellence. In the past decade, more than 1,000 
representatives from over 50 nations have visited us to learn about competitive power markets and reliable 
operation of the grid.

With a renewed commitment to excellence in the performance of our vital roles and the enthusiastic pursuit of 
new challenges and opportunities, we are confi dent about building on our record of success and lighting the 
way to New York’s bright energy future.

Karen Antion       Stephen G. Whitley
Chair, Board of Directors      President & CEO



2009 In Brief

The economic recession and the disruption of the fi nancial markets resulting from the credit crisis 
signifi cantly impacted the electric system in 2009. Across the nation, demand for electricity dropped 
4.2 percent, the biggest single-year decline in sixty years.

In New York State, we experienced a nearly identical drop in power demand – a 4.1 percent decline.

Anticipating reduced revenues as a result of lower electricity use, the NYISO initiated cost-cutting and 
budget revision to cut planned spending by $12 million in 2009.

In the midst of this historic economic downturn, the NYISO continued to achieve its objectives and 
enhance the ways in which it serves to energize the Empire State. 

In 2009, the NYISO pioneered power market innovations, especially with regard to renewable 
resources. We implemented a state-of-the-art wind forecasting system and became the fi rst grid 
operator to integrate wind-generated electricity into economic dispatch. A windpower milestone was 
achieved in February 2009, as the combined total output of all wind plants in New York reached 
1,000 megawatts for the fi rst time. The capacity of New York’s windpower generation totaled 1,275 
megawatts in 2009, with proposed projects offering the potential of another 7,000 megawatts.

The NYISO achieved another market fi rst in the area of energy storage, creating the fi rst regulation-
only energy storage product in any ISO/RTO market environment. In November 2009, Beacon Power 
broke ground for its Stephentown, N.Y. fl ywheel energy storage plant. When completed in 2012, the 
20 MW project is expected to become the nation’s fi rst full-scale fl ywheel system to provide grid 
regulation services.

In 2009, the NYISO conducted a fi rst-of-its-kind economic analysis of transmission congestion on the 
New York State bulk power system and the potential costs and benefi ts of relieving congestion.

On December 1, 2009, the NYISO marked its 10-year anniversary. The Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (FERC) authorized the creation of the NYISO in 1998. By November 1999, New York 
State’s competitive wholesale electricity markets were opened to suppliers and consumers of 
electricity as NYISO began managing the bulk electricity grid. The formal transfer of the 
New York Power Pool’s responsibilities to the newly created NYISO took place on December 1, 1999. 
NYISO has launched an enhanced version of its Web site (www.nyiso.com) in recognition of its fi rst 
decade of operation. 
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A windpower milestone 
was achieved in 
February 2009, as the 
combined total output 
of  all wind plants in 
New York reached 
1,000 megawatts for the 
fi rst time.
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Mission and Key Roles

The Mission of the New York Independent System Operator, in collaboration with its stakeholders, is to 
serve the public interest by:

Maintaining and enhancing regional reliability 

Promoting and operating fair and competitive wholesale electricity markets 

Planning the power system for the future 

Providing objective and independent technical information on energy issues 

At the onset of operations in 1999, the NYISO’s focus centered on the reliability of the bulk electricity grid 
and the development and administration of open, effi cient wholesale electricity markets. Over the years, 
as the NYISO increased its ability to anticipate emerging energy needs, long-term system and resource 
planning emerged as a complementary role. Likewise, the NYISO’s extensive information technology 
resources are an integral element in performing its mission and this technological expertise is increasingly 
being leveraged to address the energy needs of the Empire State. 

Oversight & Governance

The NYISO is overseen by government regulators – the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the 
New York State Public Service Commission – as well as electric system reliability regulators. These include 
the North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC), Northeast Power Coordinating Council (NPCC), 
and the New York State Reliability Council (NYSRC). 

Shared governance, including an independent Board of Directors and stakeholder committees, has been 
key to the successful operation of the NYISO. Stakeholder committees are comprised of representatives of 
market sectors that include transmission owners, generation owners, other suppliers, end-use consumers, 
public power, and environmental parties. Since the inception of the NYISO, the overwhelming majority of 
the tariff revisions fi led with the FERC have been developed through consensus among NYISO stakeholders 
about new market rules, system operations and planning procedures.

The shared governance process has been lauded for creating an environment that enables diverse points 
of view to be represented and complex issues to be fully vetted. The value of shared governance was noted 
by FERC in a 2008 order that stated, “The Commission commends NYISO and the stakeholders for working 
together to resolve many issues …” Diverse input and extensive participation takes advantage of a wide 
array of expertise and experience to produce the best possible design changes.
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Reliability

Reliable management of New York’s bulk electricity grid, consisting of hundreds of generating units and 
thousands of miles of high-voltage transmission lines, requires constant balancing of the electricity supply 
to meet consumer needs, on a moment-by-moment basis, 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. The constant 
vigilance required for reliable power system operation is at the core of the NYISO’s responsibilities. 

In the NYISO’s ten years of operation, we have met New York’s power needs – sustaining the electric pulse 
of modern life – by reliably managing the bulk electricity grid.

In 2009, we continued to sustain and enhance reliability.

The resources available to meet summer peak demand increased to a surplus of over 900 megawatts in 
2009. In the past decade, encouraged by the competitive marketplace, more than 7,600 megawatts of 
new generation was added, with 80 percent sited where demand for power is greatest (New York City,  
Long Island and the Hudson Valley). 

Nearly 1,300 megawatts of transmission capability has been added to bring more power to the downstate 
region from out of state. 2009 saw the activation of the Linden VFT, a transmission facility that runs from 
Linden, NJ to Staten Island. The Linden project will transport 300 megawatts – enough electricity to power 
a quarter-million homes. It is the third major transmission project built to serve the metropolitan New York 
region since the creation of the NYISO a decade ago.

NYISO President & CEO Stephen G. Whitley helps to mark the inauguration of the Linden VFT project in 
December 2009.



Markets

When the federal and state governments opened access to the grid and restructured the electricity 
industry, the NYISO was assigned the task of designing, implementing and monitoring wholesale electricity 
markets. In collaboration with an extensive array of stakeholders, the NYISO has continued to evolve grid 
operations and market design to a level of sophistication few imagined possible a decade ago. 

The State of the Markets Report issued in 2009 by the NYISO’s Independent Market Advisor stated, “The 
NYISO markets are at the forefront of market design and have been a model for market development in 
other areas.”

The number of participants in New York’s wholesale electricity markets has tripled – from 120 in 2000 to 
approximately 400 in 2009. The value of transactions in the NYISO markets has grown to more than $75 
billion. Demand response programs, providing incentives for energy conservation during peak periods, 
were created and have fl ourished. They now total over 2,300 megawatts, an amount equal to four medium-
sized power plants.

Market prices reached historic lows in 2009 – 50 percent lower than in 2008 -- driven by lower electricity 
use and drops in the prices of natural gas (one of New York’s chief generating fuels). Discounting 
fl uctuations in the cost of fuel used to generate electricity, wholesale electricity costs dropped by 18 
percent, representing a $2.2 billion savings on a current annual basis.

In the market environment, power producers have invested heavily in new generation and upgrades to 
existing facilities. Consumers have benefi ted through prices that are lower than they might have been 
otherwise. Environmental quality has been enhanced by the addition of more emission-free, renewable 
power resources and enhanced power plant effi ciencies that have contributed to reduced emission rates.

For example, the system-wide heat rate of fossil-fueled power plants improved by 21 percent. Power plant 
emission rates, measured in tons per year for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, and carbon dioxide, have 
dropped by double digits since 2000.

NYISO markets continued to evolve in 2009 as innovations made New York the fi rst to integrate wind in 
economic dispatch and adopt pioneering design to enable new energy storage technologies to provide 
regulation-only service.
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Environmental quality 
has been enhanced by the 
addition of  more emission-
free, renewable power 
resources and enhanced 
power plant effi ciencies 
that have contributed to 
reduced emission rates.



The supply of power and the demand for 
electricity are constantly changing. New power 
plants and transmission facilities are brought 
on line and older ones retired as energy 
technology advances. Consumer patterns of 
power use ebb and fl ow as the weather, the 
economy, and technology change. It is the 
NYISO’s responsibility to anticipate and prepare 
for the impact of such changes on the reliable 
operation of the grid and the effi cient operation 
of the markets. The unbiased, authoritative 
analyses, evaluations, and forecasts produced 
by the NYISO assist electricity consumers, power 
producers, energy service providers, regulators, 
and policy makers as they plan for the future. 

In 2009, NYISO’s multi-analyses Comprehensive 
Planning Process reported that the resources 
available to meet electricity needs are expected 
to exceed demand through the next decade.

NYISO planners coordinate with Market 
Participants, State and regional planning 
agencies and other key stakeholders on 
vital planning issues. With these partners, 
we complete studies and analyze reliability, 
operations, and market impacts of a broad range 
of energy-related federal and state level policy 
goals, including environmental, fuel diversity, 
energy effi ciency, and renewables integration.

In January 2010, the NYISO issued a fi rst-of-
its-kind economic analysis of transmission 
congestion on the New York state bulk power 
system and the potential costs and benefi ts 
of relieving congestion. Called the Congestion 
Assessment and Resource Integration Study 
(CARIS), it is part of the NYISO’s expanded 
comprehensive system planning process.

Planning
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The study, developed with extensive stakeholder 
input, identifi ed the three most congested parts 
of the New York bulk power system based upon 
historic data as well as estimates of future 
congestion. Transmission congestion results 
from physical limits on how much power high-
voltage lines can reliably carry. Solutions may 
include building or upgrading transmission, 
building a less expensive power source in 
closer proximity to an area needing supplies, 
or reducing the demand for power in the 
downstream region.

In recent years, we have fostered expanded 
planning with other ISOs (Independent 
System Operators) and Regional Transmission 
Organizations (RTOs) to facilitate development 
of broader regional markets, interregional 
transmission analysis, and compatible Smart 
Grid design.

We hosted a symposium in 2009 featuring 
FERC Chairman Jon Wellinghoff as keynote 
speaker. Entitled “Foundation to the Future: 
Infrastructure, Innovation and Investment,” the 
event was well attended by a diverse array of 
energy industry leaders and policy makers.

In 2009, we issued an array of publications on 
energy issues, including planning reports, white 
papers, conference presentations, and other 
informative materials. Central to these is the 
NYISO’s annual publication of Power Trends, 
which looks at the forces and factors affecting 
New York State’s energy future. 

In December 2009, the New York State Energy 
Planning Board approved and the Governor 
accepted the 2009 State Energy Plan. The 
fi rst plan adopted since 2002, it establishes 
a framework of policy objectives and strategic 

recommendations to be implemented over a 
ten-year horizon in order to maintain reliable, 
affordable, and sustainable energy for 
New Yorkers. The NYISO contributed extensively 
to the research and analysis of data presented 
in the plan. The document states that the 
NYISO “has been generous in its support of the 
modeling efforts and has assisted the planning 
agency staff in data collection, modeling, and 
analysis.” To govern future state energy planning, 
a new law was signed by the Governor in 2009. 
That new law added the NYISO as a non-voting 
member to the State Energy Planning Board.

The NYISO continued its exploration of the 
potential synergies between plug-in hybrid electric 
vehicles (PHEVs) and wind energy. PHEVs offer 
the promise of signifi cant environmental and 
economic benefi ts, and could work in tandem with 
wind energy. Windpower projects tend to produce 
more electricity in the early morning hours, a 
period when current demand for electricity is 
relatively low. In 2009, a NYISO assessment 
found that, in general, the production profi le of 
wind resources in New York correlates very well 
with off-peak charging of PHEVs, creating the 
potential for a synergy between wind generation 
and transportation energy needs. PHEV prospects 
have been enhanced by public policy initiatives 
encouraging electric-drive vehicles, including new 
programs proposed by President Barack Obama 
to support PHEV development and deployment. 
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Technology

Improving and advancing technologies has always been a cornerstone of NYISO activities. Our 
investments in information technology continue to provide a solid foundation for progress. 

While references to “Smart Grid” have now grown commonplace, the NYISO has been working to make 
the grid smarter since we were created a decade ago. Staying ahead of the technology curve continues 
to pay dividends. NYISO information technology features architectures and platforms that rival the best 
in the nation, resulting in signifi cant effi ciencies for the competitive wholesale electricity markets and 
benefi ts to those consumers and suppliers participating in the marketplace. 

In 2009, the NYISO was awarded $37.8 million by the U.S. Department of Energy to support investments 
in grid technology that will enhance the reliability of the bulk electricity grid in New York and provide the 
foundation for further development of Smart Grid infrastructure in New York State. The federal funds, 
provided under the Smart Grid Investment Grant (SGIG) program, will support a $75.7 million project 
creating a statewide Phasor Measurement Network and installing capacitor banks in various locations 
throughout the state. 

In 2009, the NYISO successfully completed all planned software deployment projects, including 
Transmission Congestion Contract (TCC) Auction Automation, Credit Management System for Virtual 
Transactions and Credit Policy Enhancements, Wind Resource Management Software, Regulation-Only 
Energy Storage, Trading Hubs, and an enhancement of the NYISO website.

NYISO information technology initiatives not only serve the evolution of grid operation and market design; 
they also produce effi ciencies in the operation of the NYISO. Our data center “virtualization” project, 
which reduced the number of servers by half, realized savings of $18.7 million through the end of 2009.

In 2009, NYISO IT systems also passed rigorous cyber-security tests. The NERC Critical Infrastructure 
Protection (CIP) audit was performed by a multi-authority external team. NYISO protection policies, 
procedures, and practices drew high marks from participating auditors from FERC, NERC, and the NPCC. 



The NYISO - A Ten-Year Review

“In many respects, NYISO stands as a model of a well-functioning electric market that relies extensively 
on competitive markets to provide benefi ts to the state’s electricity consumers.”

Seeking an independent review of our fi rst decade, the NYISO commissioned a study by Dr. Susan F. Tier-
ney, managing principal of The Analysis Group. Dr. Tierney was formerly an assistant secretary of policy at 
the U.S. Department of Energy, a commissioner on the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities, and 
co-chair of President Obama’s Transition Team for the U. S. Department of Energy. In preparing the report, 
Dr. Tierney reviewed historic documents, researched market data, and interviewed numerous stakeholders. 

The report fi nds that the NYISO has succeeded in operating the electric grid reliably and has excelled in 
the design of wholesale electricity markets. It notes that New York’s competitive marketplace for electricity 
has helped to add system resources where they are needed the most. Likewise, the report cites the value 
of markets in cultivating the growth of renewable resources and encouraging effi ciencies in generation that 
have contributed to reductions in power plant emissions.

The report also notes that, like any organization, there are areas in which the NYISO can improve. Among 
those areas are “seams” issues with neighboring grids that hamper regional effi ciency. To address this 
concern, we are vigorously developing broader regional markets and enhancing interregional planning. In 
addition, the report recommends that the NYISO work to further enhance transparency and sharpen the 
focus on consumer interests.

The NYISO is committed to a mindset of excellence in execution and continuous improvement. The ten-
year review conducted by The Analysis Group offers guidance to our efforts to build an increased focus on 
transparency and consumer interests. We are also dedicated to sustaining and enhancing reliability and 
reducing seams to improve market effi ciency, to serve the best interests of the Empire State. 

1999

NY’s Electric Industry is 
Restructured – NYISO start-up 
authorized by FERC. NY Power Pool 
members transfer operation of New 
York Control Area to NYISO on 
December 1.

2000 2001

2005 2006

A New Way to Plan – First NYISO 
Reliability Needs Assessment (RNA) 
completed in December, a milestone 
in the Comprehensive Reliability Plan-
ning Process for NY’s electric system.

Heat Waves Produce Record Peak - 
Power demands due to summer heat waves 
set record peaks three times over a three 
week period in July and August.  
Demand response helps to stabilize
 power use, saving the peak by 1,000 MW 
during record-breaking demand of 
August 2, 2006.

Studies Cite NYISO Su
Independent Market Ad
State of the Market Rep
ISO, which called New 
“the most complete and
markets in the U.S.”

Power Alert Warns of Generation 
Gap - NYISO Power Alert report 
brings attention to potential power 
“generation gap” in downstate NY.

Markets Grow – More than 100 
Market Participants sign up in fi rst 
year of NY marketplace for wholesale 
electricity. Transactions total $5.2 
billion.
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Excerpts of The Analysis Group’s: The New York Independent System Operator: A Ten-Year Review follow: 

Reliability: “Commenters consistently viewed the NYISO as doing an excellent job in its role as grid opera-
tor. There is a reservoir of confi dence that NYISO is performing well in this regard, with a strong staff and 
ethic of excellence in operations … Not only has the system operated well, but New York’s system has 
produced reliability relatively economically.” 

Markets: “Thousands of megawatts of generating and demand-response capacity have been introduced in 
New York (over the past decade) without relying on consumers’ rates to underwrite investment.” 

Governance: “As compared to the pre-NYISO years when eight transmission utilities exercised near-exclu-
sive control over the New York Power Pool, over 350 Market Participants are now involved in shaping poli-
cies and protocols of the NYISO, and in providing services that support the provision of effi cient, reliable 
and clean electric service.”

Electricity Prices: “Many things not directly related to the NYISO’s performance – such as increases in 
natural gas prices since 2000 and the high cost of doing business in New York State – have contributed 
substantially to electricity price increases in the state. These factors more than offset the power produc-
tion effi ciencies that occurred over course of the decade under electric industry restructuring and the 
NYISO’s administration of wholesale markets.”

Environment and Energy: “In the past decade, New York’s electric industry has stimulated signifi cant 
investment in new renewable power projects (such as wind turbines) and low-emitting natural gas plants, 
and caused strong interest in demand response. Together these have helped diversify the state’s energy 
mix and lower the air emissions that contribute to acid rain, smog and global warming.”

2002
2006

20042003

2007 2008 2009

Demand Response Arrives – 
NYISO successfully implements 
Emergency Demand Response 
Program (EDRP), which reduced 
demand by 400 MW during 
consecutive record consumption days.

The 2003 Blackout – 
In August, a blackout originating in 
Ohio, affects 50 million people in the 
U.S. and Canada. NYISO and others 
acted to restore electric service expedi-
tiously, with some parts of the state 
experiencing only momentary losses. 
Restoration completed statewide in 
less than 30 hours.

SMD2 Approved - 
FERC approved NYISO’s Standard 
Market Design 2 (SMD2) project. This 
milestone enables the integration of 
the Real-Time and Day-Ahead pricing 
more effi ciently with new software.

uccess –In July, 
dvisor issues 
port: New York 

York’s markets 
d effi cient set of 

Innovations Yield Savings - 
First phase of multi-year IT 
“virtualization” reduced servers 
and cut costs. Use of “Lean Six 
Sigma” methodology streamlined the 
Thunderstorm Alert billing process, 
among other process improvements.

Wind Power Milestones – On 
February 19, 2009, output of wind 
projects totaled 1,000 MW for fi rst 
time. In May, FERC approved NYISO 
proposal to become the fi rst grid 
operator to integrate wind resources 
with economic dispatch of electricity.



Looking Ahead
Building on a decade of progress, we are working to enhance the wholesale electricity markets, bulk 
electricity grid, information technologies, and planning processes serving the electricity consumers of the 
Empire State. 

NYISO initiatives include the interrelated objectives of a smarter grid, broader regional markets, wider 
interregional planning, and further progress in cultivating cleaner and greener resources.

Smart Grid 

The Smart Grid encompasses comprehensive view of transmission, distribution and the “smart home” in 
which advanced metering and real-time price signals will help consumers be better informed about the 
amount and cost of the electricity they are using. Timely, accurate information can empower consumers to 
make informed decisions about their energy choices.

The bulk electricity grid already incorporates “smart” features. As grid operator, the NYISO has been 
consistently applying state-of-the-art technology to the management of the high-voltage transmission 
system and wholesale power markets. Both the grid and the marketplace will continue to become “smarter” 
by incorporating progressive generations of advancements. The use of digital information will greatly 
enhance the ability to monitor and control the transmission grid, and Smart Grid features will help minimize 
transmission and transformer losses, and enhance regional reliability.

Working with the owners of New York’s transmission facilities, the NYISO is leveraging the investment of 
federal stimulus funds by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) to help provide the foundation for further 
development of Smart Grid infrastructure in New York State.

As Smart Grid is developed across North America, the ability of various technologies to work together is vital. 
Developing standards and protocols is an area where ISOs and RTOs play a leadership role. Cooperative 
efforts among grid operators and organized markets will provide uniform standards that provide fertile 
ground for deploying Smart Grid technology.

Broader Regional Markets

Making the grid smarter on a regional and interregional basis is linked to the NYISO’s efforts to develop 
broader regional markets which will extend and expand the benefi ts of competition. The NYISO is leading 
the effort to expand regional markets with neighboring control areas to address limitations that currently 
exist in the areas where our markets and systems connect. The objective is seamless trading of electricity 
with neighboring regional transmission operators through interregional transaction coordination and market-
based congestion management. The success of these efforts can expand opportunities for stakeholders, 
consumers and businesses in New York State and the region.

In 2009, the NYISO, in conjunction with grid operators serving the Mid-Atlantic, Midwest and New England 
regions of the U.S. and the Canadian province of Ontario, developed a series of “broader regional markets” 
initiatives for submission to the FERC. The proposals address ways to improve coordination of power 
transactions between regional grid operators. Enhancing the fl ow of power among the grid operators will 
expand the benefi ts of markets to consumers throughout the region. Preliminary analysis of the benefi ts of 
the proposals estimates regional annual savings of at least $368 million. Estimated savings associated with 
New York are $211 million a year.
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Broader Interregional Planning

Expanded interregional planning means sharing information about emerging energy needs and working 
together to develop solutions. The NYISO is already involved in coordinated interregional planning within 
regional reliability organizations. It is actively developing broader coordination and collaboration to serve the 
common interest of consumers, grid operators, and electricity planning authorities. 

In 2009, the NYISO helped lead the formation of a wide-ranging group of electric planning authorities. 
Called the Eastern Interconnection Planning Collaborative (EIPC), its 24 members are responsible for 
planning power systems from the Rocky Mountains to the Atlantic Ocean and from the Canadian Northeast 
to the Gulf of Mexico. The EIPC will benefi t stakeholders by providing modeling and analysis concerning the 
entire Eastern Interconnection, identifying potential opportunities between members’ systems, providing 
coordinated analysis of scenarios to policymakers and stakeholders, and developing potential transmission 
and expansion options and cost estimates to inform their decisions.

In October 2009, NYISO President and CEO Stephen G. Whitley was selected to chair the Executive 
Committee of the EIPC.

EIPC efforts have been recognized by federal energy authorities. In December 2009, the DOE announced 
that the EIPC and state groups from throughout the Eastern Interconnection would share in federal stimulus 
funds to support the transmission planning process. Key to the EIPC proposal is the development of an open 
and transparent stakeholder process. The EIPC was awarded $16 million in federal stimulus funding. The 
DOE also awarded $14 million to the Eastern Interconnection States’ Planning Council to assist the states 
in developing a consensus process to identify renewable resources and other policy options as part of this 
pioneering interregional planning effort.

Greening the Grid

The NYISO markets will continue to develop in a way that values and encourages sustainable growth. We will 
continue planning for transmission enhancements and advancing the grid integration of renewable resources 
and energy storage technologies.

Advancements in market design have helped New York State assume a leadership role in green power and 
advanced energy technology. In 2009, the NYISO became the fi rst grid operator to integrate wind into its 
economic dispatch function, which balances the reliability requirements of the power system with the use of 
the least costly power available.

We pioneered the integration of energy storage resources, such as fl ywheels and batteries, into our 
regulation market. Regulation helps balance electrical supply and demand on the grid. Energy storage 
devices offer complimentary technologies to the integration of renewable resources such as wind power. 
Flywheel and battery system devices store electricity as kinetic or chemical energy to provide power to the 
system when it is needed. In addition, we enhanced integration of other renewable resources, such as landfi ll 
gas/methane power projects.
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Working in close collaboration with stakeholders, policy makers and regulators over the past ten years, the 
NYISO has achieved great progress. We are committed to sustaining and enhancing our value to New York 
ratepayers, and we remain focused on continuous improvement in the conduct of our duties.

In 2010 and beyond, the NYISO will reinforce its commitment to reliable operation of the grid, competitive 
markets and making the grid smarter, greener, and more effi cient.

The NYISO has contributed signifi cantly to making the Empire State a leader in grid operations, market 
design, system planning, and energy technology. As we look to the future, we will strengthen the 
transparency of our operations, refi ne our focus on consumer interests, and further enhance the effi ciency 
of the markets we are entrusted to administer. 

We look forward to continuing to energize the Empire State.

Conclusion



2009 Board of Directors

Karen Antion, Board Chair

President of Karen Antion Consulting, LLC and former Senior IT Executive at Oracle Corporation and the 
Port Authority of New York and New Jersey.

Michael B. Bemis

Former President of Exelon Power and President of Energy Delivery for the Exelon Corporation.

Ave M. Bie

Partner in the law firm of Quarles & Brady and former Chair of the Wisconsin Public Service 
Commission.

Alfred F. Boschulte

President of AFB Consulting, specializing in strategic planning and operating margin improvements for 
telecommunications firms.

Robert A. Hiney

Former Executive Vice President for Power Generation of the New York Power Authority (NYPA).
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Erland E. Kailbourne

Chairman of the Board of Financial Institutions, Inc. and its subsidiary Five Star Bank.

James V. Mahoney

President and CEO  of Energy Market Solutions, Inc. and former President and CEO of DPL Inc., a regional 
energy and utility company.

Thomas F. Ryan, Jr.

Former President and COO of the American Stock Exchange.

Richard E. Schuler

Professor Emeritus of Economics and Civil /Environmental Engineering at Cornell University and former 
New York State Public Service Commissioner and Deputy Chairman.

Stephen G. Whitley

President and CEO of the New York Independent System Operator.

From left to right standing: Michael Bemis, 
Alfred Boschulte, Robert Hiney, Karen Antion, 
Richard Schuler, Ave Bie

From left to right seated: James Mahoney, 
Thomas Ryan, Erland Kailbourne, 
Stephen Whitley



2009 Corporate Offi cers

Stephen  Whitley, President and CEO

Wayne Bailey,Vice President, Enterprise Services and Chief Compliance Officer

Henry Chao,Vice President, System and Resource Planning

Richard Dewey, Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Diane Egan, Corporate Secretary and Board Secretary 

Robert  Fernandez, General Counsel

Rick Gonzales, Vice President, Operations

Mary McGarvey, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Rana Mukerji, Vice President, Market Structures

Thomas  Rumsey, Vice President, External Affairs
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Management Committee

Bill Palazzo - Chair
(New York Power Authority)

Glen McCartney - Vice Chair,
(Constellation)

Business Issues Committee

Stuart Nachmias  - Chair 
(Con Edison)

Glen Haake - Vice Chair
(Dynegy) 

Operating Committee

Ted Pappas - Chair
(Long Island Power Authority)

John Marczewski  - Vice Chair
(EIG) 

The NYISO’s shared governance system involves representatives from market sectors that include Public 
Power & Environmental Parties, End-Use Consumers, Transmission Owners, Generation Owners, and Other 
Suppliers. The governance structure includes three standing committees — the Management Committee, 
the Business Issues Committee, and the Operating Committee. Each committee oversees its own set of 
working groups and/or subcommittees. 

2009 Governance Committee Leadership



Market Participants

330 Fund I, L.P.
330 Investment Management, LLC
3M Tonawanda
AB Energy NY, Pty.Ltd.
Absolute Energy Inc.
Accent Energy Midwest II LLC
Accent Energy Midwest LLC
Ace Energy Company, Inc.
AES Eastern Energy LP
Aff ordable Power, L.P.
AG Energy, L.P.
Agway Energy Services, LLC
Aleph One, Inc.
Amber Power, LLC
Ambit New York, LLC
American Utility Consultants
Amerinco, LLC
Amherst Utility Cooperative (AUC)
Astoria Energy LLC
Astoria Generating Company L.P.
Athens Generating Company, L.P.
Atlantic Energy Services, Inc.
August Power, LLC
Automated Energy, Inc.
Axon Energy, LLC
Bank of America, N.A.
Barclays Bank PLC
BG Energy Merchants, LLC
BJ Energy LLC
Black Oak Energy LLC
Blue Rock Energy, Inc.
BluePoint Energy

BNP Paribas Energy Trading GP
Boralex Hydro Operations Inc
Boralex New York LP
BP Energy Company
Brookfi eld Energy Marketing Inc.

Brookfi eld Renewable Energy 
   Marketing US LLC
Brown’s Energy Services LLC
Bruce Power Inc.
Calpine Energy Services LP
Cambridge Valley Enterprises LLC
Canandaigua Power Partners, LLC
Canastota Windpower LLC
Cargill Power Markets, LLC
Carr Street Generating Station LP
Castleton Power, LLC
Catskill Mts.Energy Corp.
CBA Endeavors, LLC
CBK Group, LTD
CECONY-LSE
Centaurus Energy Master Fund, LP
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp.
Central Vermont Public Service Corp.
Citadel Energy Investments Ltd.
Citadel Energy Strategies LLC
Citigroup Energy Inc.
City of Niagara Falls
City Power Marketing, LLC
Clearview Electric, Inc.
Columbia Utilities Power, LLC
Commerce Energy, Inc.

Con Edison Solutions, Inc.
Conectiv Energy Supply, Inc.
ConocoPhillips Company
Conservation Services Group
Consolidated Edison Co. of New York, Inc.
Consolidated Edison Energy, Inc.
Consolidated Hydro New York, Inc.
Constellation Energy Commodities 
   Group, Inc.
Constellation NewEnergy, Inc.
Core Equities, Inc.
County Energy Services, LLC
County of Erie NY
County of Niagara NY
Covanta Niagara, LP
CP Energy Marketing (US) Inc.
CPower, Inc.
Credit Suisse (USA) Inc.
Credit Suisse Energy LLC
Crucible Specialty Metals
Cummins Inc
Cutone & Company Consultants, LLC
DART Premiums
David Sholk, LLC
Day Automation Systems, Inc.
DB Energy Trading LLC
DC Energy LLC
DC Energy New England, LLC
DC Energy New York, LLC
Delaware County Electric Cooperative, Inc.
Demand Response Partners, Inc.
Direct Energy Marketing Inc
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Direct Energy Services, LLC
Discount Energy LLC
Dominion Retail, Inc.
drop18 Energy
DTE Energy Trading Inc
Dynamis ETF, LLC
Dynegy Power Marketing, Inc.
East Coast Power, LLC
EDF Trading North America, LLC
Edison Mission Marketing & Trading, Inc.
E-Energy, Inc.
eKapital NY, LLC
Emera Energy Services Subsidiary 
   No. 1, LLC
Emera Energy Services, Inc
Emera Energy U.S. Subsidiary 
   No. 1, Inc.
Emera Energy U.S. Subsidiary 
   No. 2, Inc.
Empire Generating Co, LLC
Empire Natural Gas Corp.
Empire Power Systems LLC
Endure Energy, L.L.C.
Energetix, Inc.
Energy Connect, Inc.
Energy Conservation and Supply, Inc.
Energy Cooperative of America, Inc 
d/b/a Energy Cooperative of New York
Energy Curtailment Specialists, Inc.
Energy Enterprises Inc.
Energy Investment Systems, Inc
Energy Plus Holdings LLC

Energy Services Providers, Inc d/b/a 
U.S.Gas & Electric
Energy Solutions Group LLC
Energy Spectrum Inc.
Energy Systems North East LLC
EnerNOC, Inc.
Enerwise Global Technologies, Inc.
Engage Networks, Inc.
Entergy Nuclear Power Marketing LLC
Entergy Solutions LLC
EPIC Merchant Energy NY,  L.P.
Erie Boulevard Hydropower LP
Exelon Generation Company LLC
FC Energy Services Company, LLC
First Commodities Ltd.
FirstLight Power Resources 
   Management, LLC
Flat Rock Windpower II LLC
Flat Rock Windpower LLC
Fortis Ontario Inc
Franklin Power LLC
Freeport Electric
Fulcrum Power Marketing, LLC
Galt Power Inc.
Gateway Energy Services Corporation
Gemsys LLC
General Electric Plastics
Glacial Energy New York, Inc.
Glens Falls Lehigh Cement Company
Good Energy, L.P.
Gotham Energy Marketing, LP
Grant Energy, Inc.

Green Mountain Energy Company
Grunwald Fund
Hampshire Paper Co., Inc.
Hess Corporation
Horizon Power, Inc.
HQ Energy Services (US)
HSBC Bank USA
Hudson Energy Services, LLC
Hudson Valley Trading Group, Inc.
IDT Energy, Inc
Indeck Energy Svs of Silver Springs
Indeck-Corinth LP
Indeck-Olean LP
Indeck-Oswego LP
Indeck-Yerkes LP
Innovative Energy Systems, Inc.
Innoventive Power LLC
Integrys Energy Services of New York, Inc.
Integrys Energy Services, Inc.
International Paper Company
International Renewables Group, LLC
ISO Trader, LLC
J Aron and Company
J. P. Morgan Ventures Energy Corporation
Jamestown Board of Public Utilities
Jump Power, LLC
Just Energy New York Corp
Kaleida Health
KeySpan - Ravenswood, Inc.
Keystone Energy Partners, LP
KeyTex Energy LLC
Koch Supply & Trading, LP

Market Participants
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KW Control Systems Inc.
Laissez Faire Enterprises, LLC
Lavand and Lodge, LLC
Liberty Power Holdings LLC
Lighthouse Energy Trading Co., Inc.
Linde Energy Services, Inc.
Lockport Energy Assoc.
Long Island Power Authority
Louis Dreyfus Energy Services L.P.
Lynx Technologies Inc.
Lyonsdale Biomass, LLC
Macquaire Energy LLC
Madison Windpower, LLC
MAG Energy Solutions Inc.
Major Energy Electric Services, LLC
Merrill Lynch Commodities, Inc.
MG Industries
Mirabito Gas & Electric Inc.
Mirant Energy Trading, LLC
MM Albany Energy LLC
Model City Energy LLC
Modern Innovative Energy, LLC
Monroe County NY
Morgan Stanley Capital Group, Inc.
Morgan Stanley Management 
   Services II, Inc
MxEnergy Electric Inc
Nationwide Energy, LLC
New York Industrial Energy Buyers, LLC
New York Municipal Power Agency
New York Power Authority
New York State Electric & Gas Corp.
NextEra Energy Power Marketing, LLC

Niagara Frontier Transportation 
   Authority
Niagara Generation, LLC
Niagara Mohawk Power Corp.
Niagara University
Niagara Wind Power, LLC
Nine Mile Point Nuclear Station, LLC
Nissequogue Cogen Partners
Noble Altona Windpark, LLC
Noble Bliss Windpark, LLC
Noble Chateaugay Windpark, LLC
Noble Clinton Windpark I, LLC
Noble Ellenburg Windpark, LLC
Noble Wethersfi eld Windpark LLC
NOCO Electric LLC
North American Power Partners LLC
Northbrook New York LLC
Northeast Utilites Service Co.
Northern States Power Company
NorthPoint Energy Solutions Inc.
NRG Power Marketing LLC
NuEnerGen, LLC
NYSEG Solutions, Inc.
Oasis Power, LLC d/b/a Oasis Energy
Occidental Chemical Corp.
Occidental Power Services Inc
Ocean Power LLC
Olin Chlor - Alkali Products
Ontario Power Generation Energy 
   Trading, Inc.
Ontario Power Generation, Inc.
Orange & Rockland Utilities, Inc.
ORU-LSE

Pacifi c Summit Energy LLC
Peoples Energy Services Corp.
Pepco Energy Services
Petra Technical Consultant Group, LLC
Pine Bush Energy Trading, LLC
Pirin Solutions, Inc
Plant-E Corp.
Power Biddiing Strategies, LLC
Power City Partners, L.P.
Power G Inc
Powerex Corporation
PP&L EnergyPlus Co. (EPLUS)
PPM Energy, Inc.
Praxair Inc
Pro-Energy Development LLC
Project Orange Associates, L.P.
PSEG Energy Resource & Trade, LLC
Public Energy Solutions, LLC
Public Power & Utility of NY, Inc.
Pure Energy Inc
R.E. Ginna Nuclear Power Plant, LLC
Rainbow Energy Marketing Corp
RBC Energy Services LP
RedGreen288, LLC
Reliable Power Management, Inc.
Rensselaer Cogeneration LLC
Riverbay Corporation
Robison Energy, LLC
Rochester Gas & Electric Corp.
Royal Bank of Canada
RTP Controls, Inc
Sanctorum Energy Inc.
Saracen Energy Power Trading LP
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Saracen Power LP
Saranac Power Partners, L.P.
Schools & Municipal Energy 
   Cooperative (SMEC)
Select Energy, Inc.
Selkirk Cogen Partners, L.P.
Sempra Energy Solutions
Sempra Energy Trading LLC
Seneca Energy II, LLC
Seneca Power Partners, L.P.
SESCO Enterprises LLC
Sheldon Energy LLC
Shell Energy North America (US), L.P.
SIG Energy, LLLP
Silverhill Ltd., GP for Power Fund LPs.
Site Controls LLC
Sithe Independence Power Partners L.P.
Sol Energy, LLC
Solios Power LLC
South Jersey Energy Company
Spark Energy, L.P.
Spartan Electricity Futures, Inc
Specialized Energy Services, Inc.
Standard Binghamton LLC
StatArb Investment LLC
State of New York
State University of New York
State University of New York at Buff alo
Sterling Power Partners, L.P.
Strategic Energy, LLC
Suez Energy Marketing NA, Inc
Suez Energy Resources NA, Inc
SUNY Potsdam

Swiftwater Energy Trading, LLC
Tallgrass Energy Partners, LLC
Tarachand Enterprises, Inc.
TC Ravenswood, LLC
Telemagine, Inc.
Texas Retail Energy, LLC
Th e Dayton Power and Light Company
Time Warner Inc.
Tops Markets, Inc.
TransAlta Energy Marketing (U.S.) Inc.
TransCanada Power Marketing, Ltd.
Trigen-Syracuse Energy Corp.
Triton Power Company
Twin Cities Energy, LLC
Twin Cities Power, LLC
U.S. Energy Partners LLC
UGI Energy Services, Inc
University of Rochester
Upstate Energy Trading Inc
VC Marketing Inc
Velocity American Energy Master I, L.P.
Verisae,  Inc
Village of Hilton
Village of Rockville Centre
Virtual Energy LLC
Watchtower Bible and Tract Society of New York, Inc.
West Oaks Energy NY/NE, LP
Western New York Wind Corp.
Wheelabrator Westchester, L.P.
Windy Bay Power, LLC

Market Participants



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I certify that:

I have reviewed this report of  the NYISO for the year ended December 31, 2009;1. 

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of  a material fact or omit to state a material 2. 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of  the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 3. 
all material respects the financial condition, results of  operations and cash flows of  the NYISO as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

The NYISO’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 4. 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for NYISO and have:

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed a. 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the NYISO is made known to us by others within 
the NYISO, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be b. 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of  financial reporting and the 
preparation of  financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of  the NYISO’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our c. 
conclusions about the effectiveness of  the disclosure controls and procedures, as of  the end of  the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the NYISO’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during d. 
the NYISO’s most recent fiscal quarter (the NYISO’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of  an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the NYISO’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The NYISO’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of  internal control over 5. 
financial reporting, to the NYISO’s auditors and the audit committee of  NYISO’s board of  directors (or persons performing 
the equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of  internal control over financial a. 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the NYISO’s ability to record, process, summarize and report 
financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the b. 
NYISO’s internal control over financial reporting.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of  our management, including the Chief  Executive Officer and the Chief  Financial 
Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of  the design and operation of  our disclosure controls and procedures as of  December 
31, 2009.  The reporting process is designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the NYISO is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the appropriate time periods.  Based on that evaluation, we have concluded that the 
NYISO disclosure controls and procedures are functioning effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the NYISO can meet its 
disclosure obligations.  

Management’s Report of  Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

We have evaluated any change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of  2009, and 
have concluded that there was no change during the fourth quarter of  2009 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Date:  March 17, 2010

Stephen G. Whitley      Mary McGarvey
President & Chief  Executive Officer     Vice President & Chief  Financial Officer  

Mary MMMMMMMMMMcGarvey
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of  Directors
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying statements of  fi nancial position of  New York Independent System 
Operator, Inc. (NYISO or the Company) as of  December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related statements 
of  activities and statements of  cash fl ows for the years then ended. These fi nancial statements are the 
responsibility of  NYISO’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial 
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of  America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the fi nancial statements are free of  material misstatement. An audit includes consideration 
of  internal control over fi nancial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of  expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of  the NYISO’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of  NYISO 
as of  December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of  its operations and its cash fl ows for the years then 
ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in note 1 to the fi nancial statements, effective January 1, 2008, NYISO adopted the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Accounting Standards Codifi cation (ASC) 820, Fair Value Measurements, 
related to the fair value measurements of  fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities.

March 17, 2010

KPMG LLP
515 Broadway

Albany, NY 12207

KPMG LLP, a U.S. limited liability partnership, is the U.S.
member fi rm of KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Assets 2009 2008

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 53,582,089   56,529,694   

Restricted cash 371,162,251   285,476,866   

Accounts receivable – net (note 2) 12,799,522   16,206,343   

Prepaid expenses 4,180,713   6,051,561   

Regulatory assets – current portion (note 3) 5,469,179   —    

Other current assets 580,800   3,166   

Total current assets 447,774,554   364,267,630   

Noncurrent assets:

Regulatory assets (note 3) 10,555,399   11,604,891   

Property and equipment – net (note 4) 57,174,512   55,991,406   

Other noncurrent assets 6,870,581   13,760,670   

Total noncurrent assets 74,600,492   81,356,967   

Total $ 522,375,046   445,624,597   

Liabilities

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 23,633,450   16,331,310   

Market participant prepayments 24,982,564   15,238,741   

Market participant security deposits 341,578,621   263,728,426   

Long-term debt – current portion (note 6) 21,342,581   19,696,570   

Working capital reserve (note 10) 46,543,644   48,941,193   

Deferred revenue (note 11) 3,243,681   4,556,769   

Regulatory liabilities – current portion (note 12) 1,074,704   10,281,089   

Other current liabilities 3,996,295   1,589,811   

Total current liabilities 466,395,540   380,363,909   

Noncurrent liabilities:

Accrued pension liability (note 8) 4,084,576   6,506,665   

Accrued postretirement liability (note 8) 5,900,528   5,616,569   

Regulatory liabilities (note 12) 3,905,605   2,857,999   

Other noncurrent liabilities (notes 7 and 8) 3,919,451   9,067,528   

Long-term debt (note 6) 38,169,346   41,211,927   

Total noncurrent liabilities 55,979,506   65,260,688   

Commitments and contingencies (note 13)

Total liabilities 522,375,046   445,624,597   

Unrestricted net assets —    —    

Total liabilities and net assets $ 522,375,046   445,624,597   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
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STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008

2009 2008

Revenues:

Rate Schedule 1 tariff charge $ 135,410,542   140,644,871   

Interconnection studies revenue 2,928,825   1,807,610   

Fees and services 883,788   749,849   

Interest income 49,863   1,488,580   

Total revenues 139,273,018   144,690,910   

Operating expenses:

Compensation and related benefits (note 8) 57,429,618   53,124,882   

Professional fees and consultants 26,742,719   29,396,356   

Maintenance, software licenses and facility costs 17,993,618   15,461,573   

Depreciation and amortization 16,712,438   16,803,549   

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission fees 9,980,421   8,854,182   

Telecommunication expenses 3,531,688   3,981,689   

Administrative and other expenses 3,148,969   2,753,913   

Interest expense 3,131,547   3,568,235   

Insurance expense 2,801,008   2,860,053   

Training, travel, and meeting expenses 1,256,716   1,975,850   

Northeast Power Coordinating Council fees 251,976   161,929   

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps and caps (3,707,700)  5,748,699   

Total operating expenses 139,273,018   144,690,910   

Change in unrestricted net assets —    —    

Unrestricted net assets, beginning of year —    —    

Unrestricted net assets, end of year $ —    —    

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008

2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net results of activities $ —    —    

Adjustments to reconcile net results of activities to net cash provided by 
operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 16,712,438   16,803,549   

Loss on disposal of fixed asset —    35,242   

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 5,277,669   (4,252,578)  

Increase in restricted cash (85,685,385)  (8,463,962)  
Increase in regulatory assets (4,419,687)  (2,769,915)  
Decrease in other assets 6,312,455   2,100,716   

Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,013,317   2,725,298   

Increase (decrease) in market participant prepayments 9,743,823   (46,426,604)  

Increase in market participant security deposits 77,850,195   53,716,400   

Decrease in working capital reserve (2,397,549)  (2,997,679)  

(Decrease) increase in regulatory liabilities (8,158,779)  4,926,098   

(Decrease) increase in deferred revenue and other liabilities (6,192,811)  10,320,450   

Net cash provided by operating activities 12,055,686   25,717,015   

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of property and equipment (including capitalized interest) (13,606,721)  (17,088,126)  

Proceeds from sale of assets —    9,000   

Net cash used in investing activities (13,606,721)  (17,079,126)  

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from 2007 – 2010 budget facility loan 18,300,000   16,700,000   

Repayment of mortgage and renovations loan (753,903)  (311,642)  

Repayment of 2004 – 2006 budget facility loan (8,376,000)  (18,876,000)  
Repayment of 2007 – 2010 budget facility loan (10,566,667)  (5,000,000)  

Net cash used in financing activities (1,396,570)  (7,487,642)  

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,947,605)  1,150,247   

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 56,529,694   55,379,447   

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year $ 53,582,089   56,529,694   

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow:

Information – cash paid during the year for interest net of
capitalized interest $ 2,948,240   3,354,557   

Noncash investing activities:

Property and equipment additions which were accrued but not paid $ 4,820,759   531,936   

Property and equipment additions previously accrued which were paid 531,936   1,448,615   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies(1) 

Business Description(a) 

The New York Independent System Operator, Inc. (NYISO) was formed in April 1997 and commenced operations 
on December 1, 1999. NYISO is incorporated in the state of New York as a not-for-profit organization. NYISO 
assumed the responsibilities of its predecessor, the New York Power Pool (NYPP), which had coordinated the reli-
ability of New York State’s electric power grid for more than 30 years. Formed as a result of Federal Energy Regula-
tory Commission (FERC) policies, NYISO monitors a network of 10,892 miles of high-voltage transmission lines 
and serves approximately 400 market participants.

NYISO’s mission, in collaboration with its stakeholders, is to serve the public interest by maintaining and enhanc-
ing the reliable, safe, and efficient operation of the New York State transmission system and promoting and oper-
ating a fair and competitive wholesale market for electricity in New York State while providing quality customer 
service. NYISO facilitates fair and open competition in the wholesale power market and creates an electricity 
commodity market in which power is purchased and sold on the basis of competitive bidding. NYISO utilizes a 
bid process for electricity and transmission usage, which enables New York State’s utilities and other market partici-
pants to offer electricity at competitive prices, rather than regulated rates. Billing invoices are issued to each market 
participant by NYISO each month to settle transactions occurring in the previous month.

NYISO is governed by an independent board of directors, as well as a committee structure consisting of market 
participant representatives. In addition to FERC oversight, NYISO is also subject to regulation in certain aspects 
by the New York State Department of Public Service.

Basis of Accounting(b) 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting in accordance with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Regulation(c) 

NYISO’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for rate-
regulated entities, FASB ASC Topic 980, Regulated Operations. As such, regulators may permit specific incurred 
costs, typically treated as expenses by unregulated entities, to be deferred and expensed in future periods when it is 
probable that such costs will be recovered in customer rates. Incurred costs are deferred as regulatory assets when 
NYISO concludes that it is probable future revenues will be provided to permit recovery of the previously incurred 
cost. A regulatory liability is recorded when amounts that have been recorded by NYISO are likely to be refunded 
to customers through the rate-setting process.

Revenue Recognition(d) 

Monthly settlements of market participants’ energy transactions are not reflected in NYISO’s Statements of Activi-
ties since they do not represent revenues or expenses of NYISO, as NYISO merely acts as an intermediary in the 
settlement process. In this role, NYISO receives and disburses funds to/from market participants in the month 
following the month transactions occurred.

NYISO’s two FERC-approved tariffs, the Open Access Transmission Tariff (OATT) and the Market Adminis-
tration and Control Area Services Tariff (Services Tariff ), allow recovery of NYISO’s capital requirements and 
operating expenses through a surcharge assessed to market participants. The revenue from this surcharge, Rate 
Schedule 1, is earned when energy is scheduled and dispatched. Market participants are then billed for such charges 
in the subsequent month.

NYISO’s Rate Schedule 1 includes a timing mechanism that effectively meets the requirements of an alternative 
revenue program set forth in ASC Topic 980, Regulated Operations, Subtopic 602, Revenue Recognition. According-
ly, revenue is recognized for net financing obligations and capital costs incurred during the reporting period based 
on the revenue requirement formula in the tariffs. NYISO has recorded an Other Noncurrent Asset of $2,337,415 
and $4,917,092, respectively, in the accompanying 2009 and 2008 Statements of Financial Position in connection 
with this rate-making recovery mechanism.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Revenues recorded as interconnection studies revenues arise from billing and collection services in the interconnec-
tion service agreement process performed by NYISO. These revenues are offset by the corresponding interconnection 
expenses, recorded in operating expenses, which were incurred in performing such studies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents(e) 

NYISO considers short-term marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equiva-
lents. The cash equivalents at December 31, 2009 and 2008 were held in money market accounts invested primarily 
in shortterm U.S. government obligations. NYISO’s cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of funds accumulated 
for the working capital reserve, amounts due to market participants for overcollections on the voltage market, amounts 
collected for Transmission Congestion Contract (TCC) auctions, amounts for funding employee benefit plans, and for 
general operating purposes.

 Restricted Cash(f) 

Restricted cash consists primarily of market participant security deposits held in escrow accounts, amounts prepaid by 
market participants in advance of settlements billing dates, and amounts deposited for interconnection studies. Security 
deposits are invested at the market participant’s choice in money market funds or short- or intermediate-term bond 
funds. NYISO presents changes in restricted cash in the operating activities section of the statements of cash flows 
instead of in the investing activities section. NYISO has determined that this classification is more suitable to the nature 
of the Company’s operations.

Other Assets(g) 

Other assets consist primarily of timing differences on certain rate-making recoveries, the fair value of interest rate cap 
and swap agreements, noncurrent prepaid expenses, and miscellaneous receivables.

Property and Equipment(h) 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. NYISO capitalizes property and equipment additions in excess of $5,000 
with a useful life greater than one year. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated 
useful lives of three to five years, except for building and building improvements, which are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over 20 years. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related depreciation are removed, and 
any resulting gain or loss is reflected in expense for the period. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense 
when incurred.

In accordance with ASC topic 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, Subtopic 40, Internal Use Software, labor, over-
head, interest, consulting, and related costs incurred to acquire and develop computer software for internal use are 
capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over three years. Costs incurred prior to the determination of 
feasibility of developed software and following the in-service date of developed software are expensed.

Long-lived assets are recorded at cost, and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable. Management is not aware of any events or 
changes in circumstances that would necessitate a review of any long-lived assets as of the years ended December 31, 
2009 and 2008.

Working Capital Reserve(i) 

In order to maintain the liquidity and stability of NYISO’s markets, NYISO has accumulated a working capital fund 
through amounts charged to market participants under Rate Schedule 1. Any additional working capital needs would 
be billed to market participants in future Rate Schedule 1 charges. Market participants are entitled to interest on their 
principal contributions to the working capital reserve. Each market participant is allocated interest based on the respec-
tive ratio share of each market participant’s principal contributions to the total working capital fund. Accumulated 
interest on the working capital fund is distributed annually to market participants.

 Market Participant Prepayments(j) 

Amounts received from certain market participants who do not provide an alternate form of financial assurance and 
must prepay their obligations to NYISO in advance of settlements billing dates are recorded as market participant 
prepayments.
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Deferred Revenue(k) 

Advance payments from developers for interconnection studies are reflected as deferred revenue. Fees for participation 
in NYISO’s governance process are billed to market participants in advance of the year for which they apply and are 
amortized over the related governance period. All such unamortized amounts are also included in deferred revenue.

 Income Taxes(l) 

NYISO is not subject to income taxes because it is operating as a corporation described in Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code, exempt under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. NYISO is also exempt from paying 
New York State income tax or sales tax.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments(m) 

On January 1, 2008, NYISO adopted the provisions of FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, included 
in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, for fair value measurements of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. Statement 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC Topic 820 (SFAS No. 157) also 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.

On January 1, 2009, NYISO adopted the provisions of ASC Topic 820 (SFAS No. 157) to fair value measurements of 
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on 
a nonrecurring basis. The adoption of these provisions did not have any effect on NYISO’s financial statements.

ASC Topic 820 (SFAS No. 157) establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that NYISO has • 
the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or • 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.• 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair measurement in its entirety falls is based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

The fair value of NYISO’s interest rate swaps and caps are determined using pricing models developed based on the 
LIBOR swap rate and other observable market data (Level 2 inputs).

The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of NYISO’s financial instruments at Decem-
ber 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying amount Fair Value

Financial assets:

Interest rate caps $ 291 291 2,075 2,075

Financial liabilities:

Interest rate swaps $ 3,919,451 3,919,451 7,428,686 7,428,696

Interest rate caps are included in other current assets and the interest rate swaps are included in noncurrent liabilities.

Effective January 1, 2008, NYISO adopted the Fair Value Option provisions of the Subsections of ASC Subtopic 825-
10, Financial Instruments – Overall, included in FASB Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities. ASC Subtopic 825-10 (SFAS No. 159) permits entities to choose to measure many financial 
instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective is to improve financial reporting by providing enti-
ties with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities 
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differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. This Statement is expected to expand the 
use of fair value measurement, which is consistent with the FASB’s long-term measurement objectives for accounting 
for financial instruments. The adoption of ASC Subtopic 825-10 (SFAS No. 159) in 2008 did not have any effect on 
NYISO’s financial statements.

Concentration of Credit Risk(n) 

Financial instruments that subject NYISO to credit risk consist primarily of market settlement billings and Rate 
Schedule 1 revenue due from market participants. As provided in the OATT and Services Tariff, NYISO reviews the 
creditworthiness of market participants, who are required to either maintain certain financial statement criteria and/or 
approved credit ratings, to post specified financial security in an amount sufficient to cover their outstanding liability to 
NYISO, or to prepay their obligations in advance of settlement billing dates.

NYISO’s tariffs establish specific periods for the adjustment of settlement invoices as originally billed and for challenges 
to amounts billed for a particular service month. Subsequent invoices issued during the settlement adjustment period 
“true up” amounts previously billed. After all true-up invoices are issued during the settlement adjustment period, mar-
ket participants may challenge the amounts billed for a particular service month. If NYISO agrees with the provisions 
of the challenge, a final invoice is issued for that service month. As a result, NYISO is exposed to credit risk until all 
settlement adjustment and final invoices for each service month are finalized and liquidated. However, Rate Schedule 1 
of the OATT allows NYISO to recover bad debt losses from remaining market participants in future billings.

Beginning with the January 2007 settlement invoice, settlement invoices could be adjusted for up to six months after 
the date of original issuance, and these invoices could be challenged for an additional one month after the issuance of 
all settlement adjustment invoices. Beginning with the January 2009 settlement invoice, the adjustment period has been 
shortened to four months. As of December 31, 2009, the adjustments and true-ups of all settlement invoices through 
March 2009 were completed.

Derivative Financial Instruments(o) 

NYISO records derivative financial instruments in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging. ASC 
Topic 815 requires that all derivative financial instruments be recognized as either assets or liabilities, measured at fair 
value. The accounting for changes in fair value of derivatives (i.e., gains and losses) depends on the intended use of the 
derivative and the corresponding designation. The fair values of NYISO’s derivative instruments are quoted by external 
sources. The changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recorded as change in fair value of interest rate swaps and 
caps. Due to NYISO’s regulated rates, the offset to the changes in fair value of these derivatives is recorded as either 
other current assets or other noncurrent assets. See additional details in note 7.

Use of Estimates(p) 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Sig-
nificant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the useful lives of fixed assets, regulatory assets, the 
valuation of derivatives, compensation, and liabilities for employee benefit obligations.

Reclassifications(q) 

Certain reclassifications of prior period data have been made to conform with the current-year presentation.

New Accounting Pronouncements(r) 

In June 2009, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 168, FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (SFAS 168), which replaces SFAS No. 162, 
The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. FASB Statement No. 168 modifies U.S. GAAP by establish-
ing two levels of GAAP, authoritative and nonauthoritative, in contrast with the levels of GAAP that existed prior to 
SFAS 168. The FASB accomplished this change in the GAAP hierarchy by authorizing the FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC or Codification) to become the single source of authoritative, nongovernmental U.S. GAAP. The 
Codification brings together in one place the authoritative accounting standards that currently exist in a number of 
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formats including FASB Statements and Interpretations, Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts, FASB Staff Positions, 
and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statements of Positions and Accounting and Auditing 
Guides. All other nongrandfathered accounting literature not included in the Codification will become nonauthorita-
tive. The Codification is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. As 
the Codification was not intended to change or alter existing GAAP, it did not have any impact on NYISO’s financial 
statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 
(SFAS No. 161), updating ASC Topic 812. SFAS No. 161 amends ASC Topic 815, requiring enhanced disclosures about 
an entity’s derivative and hedging activities thereby improving the transparency of financial reporting. SFAS No. 161’s 
disclosures provide additional information on how and why derivative instruments are being used. This statement is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, with early application 
encouraged. NYISO adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 161 in 2009.

In 2009, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Position 481 a definition of 
FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – An Interpretation of FAS 109 (FIN 48), 
amending ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income tax recognized in an 
entity’s financial statements. FIN 48 requires entities to determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position 
will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authorities before any part of the benefit can be recorded 
in the financial statements. It also provides guidance on the recognition, measurement, and classification of income tax 
uncertainties, along with any related interest or penalties. A tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit 
that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon settlement. The adoption of FIN 48 in 2009 did not have 
any effect on NYISO’s financial statements.

Accounts Receivable(2) 

NYISO’s accounts receivable at December 31, 2009 and 2008, consisted of the following:

2009 2008
Billed:

Past due settlement invoices $ 1,081,672   5,068,261   

Miscellaneous billed receivables 289,097   368,076   

Reserve for doubtful accounts – past due settlement invoices (1,072,539) (1,134,187)

298,230  4,302,150  

      

Unbilled:

Operating expenses for December 11,928,715   11,538,473   

Miscellaneous unbilled receivables 546,368   339,511   

Bad debt losses recoverable from market participants 25,903   25,903   

Replenishments of working capital reserve 306   306   

12,501,292   11,904,193   

Total $ 12,799,522   16,206,343   

Rate Schedule 1 of the OATT allows NYISO to recover bad debt losses from market participants and provides guidance on the 
provisions of such recoveries. NYlSO’s reserve for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2009 and 2008, results primarily from 
past due settlement invoices related to a subsidiary of Enron Corporation. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, NYISO recorded 
unbilled receivables of $25,903 to reflect amounts yet to be recovered from remaining market participants in connection with 
other bad debt losses.

NYISO recovers its operating expenses via Rate Schedule 1 in the month following the month of service. Therefore, the unbilled 
operating expenses for December are billed and recovered in January of the subsequent year.
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Unbilled replenishments of working capital reserve relate to amounts recoverable from market participants via future Rate 
Schedule 1 charges to recover amounts temporarily utilized by NYISO out of the working capital reserve.

Regulatory Assets(3) 

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, regulatory assets were comprised of the following:

2009 2008

Deferred pension plan asset $ 8,127,363   9,527,335   

Voltage support service (reactive power) market 5,469,179   —    

Funding for deferred charges 2,428,036   1,710,636   

Deferred postretirement plan asset —    366,920   

Total 16,024,578   11,604,891   

Less current portion (5,469,179)  —    

Long-term portion $ 10,555,399   11,604,891   

In order to maintain acceptable transmission voltages on the New York State transmission system, certain market participants 
within the New York Control Area produce or absorb voltage support service (reactive power). Payments to market participants 
supplying voltage support service and recoveries from other market participants are assessed via Rate Schedule 2 of the OATT 
and Services Tariff. Differences between the timing of recoveries and payments for voltage support service that result in under 
collections are reflected as regulatory assets. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, NYISO recognized a regulatory asset 
of $5,469,179 and a regulatory liability of $2,314,198 related to such timing differences.

ASC Topic 715 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined pension benefit or post-
retirement plan (other than a multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize 
changes in the funded status in the year in which the changes occur. For NYISO, this recognition creates a deferred noncurrent 
regulatory asset or liability for accumulated actuarial losses or gains to be recognized in future periods. As of December 31, 
2009 and 2008 the amounts were $8,127,363 and $9,527,335, respectively for the defined pension plan and $(25,489) and 
$366,920, respectively for the defined postretirement plan.

Property and Equipment(4) 

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, property and equipment consisted of the following:

2009 2008
Software developed for internal use $ 99,917,173   88,554,051   
Computer hardware and software 59,343,272   55,917,646   
Building, building improvements, and leasehold improvements 32,642,392   32,392,758   
Work in progress 4,358,910   4,431,779   
Machinery and equipment 4,221,036   3,692,980   
Furniture and fixtures 2,846,672   2,763,214   
Land and land improvements 2,091,376   2,065,571   

205,420,831   189,817,999   
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (148,246,319)  (133,826,593)  

Property and equipment – net $ 57,174,512   55,991,406   

Property and equipment includes interest of $80,730 and $25,574 capitalized during 2009 and 2008, respectively. Depreciation 
expense for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $16,712,438 and $16,803,549, respectively.
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ShortTerm Debt(5) 

On July 21, 2005, NYISO entered into a $50.0 million Revolving Credit Facility that expires on July 21, 2010. The proceeds 
from this facility are to be used for working capital purposes. Interest on borrowings under this agreement is based on NYISO’s 
option of varying rates of interest tied to either the prime rate or the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). At Decem-
ber 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, there were no amounts outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility.

LongTerm Debt(6) 

On March 17, 2004, NYISO entered into an unsecured $100.0 million line of credit facility (2004 – 2006 Budget Facility), the 
proceeds of which could be drawn until December 2006 to fund the development of significant information technology projects 
during 2004 through 2006, with principal repayments made over four years. Interest on borrowings under this facility is due 
monthly and is based on NYISO’s option of varying rates of interest tied to either LIBOR plus 60 basis points for borrowings 
during the draw period not yet converted to term loans, LIBOR plus 100 basis points for borrowings converted to term loans, 
or the prime rate. On April 8, 2005, this facility was refinanced to lower the LIBOR interest rate spread to 52.5 basis points for 
borrowings during the draw period and 80 basis points for borrowings converted to term loans. NYISO entered into interest 
rate cap agreements on $82.0 million of this debt, which caps the maximum interest rate at 4.60% for borrowings during the 
draw periods not yet converted to term loans (4.525% after April 8, 2005, refinancing) and 5.00% for borrowings converted 
to term loans (4.80% after April 8, 2005, refinancing). See additional information in note 7.

At December 31, 2004, $42.0 million was drawn on the 2004 – 2006 Budget Facility, which was converted to a term loan in 
February 2005 with monthly principal and interest payments payable beginning March 2005. As of December 31, 2008, these 
borrowings were fully repaid, with $3.1 million representing voluntary prepayments against this debt. At December 31, 2008 
the interest rate on these borrowings was at the cap level of 4.8%. During 2005, an additional $18.0 million was drawn on 
the 2004 – 2006 Budget Facility, which was converted to a term loan in February 2006 with monthly principal and interest 
payments payable from March 2006 through December 2009. As of December 31, 2009, these borrowings were fully repaid. 
At December 31, 2008, the interest rate on these borrowings was 2.23%. During 2006, an additional $15.5 million was drawn 
on the 2004 – 2006 Budget Facility, which was converted to a term loan in March 2007 with monthly principal and interest 
payments payable through December 2010. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the interest rate on these borrowings was 1.04% 
and 2.23%, respectively.

On January 22, 2007, NYISO entered into an unsecured $80 million line of credit facility (2007 – 2010 Budget Facility), the 
proceeds of which may be drawn until January 2011 to fund capital purchases and the development of significant information 
technology projects during 2007 – 2010. NYISO must convert each year’s annual borrowings to term loans, with principal and 
interest payments payable over three years. Interest on borrowings under this facility is based on NYISO’s option of varying rates 
of interest tied to either LIBOR plus 40 basis points for borrowings during the draw periods, LIBOR plus 65 basis points for 
borrowings converted to term loans, or the prime rate. Interest payments on borrowings are due monthly.

On January 23, 2007, NYISO entered into four interest rate swap agreements to fix interest payments on $60 million of the 
$80 million available on this line of credit facility. Under the swap agreements, NYISO will pay fixed interest rates ranging 
between 5.392% to 5.515% during the annual borrowing periods and 5.642% to 5.765% on the four annual term loan conver-
sions. See additional information in note 7.

During 2007, $15.0 million was drawn on the 2007 – 2010 Budget Facility, which was converted to a term loan in Janu-
ary 2008 with monthly principal and interest payments payable from January 2008 through December 2010. At December 31, 
2009 and 2008, the interest rate on these borrowings was fixed at 5.726%. During 2008, an additional $16.7 million was 
drawn on the 2007 – 2010 Budget Facility, which was converted to a term loan in January 2009 with monthly principal and 
interest payments payable from January 2009 through December 2011. At December 31, 2009, the interest rate on $10 million 
of these borrowings was fixed at 5.642% and the remaining $1.1 million was at 0.885%. At December 31, 2008, the interest 
rate on $15 million of these borrowings was fixed at 5.392% and the remaining $1.7 million was at 1.831%. During 2009, an 
additional $18.3 million was drawn on the 2007 – 2010 Budget Facility, which was converted to a term loan in February 2010 
with monthly principal and interest payments payable from February 2010 through December 2012. At December 31, 2009, 
the interest rate on $15 million of these borrowings was fixed at 5.446% and the remaining $3.3 million was at 0.635%.

On July 8, 2005, NYISO entered into two financing agreements to purchase and renovate a 140,000-square foot office build-
ing. The first agreement is a $14.7 million mortgage to finance the building purchase (Mortgage), and the second agreement 
represents a $10.0 million line of credit for renovations during an 18month period, beginning in July 2005 (Renovations Loan). 
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The Mortgage has principal and interest payments payable over 20 years, beginning September 2005. Principal and interest 
payments on borrowings made during the Renovations Loan draw period are payable over 20 years, beginning in January 2007. 
During 2005, $14.7 million was borrowed on the Mortgage, and during 2006, $10.0 million was drawn on the Renovations 
Loan. Both agreements are secured by liens on the building and subsequent capitalized renovations. Interest on borrowings 
under both facilities is due monthly and is based on varying rates of interest tied to LIBOR plus 100 basis points. On Febru-
ary 15, 2005, NYISO entered into an interest rate swap agreement on the Mortgage, which fixed the interest rate on this loan 
at 5.79%. On February 15, 2005, NYISO also entered into an interest rate swap agreement on the Renovations Loan, which 
fixed the interest rate on these borrowings at 5.96%, beginning on January 1, 2007.

At December 31, 2009, the following amounts were outstanding on NYISO’s long-term debt:

2004 – 2006 2007 – 2010

Budget Budget

Facility loan Facility loan Mortgage Renovations Total

         Outstanding balance $ 3,876,000  34,433,334  12,026,321  9,176,272  59,511,927  

       Less current portion (3,876,000) (16,666,667) (482,901) (317,013) (21,342,581) 

      Long-term portion $ —  17,766,667  11,543,420  8,859,259  38,169,346  

At December 31, 2008, the following amounts were outstanding on NYISO’s long-term debt:

2004 – 2006 2007 – 2010

Budget Budget

Facility loan Facility loan Mortgage Renovations Total

       Outstanding balance $ 12,252,000  26,700,000  12,481,756 9,474,741  60,908,497  

     Less current portion (8,376,000) (10,566,667) (455,434) (298,469) (19,696,570)

    Long-term portion $ 3,876,000  16,133,333  12,026,322  9,176,272  41,211,927  

At December 31, 2009, scheduled maturities of NYISO’s long-term debt were as follows:

2004 – 2006 2007 – 2010

Budget Budget

Facility loan Facility loan Mortgage Renovations Total

2010 $ 3,876,000  16,666,667  482,901  317,013  21,342,581  

2011 —  11,666,667  512,025  336,709  12,515,401  

2012 —  6,100,000  541,065  356,162  6,997,227  

2013 —  —  575,536  379,757  955,293  

2014 —  —  610,246  403,352  1,013,598  

Thereafter —  —  9,304,548  7,383,279  16,687,827  

Total $ 3,876,000  34,433,334  12,026,321  9,176,272  59,511,927  
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Derivatives and Hedging Activities(7) 

The fair values of NYISO’s derivative instruments, which are freestanding agreements, are quoted by external sources. The 
changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recorded in change in fair value of interest rate swaps and caps. In Decem-
ber 2003, NYISO entered into an interest rate cap agreement with a commercial bank to cap interest payments at 5.375% 
(4.65% after refinancing on April 8, 2005) on its 2003 Budget Facility. The notional amount of the debt on the date of the cap 
agreement was $47,000,000. Under the cap agreement, NYISO pays a variable interest rate tied to LIBOR on the outstanding 
principal amount of the 2003 Budget Facility from January 2004 through February 2008; however, this variable interest rate 
cannot exceed 5.375% (4.65% after refinancing). This agreement expired in February 2008. For the year ended December 31, 
2008, NYISO recorded interest income of $4,795 related to this derivative instrument.

In March 2004, NYISO entered into interest rate cap agreements with a commercial bank to cap interest payments at 4.60% 
for draws and 5.00% for term loans (4.525% and 4.80% after refinancing on April 8, 2005) on its 2004 – 2006 Budget Facil-
ity. The notional amount of the debt on the date of the cap agreements was $82,000,000. Under the cap agreements, NYISO 
pays a variable interest rate tied to LIBOR on the draws and term loans of the 2004 – 2006 Budget Facility from March 2005 
through December 2010; however, this variable interest rate cannot exceed 4.525% for draws or 4.80% for term loans. As of 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair value of the interest rate cap was $291 and $2,075, and is recorded in Other Current 
Assets. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, NYISO recorded interest income of $198,466 and $187,274, respec-
tively, related to this derivative instrument.

In February 2005, NYISO entered into two interest rate swap agreements with a commercial bank to fix interest rate payments 
on the financing of a new office building purchase. The notional amount of debt on the swap agreement for the Mortgage was 
$14,708,750, and NYISO pays a fixed interest rate of 5.79% on the outstanding principal amount of this financing on pay-
ments from August 2005 through August 2025. The notional amount of debt on the swap agreement for the Renovations Loan 
was $10,000,000, and NYISO pays a fixed interest rate of 5.96% on payments from January 2007 through January 2027. As 
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair value of these interest rate swap agreements was ($924,922) and ($2,375,734) for 
the Mortgage and ($818,738) and ($2,068,308) for the Renovations Loan, recorded in Other Noncurrent Liabilities. For the 
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, NYISO recorded interest income of $2,700,382 and interest expense of $4,014,234, 
respectively, related to these two swap agreements.

In January 2007, NYISO entered into four interest rate swap agreements with a commercial bank to fix interest rate payments 
on the 2007 – 2010 Budget Facility. The notional amount of debt on the swap agreements was $60,000,000. NYISO pays fixed 
interest rates ranging between 5.392% to 5.515% during the annual borrowing periods and 5.642% to 5.765% on the four 
annual term loan conversions from March 2007 through December 2013. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair value 
of these interest rate swap agreements was ($2,175,791) and ($2,984,644), respectively, recorded in other noncurrent liabili-
ties. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, NYISO recorded interest income of $808,853 and interest expense of 
$1,926,534, related to these four swap agreements. Gains and losses on market values are recorded in the statement of activities 
as change in fair value of interest rate swaps and caps.

Notional
amount at
December 

31,
2009

Notional
amount

at inception

Fair value at
December 31,

2008

Fair value at
December 31,

2009

2009
Loss on
market 
value

Loan:

2004 – 2006 Budget Facility $ 82,000,000  3,876,000  2,075  291  (1,784) 

2007 – 2010 Budget Facility 60,000,000  30,000,000  (2,984,644) (2,175,791) 808,853  

Mortgage 14,708,750  12,026,321  (2,375,734) (924,922) 1,450,812  

Renovations 10,000,000  9,176,272  (2,068,308) (818,738) 1,249,570  

NYISO is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the commercial banks under the interest rate cap and swap 
agreements. However, NYISO does not anticipate nonperformance by the commercial banks.
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Employee Benefit Plans(8) 

Pension and Postretirement Plans(a) 

NYISO has a defined benefit qualified pension plan covering substantially all employees. Plan benefits are based on 
employee compensation levels and years of service, including service for certain employees previously employed by 
NYPP member companies. Employees become vested in pension benefits after five years of credited service. Effective 
January 1, 2008, the vesting period was reduced from five years to three years of credited service to conform to require-
ments of the Pension Protection Act of 2006. NYISO expects to contribute $1.3 million to the qualified pension plan 
in 2010. In 2008, NYISO adopted changes to its pension plan to end the accrual of future benefits for most employees, 
effective December 1, 2009. Certain grandfathered employees will continue to accrue benefits until attaining age 55. 
NYISO plans to replace the defined benefit accruals with equivalent contributions to employee 401(k) plan accounts 
after December 1, 2009. As a result of the amendment to stop most accruals for future benefits, NYISO recorded a 
curtailment gain of $1,368,980 in 2008.

NYISO sponsors a defined benefit postretirement plan to provide medical and life insurance benefits for eligible retirees 
and their dependents. Substantially all employees who retire from NYISO become eligible for these benefits provided 
they have been credited with at least five years of NYISO service (10 years of NYISO service for those employees hired 
on or following January 1, 2005). The benefits are contributory based upon years of service, with NYISO paying up 
to 50% of costs for retired employees and up to 25% for their dependents (subject to specified dollar limits). Medical 
coverage becomes secondary upon Medicare eligibility and life insurance coverage is reduced upon reaching age 65.

The schedules that follow show the benefit obligations, the plan assets, and the funded status as of December 31, 2009 
and 2008, and the change in benefit obligations for NYlSO’s qualified pension and postretirement plans for the years 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

Pension plan Postretirement plan
2009 2008 2009 2008

Change in benefit obligation:
      Benefit obligation – beginning of year $ 23,144,321   20,985,149   5,809,707   4,688,623   

Service cost 1,953,821   1,894,157   485,532   408,135   
Interest cost 1,301,037   1,257,442   321,037   281,201   
Actuarial (gain) loss 882,665   1,490,415   (412,275)  482,540   
Participant contributions —    —    110,966   96,333   
Curtailment —    (1,368,980)  —    —    
Benefits paid (1,203,116)  (1,113,862)  (180,269)  (147,125)  
Benefit obligation – end of year  26,078,728  23,144,321  6,134,698 5,809,707 

            
               Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets
– beginning of year 16,637,656 16,637,656 — —

Actual return on plan assets 3,652,088 (3,621,163) — — 
Employer contributions 3,035,294   4,500,000   69,303   50,792   
Participant contributions —    —    110,966   96,333   
Benefits paid (1,203,116)  (1,113,862)  (180,269)  (147,125)  
Expenses paid (127,770)  (109,790)  —    —    
Fair value of plan assets – end of year  21,994,152  16,637,656  —  —   

Funded status $ (4,084,576)  (6,506,665)  (6,134,698)  (5,809,707)  
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Amounts recognized in the 2009 and 2008 statements of financial position consist of:

Pension plan Postretirement plan

2009 2008 2009 2008

    Benefit obligation $ (4,084,576)  (6,506,665)  (6,134,698)  (5,809,707)  

    Regulatory asset or (liability) 8,127,363   9,527,335   (25,489)  366,920   

    Projected benefit obligation $ (26,078,728)  (23,144,321)  (6,134,698)  (5,809,707)  

    Fair value of assets 21,994,152   16,637,656   —    —    

Unfunded projected
benefit obligation $ (4,084,576)  (6,506,665)  (6,134,698)  (5,809,707)  

The unfunded projected benefit obligation for the postretirement plan at December 31, 2009 and 2008 is recorded 
as $234,170 and $193,138, respectively, in other current liabilities and $5,900,528 and $5,616,569, respectively, in 
accrued postretirement liability.

Amounts recognized in the statements of activities consist of:

Pension plan Postretirement plan

2009 2008 2009 2008

               The components of net periodic pensions
           and postretirement cost are as follows:

         Service cost $ 1,953,821  1,894,157  485,532   408,135   

         Interest cost 1,301,037  1,257,442  321,037   281,201   

         Recognized loss due to curtailments — 1,125,270 — —

         Expected return on plan assets (1,594,489) (1,347,956) — —

    Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost 51,424 157,007     —   —  

         Amortization of unrecognized loss 301,384   162,146   (19,866)  (34,488)  

            Total $ 2,013,177   3,248,066   786,703   654,848   

NYISO uses a December 31 measurement date for its pension and postretirement benefit plans. NYISO’s accumulated 
benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan is $25,110,241 and $21,933,275 at December 31, 2009 and 
2008, respectively.
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The following table as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, shows the assumptions used to calculate the pension and 
postretirement benefit obligations and net periodic costs:

Pension plan Postretirement plan

2009 2008 2009 2008

Benefit obligations:

Discount rate                  5.70%                  5.75%                  5.95%                 5.75% 

Rate of compensation increases                  4.00                        4.00                   4.00                  4.00  

Net cost or credit:

Discount rate                  5.75%                  6.29%                  5.75%                 6.00% 

Rate of compensation increases                  4.00                   4.00                   4.00                  4.00  

Expected return on plan assets                  7.75                   7.75                   N/A                  N/A

NYISO’s expected rate of return on plan assets reflects anticipated returns on the qualified pension plan’s current and 
future assets. To determine this rate, NYISO considers historical returns for equity and debt securities, as well as current 
capital market conditions and projected future conditions. NYISO selected an assumed rate of 7.75%, which is lower 
than the rate otherwise determined solely on historical returns.

The targeted allocation and actual investment mix of the pension plan’s assets are as follows:

Target December 31

                       Category allocation 2009 2008

                      Fixed income     40%    39% 46% 

                      International and emerging equities 22  22  19  

                      Large cap equities 22  23  19  

                      Mid cap equities 10  10  8  

                      Small cap equities 6  6  5  

                      Cash equivalents —  —  3  

                                                   Total 100% 100% 100% 

The actual rate of return for the pension plan’s assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 were:

Annual Returns

December 31

                       Category 2009 2008
                      Fixed income 9.4% 0.9% 
                      International and emerging equities 19.7  (34.9) 
                      Large cap equities 26.1  (37.3) 
                      Mid cap equities 39.3  (33.4) 
                      Small cap equities 40.7  (36.9) 
                      Cash equivalents 0.1  1.8  

               Total portfolio 21.3% (21.2)%
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The table below shows the level of input used to determine the fair value of assets:

Fair value measurements at December 31, 2009
Category Fair value Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
Fixed income $ 8,612,178   —    8,612,178   —    
International and emerging equities 4,825,000 — 4,825,000 —
Large cap equities 4,996,545   —    4,996,545   —    
Mid cap equities 2,229,008   —    2,229,008   —    
Small cap equities 1,354,450   —    1,354,450   —    
Cash equivalents (23,029)  —    (23,029)  —    

Total $ 21,994,152   —    21,994,152   —    

Pursuant to resolutions adopted by NYISO’s Board of Directors, NYISO’s Retirement Board has been granted the 
authority to control and manage the operation and administration of NYISO’s qualified pension plan, including respon-
sibility for the investment of plan assets and the ability to appoint investment managers. The Retirement Board currently 
consists of NYISO’s Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Enterprise Services, General Counsel, and Controller. 
The Retirement Board provides reports to the Commerce and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors on 
at least an annual basis.

The long-term investment objective for NYISO’s qualified pension plan is to maximize the total return on plan assets 
while limiting risk, reflected in volatility of returns, to prudent levels. To that end, NYISO’s Retirement Board has 
appointed and regularly meets with an investment advisor to review asset performance, compliance with target asset 
allocation guidelines, and appropriate levels of asset diversification. NYISO’s investment advisor operates under written 
guidelines provided by NYISO, which cover such areas as investment objectives, performance measurement, permissible 
investments, investment restrictions, and communication and reporting requirements.

The assumed health care cost trend rates for the postretirement plan are 9% for 2009 decreasing to 4.75% in 2019, and 
9% for 2008 decreasing to 4.75% in 2018. A onepercentage point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate 
would change the 2009 postretirement benefit obligation as follows:

1% increase 1% decrease

          Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 376,800   (343,800)  
          Effect on total of service and interest cost components 68,800 (63,500)  

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, are expected to be paid:

Pension plan Postretirement plan

2010 $ 1,675,388   241,036   
2011 1,924,947   317,368   
2012 1,938,109   345,249   
2013 1,992,146   381,432   
2014 2,127,457   435,483   
2015 – 2019 10,834,104   2,909,137   

401(k)Plan(b) 

NYISO has a 401(k) Retirement and Savings Plan open to all nontemporary employees. This plan provides for employee 
contributions up to specified limits. NYISO matches 100% of the first 3% of employee contributions, and 50% of the 
next 2% of employee contributions. Beginning December 1, 2009, NYISO also contributes funds to employee 401(k) 
plan accounts equivalent to defined benefit accruals formerly earned in the qualified pension plan.
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Employees are immediately vested in NYISO’s matching contributions and become vested in other employer contri-
butions after three years of credited service. The total NYISO contributions to the 401(k) plan were $1,993,192 and 
$1,424,834 for 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Long-Term Incentive Plan(c) 

NYISO’s Long-Term Incentive Plan provides certain members of senior management with deferred compensation ben-
efits. Benefits are based upon the achievement of three-year performance goals established by the Board of Directors, 
with participants becoming fully vested and distributions payable for these deferred amounts after the completion of the 
audited financial statements for the third year. Accrued LongTerm Incentive Plan benefits included in other noncurrent 
liabilities at December 31, 2009 and 2008, were $0 and $1,585,340, respectively. The shortterm portion of such liabil-
ity, included in other current liabilities, at December 31, 2009 and 2008, was $2,484,980 and $0, respectively.

Lease and Other Commitments(9) 

Operating Leases

During 2008, NYISO entered into obligations under two operating lease agreements for the use of computer hardware. 
Expenses related to these leases totaled $2,991,277 and $1,066,500 in 2009 and 2008, respectively. The remaining obligations 
of the NYISO with respect to these leases are as follows:

2010 $ 3,194,640   
2011 2,928,420   

                                                        Total $ 6,123,060   

Other Commitments

On July 8, 2005, NYISO purchased an office building to relocate NYISO’s alternate control center and to consolidate employ-
ees located in leased facilities. In connection with the purchase, management entered into a Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) 
Agreement with the Rensselaer County Industrial Development Agency (RCIDA) to achieve certain benefits. Per the terms of 
this agreement, NYISO will be required to make annual payments of approximately $175,000 for the first 10 years. The agree-
ment is cancelable at the discretion of NYISO.

Working Capital Reserve(10) 

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the working capital reserve consisted of:

2009 2008

            Market participant contributions through Rate Schedule 1 $ 46,440,347   46,440,345   

            Interest on market participant contributions 103,297   2,500,848   

Total $ 46,543,644   48,941,193   

Deferred Revenue(11) 

Deferred revenue at December 31, 2009 and 2008, consisted of the following:

2009 2008
           Advance payments received on interconnection studies $ 2,859,981   4,163,169   
           Governance participation fees 383,700   393,600   

Total $ 3,243,681   4,556,769   
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Regulatory Liabilities(12) 

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, NYISO recorded the following amounts as regulatory liabilities:

2009 2008
          Funding for deferred charges $ 3,880,116   2,857,999   
          Rate Schedule 1 underspending 1,074,704   1,505,215   
          Deferred postretirement plan liability 25,489   —    
          Rate Schedule 1 transactional volume overcollections —    6,461,676   
          Voltage support service (reactive power) market —    2,314,198   

Total 4,980,309   13,139,088   
          Less current portion (1,074,704)  (10,281,089)  

Long-term portion $ 3,905,605   2,857,999   

NYISO recovers its operating expenses through a surcharge assessed to market participants via Rate Schedule 1 of the OATT 
and Services Tariff. To the extent that transactional volumes billed under Rate Schedule 1 exceed the amount expected when 
the Rate Schedule 1 surcharge is established, NYISO reflects a regulatory liability for the overcollection amounts. Additionally, 
to the extent that NYlSO’s spending does not exceed the annual Rate Schedule 1 revenue requirement, a regulatory liability is 
also established for the underspending amounts.

ASC Topic 715 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit or postretirement 
plan (other than a multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in 
the funded status in the year in which the changes occur. For NYISO, this recognition creates a deferred noncurrent regulatory 
asset or liability for accumulated actuarial losses or gains to be recognized in future periods. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008 
the amounts were $(25,489) and $366,920, respectively.

Commitments and Contingencies(13) 

NYISO is routinely involved in regulatory actions. In the opinion of management, none of these matters will have a material 
adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations, or liquidity of NYISO.

New York State Electric and Gas (NYSEG) filed a civil suit against the NYISO in September of 2000, seeking recovery of 
$6.6 million in compensatory damages and unspecified punitive damages, associated with allegedly excessive payments for 
reserves of electricity during the period January to March 2000. The case, filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern 
District of New York, was stayed pending the outcome of related proceedings at the FERC and the D.C. Circuit Court of 
Appeals. In those proceedings, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals rendered a decision on December 18, 2007 affirming FERC’s 
determination to deny refunds, and no further related appellate or regulatory proceedings are anticipated. On February 23, 
2010, NYISO and NYSEG executed and filed a stipulation dismissing the civil suit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern 
District of New York.

NYISO is defending a civil suit that is pending in New York State Supreme Court, Albany County. The suit, which named 
the NYISO and two individuals as defendants, was filed by a former employee, seeking reinstatement, as well as compensatory 
and punitive damages totaling $5 million, as relief for certain events alleged to have occurred during this individual’s NYISO 
employment. On September 24, 2007, the Supreme Court granted, in part, a motion to dismiss the complaint and dismissed 
all claims asserted directly against the NYISO, leaving in place a single claim against a NYISO employee, the plaintiff ’s former 
supervisor. On December 31, 2009, the Third Department of the New York State Appellate Division reversed the Supreme 
Court’s dismissal of some of the causes of action against the NYISO and the other defendants. Discovery was completed as of 
December 18, 2009, with dispositive motions to be filed by March 2010. No trial date has been set.

On May 14, 2009, the same former employee filed a second suit against the NYISO, alleging that, after the employee left 
NYISO in 2005, the employee sought re-employment in 2006 and was being considered for a new position, but that NYISO 
refused to rehire the former employee after learning about the first lawsuit (described above). The former employee claims that 
the alleged refusal to rehire was in retaliation for asserting a claim of disability discrimination in the first lawsuit. The parties’ 
cross-motions for summary judgment are currently pending before the court.
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NYISO was also a defendant in a civil suit, pending in U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, commenced 
by 330 Fund I, L.P. In the suit, the plaintiff alleged that NYISO had failed to timely post certain information regarding 
transmission system changes and outages on NYISO’s Open Access Same-Time Information System, in violation of NYISO’s 
OATT, which allegedly resulted in plaintiff incurring unspecified losses in connection with several transmission congestion 
contracts. By mutual agreement of the parties, the suit was dismissed, with prejudice, on April 22, 2009.

Subsequent Events(14) 

NYISO considers events and transactions that occur after the balance sheet date, but before the financial statements are issued, 
to provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters that require additional disclosure. These 
financial statements were issued on March 17, 2010 and subsequent events have been evaluated through that date.
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The New York Independent System Operator 
(NYISO) is a not-for-profi t corporation responsible 
for operating the state’s bulk electricity grid, 
administering New York’s competitive wholesale 
electricity markets, conducting comprehensive 
long-term planning for the state’s electric 
power system, and advancing the technological 
infrastructure of the electric system serving the 
Empire State.

The NYISO is governed by an independent 
Board of Directors and a committee structure 
comprised of a diverse array of stakeholder 
representatives. It is subject to the oversight 
of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
(FERC) and regulated in certain aspects by the 
New York State Public Service Commission 
(NYSPSC). NYISO operations are also overseen 
by electric system reliability regulators, 
including the North American Electric Reliability 
Corporation (NERC), Northeast Power 
Coordinating Council (NPCC), and the New York 
State Reliability Council (NYSRC).

The members of the NYISO’s 10-member Board 
of Directors have backgrounds in electricity 
systems, fi nance, academia, information 
technology, communications, and public 
service. The members of the Board, as well 
as all employees, have no business, fi nancial, 
operating, or other direct relationship to any 
market participant or stakeholder. The NYISO 
does not own power plants or transmission lines.

The NYISO’s independence means that its 
actions and decisions are not based on profi t 
motives, but on how best to enhance the 
reliability and effi ciency of the power system, and 
safeguard the transparency and fairness of the 
markets.

The mission of the NYISO, in collaboration with 
its stakeholders, is to serve the public interest 
by:

Maintaining and enhancing regional  
reliability
Promoting and operating a fair and  
competitive electric wholesale market
Planning for the power system of the  
future
Providing objective and independent  
technical information on energy issues

The NYISO manages the effi cient fl ow of power 
on nearly 11,000 miles of electric transmission 
lines on a minute-to-minute basis, 24 hours-a-
day, seven days-a-week. As the administrator of 
the competitive wholesale markets, the NYISO 
conducts auctions that match the retail electric 
service companies looking to purchase power 
and the suppliers offering to sell it.

In addition to these functions, the NYISO has an 
expanding and increasingly important planning 
function to assess New York’s electricity needs 
and evaluate the ability of planned new power 
facilities and other options to meet those needs. 
This planning process involves stakeholders, 
regulators, public offi cials, consumer 
representatives, and energy experts who provide 
vital information and input from a variety of 
viewpoints.

The New York Independent System Operator
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10 Krey Boulevard, Rensselaer, NY 12144

NEW YORK INDEPENDENT SYSTEM OPERATOR

The New York Independent System Operator (NYISO) is a not-for-profit corporation 
responsible for operating the state’s bulk electricity grid, administering New York’s 
competitive wholesale electricity markets, conducting comprehensive long-term 
planning for the state’s electric power system, and advancing the technological 
infrastructure of the electric system serving the Empire State.
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12-12-79 (3/99)-9c  SEQR 
 

State Environmental Quality Review 
NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

Notice of Determination of Non-Significance 
 
Project Number   Date: 
 

March 10, 2010 

This notice is issued pursuant to Part 617 of the implementing regulations pertaining to Article 8 (State 
Environmental Quality Review Act) of the Environmental Conservation Law. 
 
The East Greenbush Town Board 

 

as lead agency has determined that the proposed action described below 
will not have a significant environmental impact and a Draft Impact Statement will not be prepared. 

Name of Action: 
 

New York Independent System Operator Facility Expansion (the Project) 
 
SEQR Status: Type I    
 Unlisted  
 
Conditioned Negative Declaration:  Yes 
  No 
 
Description of Action: 
 

The “action” triggering this SEQRA review is the Town Board’s consideration of the proposed expansion of 
the New York Independent System Operator’s (“NYISO’s”) office building located at 10 Krey Boulevard in 
the Towns of North Greenbush and East Greenbush, Rensselaer County, New York (hereinafter, “the 
Greenbush facility”).  NYISO’s Greenbush facility currently contains a four-story, 134,000 square foot office 
building, 594 parking spaces and circulation roadways and walkways on a 25.85 acre parcel of land.  The 
existing parking field includes twenty-five foot high pole lights.  Other security and perimeter lighting also 
exists throughout the site. Approximately 18.5 acres of the site are characterized by forest, meadow and 
lawn area, including an existing stormwater detention pond located to the north east of the existing office 
building.  The facility also contains security fencing, a security booth and entrance/exit gates.  (See Exhibit  
“A,” drawing X1.1) 

 
NYISO is proposing to construct a two-story, 64,600 square foot addition at the southeast corner of its 
existing office building.  The addition will house the new power control center for New York State from 
which NYISO will operate the bulk power grid and electricity markets for the State.  The expansion will be 
built in an existing parking lot and result in the conversion of approximately 1.4 acres of lawn area into 
impervious surfaces.  NYISO is also proposing to expand the existing parking field by only sixteen (16) 
spaces. The exit drive onto Krey Boulevard will also be re-oriented as part of the expansion.  (See Exhibit 
“A,” drawings x1.1A, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, 1.6, 1.7, 3.1 and 3.2)  
 
In addition to expansion of NYISO’s Greenbush facility, NYISO is undertaking improvements to its facility 
located at 3890 Carman Road in the Town of Guilderland, Albany County, New York (the “Guilderland 
Facility”). While the improvements at the Guilderland facility are not subject to the Town Board’s 
jurisdiction, the improvements at that facility are described below for purposes of describing the “whole 
action” subject to SEQRA review: 

 
• NYISO’s Guilderland facility contains approximately 11.28 acres of land area which is partially occupied 

by a three (3) story, 48,950 square foot office building, a 4,700 square foot modular office building, 178 
parking spaces and access and circulation roadways; 

 



• Approximately 7.58 acres of the site are characterized by forest, meadow and lawn area; 
 
• The expansion of the Guilderland facility will entail the construction of a one-story, 13,000 square foot 

addition on the south and west sides of the existing office building to house electrical and mechanical 
equipment.  The rear access drive and loading area will be reconfigured.  Two older emergency back-
up generators on the site will be replaced with two new generators. 

 
• Approximately 120 employees and their related visitors would be relocated from NYISO’s Guilderland 

facility to its Greenbush facility. 
 

(See Exhibit “B’” Guilderland Site Plan)  
 
As explained in more detail below, in accordance with 6 NYCRR Part 617.3(g), the SEQRA review of the 
Guilderland facility expansion has been permissively segmented from the Town Board’s review of the 
Greenbush facility expansion.  The Town of Guilderland Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBA”) is acting as the 
SEQRA lead agency and conducting the SEQRA review for the Guilderland expansion.  The segmented 
review is discussed in more detail below. 

 
Location: (Include street address and the name of the municipality/county. A location map of appropriate scale 
is also recommended.) 
 

The Greenbush facility is located at 10 Krey Boulevard, Rensselaer, New York, southeast of the 
intersection between U.S. Route 90 and NYS Route 43.  The site is bisected by the Towns of North 
Greenbush and East Greenbush.  The portion of the site in North Greenbush is located in the Town’s IG-
Industrial Zoning District.  The portion of the site in East Greenbush is located in the Town’s OC-
Corporation Office/Regional Commercial Zoning District. The existing office building is located entirely in 
the Town of North Greenbush. The expansion will be located partially in the Town of North Greenbush and 
partially in the Town of East Greenbush.  (See Exhibit “C,” Google Earth Aerial Photograph) 

 
The Guilderland project is located at 3890 Carman Road in the Town of Guilderland’s Local Business (LB) 
Zoning District.   
 

 
Procedural History: 
 

• November 25, 2009:  A site plan review application submitted to the Town of East Greenbush.  
(See Exhibit “D,” Site Plan Application Form only).   
 

• December 2, 2010:  The Town of East Greenbush Planning Board approved a sketch plan for the 
proposed building expansion and recommended that the Town Board act as the SEQRA lead 
agency for the project. 

 
• December 9, 2009:  The Town Board determined that NYISO’s Guilderland and Greenbush facility 

expansion projects constituted a Type 1 SEQRA action and undertook efforts to permissively 
segment the SEQRA review of each project. 
 

• December 21, 2009:  The Town Board circulated notice of its intent to act as SEQRA lead agency 
for review of the Greenbush facility expansion.  The notice was sent to all involved and interested 
agencies.  (See Exhibit “E,” East Greenbush Lead Agency Circulation Notice).  

 
• January 20, 2010:  The Town Board became the SEQRA lead agency for purposes of reviewing the 

Greenbush facility expansion. 
 
• March 3, 2010: the Town of East Greenbush Planning Board recommended that a SEQRA 

Negative Declaration be adopted by the Town Board for the Greenbush facility expansion. 



 
• March __, 2010:  the Town Board completed Parts 2 and 3 of the full Environmental Assessment 

Form for the project.  (See Exhibit “F,” full EAF). 
 
Other Agency Actions: 
 
A variety of state and local agencies, and the Town Designated Engineer have already provided 
recommendations relating to the potential environmental impacts from the project.  In particular, the Town of 
East Greenbush Town Board considered the following as part of its SEQRA review of this action: 
 

(1) NYS Department of Transportation comments on the project.  (See Exhibit “G”). 
(2) NYS Department of Environmental Conservation comments on the project.  (See Exhibit “H”). 
(3) Town of North Greenbush comments on the project. 
(4) Public Service Commission comments on the project.  (See Exhibit “I”). 
(5) CDTA comments on the project.  (See Exhibit “J”). 
(6) Chazen Companies comments on the project, and responses from NYISO’s consultant Woodward, 

Connor, Gillies & Seleman Architects.  (See Exhibits “K” and “L”).   
 
Reasons Supporting This Determination: 
(See 617.7(a)-(c) for requirements of this determination; see 617.7(d) for Conditioned Negative Declaration) 
 

After considering the criteria for the determining significance as set forth in 6 NYCRRR 617.7(e), the Town 
Board has determined, for the reasons discussed below, that the proposed Project will not have a 
significant adverse impact on the environment and the issuance of a negative declaration under SEQRA is 
warranted. 
 

 
Segmentation 

Under the circumstances noted below, a segmented review of the Greenbush facility expansion and the 
Guilderland facility expansion is appropriate and will be no less protective of the environment than if the 
facility expansion projects were reviewed together.  Although both facilities are owned by NYISO, will be 
expanded concurrently and are being expanded and renovated as part of a general restructuring plan by 
NYISO, the facilities are isolated from one another and, as a result, physical environmental impacts which 
may result from the projects will be local in nature and not common or cumulative in any way.  In fact, the 
facilities are located in separate towns and counties, approximately fifteen (15) miles apart from one 
another.  More specifically: 

 
• Traffic:  The facilities do not share a common roadway network.  In fact, major highway networks 

and interchanges separate the facilities.  The Greenbush Facility is located in immediate proximity 
of U.S. Route 90 and NYS Route 43.  The Guilderland facility is located in immediate proximity of 
NYS Routes 20 and 146.   
 

• Surface water, wetlands, stormwater and water quality:  The facilities are not located in a common, 
local watershed – in fact, they are separated geographically by the Hudson River.  The Guilderland 
facility is located in the Watervliet watershed.  The Greenbush facility is not. No surface water or 
wetlands will be impacted and stormwater will be managed on each of the respective sites. 

 
• Public services:  The facilities do not share any public services.  They are located in separate water, 

sewer, fire protection, ambulance service, police dispatch and school districts.  There is also no 
commonality in the public service demands from the  NYISO facilities.       

 
• Miscellaneous physical environmental impacts:  The expansion of the facilities will not result in any 

major off-site environmental impacts.  No major air emissions or other offsite physical 
environmental impacts will result such that there would be any cumulative environmental impacts 
resulting from the projects. 



 
For all of these reasons, a segmented review of the projects will be no less protective of the environment 
than a review of the whole action by the Town Board.  Moreover, concurrent with the issuance of this 
SEQRA negative declaration, the Guilderland ZBA is acting as the SEQRA lead agency for purposes of 
reviewing the Guilderland facility expansion.  The Guilderland ZBA is better suited to address local 
environmental impacts which may be attributable to the Guilderland facility than the Town Board because 
the Town Board has no jurisdiction over the Guilderland facility.  The same is true regarding the lack of 
jurisdiction by the Guilderland ZBA over the Greenbush facility. 

 

 
Construction Impacts 

The construction of the Project is not expected to result in any significant adverse environmental impacts. 
Several short term and minor impacts are expected during construction. For example, the use of 
construction vehicles and equipment may increase air emissions and noise temporarily on site. These 
temporary emissions are not expected to adversely affect air quality in the area and the efficient use and 
proper maintenance of both vehicles and equipment will mitigate these impacts. Additionally, common 
construction practices (i.e. water suppressants, blanket screening, limiting activities to non-windy days, 
etc.) will be used as necessary to minimize additional impacts, if any.  
 
Waste generated during construction will not result in any significant adverse environmental impacts. All 
construction waste will be collected and removed on a regular basis. Construction waste will be delivered 
off-site to a proper disposal facility. The efficient management of construction materials will be employed 
on-site to discourage waste and reduce construction costs. 
 
A site specific stormwater pollution prevention plan will be developed and implemented to control 
construction phase water run off and control sediment and erosion from disturbed areas. 

 

 
Agricultural Resources 

The Greenbush Facility expansion will not have any significant adverse impact on agricultural resources.  
The project site is located in Industrial and Commercial zoning districts in the Towns of North Greenbush 
and East Greenbush. The site is not located in close proximity to an agricultural district or farming 
operation.  No agricultural land exists adjacent or substantially contiguous to the site.   

 

 
Aesthetics 

The Greenbush facility expansion is screened mostly from the north and east by existing vegetation and 
topography.  (See Exhibit “A,” drawing 1.1).  However, the expansion will be visible from the south and the 
west, but is generally consistent with the existing office building and other surrounding office, medical, 
distribution and commercial land uses.  (See Exhibits “A,” drawing X1.1A, and “C,” Google Earth Aerial 
Photograph).  The expansion will occur on a corner of the building and will expand the square footage of 
the existing facility by about forty-seven percent (47%).  Architecturally, the expansion will be designed to 
match or be similar to the existing office building.  The new addition will be built in an existing parking lot  A 
small number of trees will be removed to realign an existing access road on the north side of the building.  
The new addition will not exceed the height limitation imposed under the Town’s Zoning Law or any other 
provision of the Town’s Zoning Law which pertains to aesthetics.  The project will reuse the existing light 
poles on the site which the building inspector has confirmed are legal non-conforming structures under the 
Town’s Zoning Code.  (See Exhibit “M,” Determination Letter from Building Inspector).  The applicant has 
submitted a photometric plan demonstrating that these existing light poles will not create any adverse 
lighting impacts on neighboring commercial properties.  (See Exhibit “A,” drawing X1.3).  To further avoid 
any potentially adverse aesthetic impacts, a substantial portion of the forest and lawn area on the site will 
remain as green space and will not be disturbed.  (See Exhibit “A,” drawing X1.4).  The facility will not 
impact any scenic view sheds or vistas. Based on the forgoing, the Greenbush facility expansion will not 
have any significant adverse visual or aesthetic impacts. 

 
Noise 



 
The construction and operation of the Greenbush facility expansion will not result in any significant adverse 
noise impacts. Ambient noise levels in the area of the facility are predominantly characterized by vehicles 
traveling along NYS Route 43 and U.S Interstate 90 and its Exit 8 On/Off Ramp (which are both located 
adjacent to the site) as well as noise generated by other surrounding industrial and commercial land uses.  
The proposed office expansion will not change these noise levels in any material way.  While construction 
of the expansion may result in noise levels exceeding background conditions, any such impacts will be 
temporary in duration and generally limited to day-time hours Monday through Saturday.  Once the 
expansion is fully constructed, noise will generally be limited to cars (and occasional trucks) entering and 
exiting the facility during normal business hours.  These impacts will be consistent with the ordinary 
operations of the commercial park and are not expected to be significant or adverse in any way.  
 
Additionally, while an emergency back-up generator will be added to the site, the generator will be located 
alongside two previously existing generators.  The generator will be used only in emergency situations 
when main power to the facility is interrupted.   In addition, the generator will be “exercised” only once 
month for about a half-hour.  The use of the generator will be for short periods and any noise impacts will 
be temporary in nature.   Moreover, the generators are oriented in proximity of the I-90 off-ramp and a bus 
garage.  No residential or other sensitive receptors are located in proximity of the site.  Based on the 
foregoing, no significant noise impacts are anticipated for the addition of a new generator to the site.   
 
For the reasons set forth above, the Greenbush facility expansion will not result in any significant adverse 
noise impacts. 

 

 
Stormwater 

A detailed Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (“SWPPP”) and storm water control practices have been 
engineered for the site as required by the NYSDEC’s storm water regulations.  (See Exhibit “N,” 
Preliminary Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (“SWPPP”) and drawings X2.1, 2.2 and 2.3).  Erosion 
and sedimentation control measures will be employed during construction of the expansion to avoid 
potentially adverse impacts from storm water runoff. They include, among other things,  vegetative 
stabilization of disturbed areas, limits of clearing and grading, use of sedimentation fencing and hay-bales, 
and protection of stockpiled materials.  Existing storm water management facilities will be improved and 
stormwater will be directed to these facilities.  Also, as required by the Town’s Zoning Law, NYISO will 
enter into a storm water maintenance agreement and easement with the Town to ensure that the storm 
water control measures are maintained properly.   
 
The Town’s Engineer reviewed the SWPPP and provided technical comments to the Town in a letter dated 
February 1, 2010.  (See Exhibit “K,” Chazen Companies Letter).  The applicant modified the SWPPP to 
address those comments.  (See Exhibits “L,” Woodward, Connor, Gillies & Seleman Architects Responsive 
Letter, and “N”).  
 
Because potential adverse impacts from storm water runoff will be avoided through the proper design and 
implementation of a SWPPP and storm water control measures, no significant adverse impacts are 
expected. 

 

 
Wetlands, Streams and Other Water Bodies 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not result in any significant adverse impacts to federal or State 
wetlands, streams or other bodies of water because no such resources exist within the area to be disturbed 
by the project.  
  
This conclusion was confirmed by a qualified wetlands biologist.  (See Exhibit “O,” Letter from North 
Country Ecological Services (“NCES”) dated August 10, 2009).  The site is not located within a floodplain.  
Additionally, stormwater will be directed to the existing stormwater management facilities on the site and 
not directly to any streams, wetlands or other bodies of water.  
 



For the reasons set forth above, the Greenbush facility expansion will not create any significant adverse 
impact to wetlands, streams or other water bodies. 

 

 
Archeological and Historic Resources 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not result in any significant adverse impacts to cultural resources. 
Regarding archeological resources, the previous FEIS adopted in support of the Greenbush Commerce 
Park determined that no historical or archeological resources were located on the site or nearby.  (See 
Exhibit “P,” Greenbush Commerce Park Final Environmental Impact Statement).  Moreover, while the site 
is located in an archeologically sensitive area as designated by the State Historic Preservation Office 
(“SHPO”) of the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation (“OPRHP”), the new 
addition will be built in an existing parking lot which was extensively disturbed by the office building’s 
original construction.  Given this prior site disturbance, NYSDEC determined that no further study of the 
site was warranted for potential impacts to cultural resources. (See Exhibit “Q,” Letter from NYSDEC 
Region IV Staff dated May 9, 2005).  As a result, no impacts to archeological resources are expected from 
the project.    
 
Regarding historic resources, the expansion is not located immediately adjacent to or in close proximity to 
any historic sites listed on the State or National Registers of Historic Places.  The project is located in an 
active commercial park surrounded by other commercial buildings and interstate highways.  The expansion 
is also not expected to have any adverse visual impacts on important aesthetic resources.  The Town 
Board coordinated with SHPO as part of the SEQRA process and no concerns were raised with respect to 
the project.  (See Exhibit “E,” East Greenbush SEQRA Lead Agency Circulation Notice).  
 
Based on the foregoing, the Greenbush facility expansion will not have any significant adverse impacts on 
archeological or historical resources. 

 

 
Traffic 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not create any significant adverse traffic impacts. The project’s 
potential traffic impacts were evaluated by a qualified traffic engineer who concluded that employee and 
visitor trips to the facility will increase modestly – adding 39 additional vehicle drips during the AM peak 
hour and 35 additional vehicle trips during the PM peak hour to Krey Boulevard.  This equates to the 
addition of less than one vehicle trip every minute during the peak periods.  This minor increase will not 
create any significant traffic impacts on the roadway network around the site.  (See Exhibits “G,” NYSDOT 
Comments, and “R,” Trip Generation Estimates by Creighton Manning Engineering, LLP dated January 11, 
2010).  Furthermore, adequate site and stopping distances exist along Krey Boulevard as measured from 
the existing and proposed curb cut locations and based upon the existing background traffic.  Additionally, 
adequate parking on the site will ensure that “back-ups” onto Krey Boulevard do not occur.   
 
Based on the foregoing, the Greenbush facility expansion will not have any significant adverse traffic 
impacts in the area. 

 

 
Community Character 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not create any significant adverse impacts on community character.  
The facility is an allowed use in the IG and OC zoning districts, subject to site plan approval. The IG Zoning 
District in the Town of North Greenbush allows a wide range of industrial uses as well as uses allowed in 
the BG (General Business) and BN (Neighborhood Business) Zoning Districts, such as professional and 
business offices.  The OC Zoning District in the Town of East Greenbush was designed to permit and 
encourage a grouping of office and commercial uses, including corporate office centers and large scale 
campus-type developments.  As a result, the facility is and will remain consistent with planned future uses 
in both Towns’ Zoning Districts.     
 
Current land uses in proximity to the site are a mixture of industrial, warehousing and commercial uses.  
The facility expansion is consistent with these land uses and will not have an adverse impact on them.  The 



NYISO office building has existed at the site for approximately 14 years and is a part of the community 
character in Greenbush Commercial Park.  The architectural style of the proposed expansion will be the 
same or similar to the existing building and will not change its character in any material way.  Moreover, the 
facility expansion will also not increase the permanent population of the community.    
 
For the reasons set forth above, the Greenbush facility expansion will not have any significant adverse 
community character impacts. 

 

 
Wildlife 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not have any significant adverse impacts on wildlife. The site was 
evaluated by a qualified wildlife biologist and no threatened or endangered plants or animals were 
identified.  (See Exhibit “O,” NCES Letter dated August 10, 2009).  Moreover, the project entails the 
redevelopment of an existing office building site. There is little to no important wildlife habitat on or around 
the site that will be disturbed by the expansion project. The site contains an existing office building, parking 
lots, access drives and other accessory structures.  A minor amount of clearing will occur on the north side 
of the building for the realignment of an existing access road.  The facility is located in a developed 
commercial park alongside a major interstate highway (and its off/on ramp).  As mentioned, no major 
clearing is required for the project and the project will not result in on-site or off-site impacts to streams, 
wetlands or other water-bodies.  This was confirmed by NCES, a qualified ecological consultant, based 
upon a field visit.   
 
For the reasons set forth above, the Greenbush facility expansion will not have any significant adverse 
impact on wildlife. 

 

 
Public Safety 

Public safety concerns are not implicated by the Greenbush facility expansion.  The facility is a secure, 
monitored, sprinklered building with outdoor lighting during the evening hours.  In addition, the facility will 
not entail: (1) the storage of large quantities of hazardous material or flammable or explosive materials; (2) 
the burial of hazardous wastes; (3) excavation or disturbance near a site used for the disposal of solid or 
hazardous waste; or (4) a chronic low-level discharge or emission of hazardous materials.   
 
The Greenbush facility expansion is designed to help NYISO more efficiently and effectively operate the 
bulk power grid and electricity markets in New York State which will provide a valuable public benefit to the 
citizens of the State.  
 
Based on the foregoing reasons, the Greenbush facility expansion will not create any significant adverse 
impact to public safety. 

 

 
Air Quality 

Potential adverse air quality impacts are not anticipated from the Greenbush facility expansion.  
Rensselaer County is located in an “attainment” area for criteria air pollutants monitored and considered 
important by NYSDEC and the USEPA.  The expansion will not generate any large quantity of vehicle 
emissions or associated air emissions.  Use of the facility by an additional 120 employees and visitors 
traveling on the surrounding roadway networks will not have any measurable effect on local or regional air 
quality.  Additionally, the new generator at the site will be equipped with required air emission control 
technology and is designed in compliance with all applicable federal and state regulations.  The facility 
expansion will not change air quality to such a degree that it will jeopardize attainment of the National 
Ambient Air Quality Standards for this region.   
 
During construction, construction vehicles will be equipped with factory installed muffler and emission 
control devices.  Dust will be suppressed as necessary.  Construction will be short in duration. 
 



Based on the foregoing, the Greenbush facility expansion will not have any significant adverse impacts on 
air quality in the area or the region. 

 

 
Wild, Scenic and Recreational Rivers 

There are no nationally or State designated wild, scenic or recreational rivers on or adjacent to the 
Greenbush facility.  As a result, there will be no significant adverse impacts to these resources from the 
expansion project. 

 

 
Ground Water 

No significant adverse impacts to groundwater quantity or quality will occur from the Greenbush facility 
expansion.  The facility is not within an EPA designated sole source aquifer area, nor within the stream flow 
source of a sole source aquifer.  The facility is connected to the Town’s municipal water supply system, 
meaning groundwater will not be utilized or impacted.  In addition, all storm water collected from the facility 
will be captured in storm water swales and other permanent storm water management facilities where it will 
be recharged back into the groundwater or gradually released to existing drainage ways at rates that will 
not exceed pre-development levels. 
 
The facility expansion will not result in construction or operation activity with the potential to cause any 
contamination of a water supply well.  There are no septic systems associated with the facility that could 
affect groundwater.  The facility will be connected to the municipal sewer system.   
 
Based on the foregoing, the Greenbush facility expansion will not create any significant adverse impacts on 
groundwater quality or quantity. 

 

 
Loss of Soil, Vegetation and Other Natural Material 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not result in any significant adverse impacts to natural resources or 
result in any significant loss of soil, vegetation or other natural material.  The facility expansion will result in 
the loss of only about 1.4 acres of lawn area.  No construction will occur on steep slopes except for a small 
man-made berm which will be removed as part of the project.  (See Exhibit “A,” drawings A3.1 and A3.2).  
The Town’s building inspector has determined that this berm can be removed under the Town’s Zoning 
Law as part of the project. (See Exhibit “M,” Building Inspector Determination Letter).  The remainder of the 
site is relatively flat. Moreover, no construction will occur where the depth to the water table is less than 3 
feet.  Construction will not occur where bedrock is exposed or generally within 3 feet of bedrock.  No 
blasting will occur and there are no unique or unusual landforms that will be affected by the facility 
expansion.  Finally, the stormwater controls are designed to reduce the amount of runoff and related loss of 
soil experienced at the site. 
 
Based on the foregoing, the Greenbush facility expansion is not expected to have any significant adverse 
impact on soil, vegetation or natural resources. 
 

 
Solid Waste Production 

Construction and operation of the Greenbush facility expansion will result in the production of construction 
waste during the facilities expansion and office related waste during its operations.  These waste materials 
will be delivered by private carters to licensed disposal facilities.  The facility will not, however, result in a 
substantial increase in solid waste production for the region.   
 

 
Flood Plains 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not have any significant adverse impacts on flood plains in the Town. 
The facility expansion will be located well outside of any 100-year floodplain.  As noted above, all storm 
water from the facility will be collected by swales and the permanent storm water management facilities 



where it will be recharged back into the groundwater or gradually released to existing drainage ways at 
rates that will not exceed pre-development levels.  No impacts to flood plains are expected. 
 

 
Public Health 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not create any significant adverse public health impacts.  As noted 
above, air emissions from any vehicles using the facility will not adversely impact local or regional air 
quality.  Moreover, Rensselaer County is located within an air quality attainment area.  Similarly, the use of 
the facility will not create any adverse noise impacts on any neighboring commercial properties.  As a 
result, the project will not create any significant adverse impacts on public health.    
 

 
Induced Growth 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not induce growth in the Town.  No plans currently exist to develop 
the remaining lands of the Greenbush facility.  Moreover, as part of the related Guilderland facility 
renovations, no additional staff will be relocated to the Greenbush facility beyond the planned 120 
employees and visitors.  The addition of this limited number of new employees and visitors is not expected 
to induce residential or commercial growth in the area.  Furthermore, the project will use existing public 
utilities and will not create any new public infrastructure that could potentially induce future growth on or 
around the site. As a result, no growth impacts are expected from the proposed expansion. 
 

 
Demand on Services 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not create any demand for public services.  The facility is a small 
expansion which will contain a two-story addition that will house a modest number of additional staff, and 
there are no plans to develop the remaining lands of the parent parcel.  There are no plans to develop the 
rest of the site.  As a result, the project will not create a demand for public services, such as police or EMS 
or highway improvements, beyond that which the facility already demands. 
 

 
Community Plans 

The Greenbush facility expansion will not create a material conflict with the community’s current plans or 
goals as officially approved or adopted.  Both Towns’ land use plans include the facility parcel within their 
office use zones. The proposed facility is consistent with intended uses in the zones. 
 

 
Cumulative Impacts  

No significant adverse cumulative impacts are expected from this action.  The facility expansion will not 
induce growth in the Town or otherwise change the commercial / office character of the property.  The 
action is also not part of a larger plan of development beyond the limited facility expansion being proposed.  
 
As required by SEQRA, the Town Board considered reasonably related long-term, short-term, direct, 
indirect and cumulative impacts including other simultaneous or subsequent actions which are: (1) included 
in any long range plan of which the facility is a part; (2) likely to be undertaken as a result of the facility; or 
(3) dependent on the facility.  No such actions were identified. 
 
Based on the foregoing, the Greenbush facility expansion will not create any significant adverse cumulative 
impacts. 
 

 
Miscellaneous 

The site does not provide any public open space or recreational opportunities known to be significant to the 
community. The land is privately owned and secured. The site has not been identified as a future public 
recreational opportunity or as an important open space resource in the Town.  There are no public 
recreational areas nearby that would be adversely affected by the proposed facility. 
 



The Town Board received comments from the CDTA on the project.  Specifically, CDTA suggested the 
following: (1) adding pedestrian accommodations within the site; (2) install bicycle racks in close proximity 
to a building entrance; and (3) establish a sidewalk along the entire length of Krey Boulevard from the 
NYISO building to 3d Avenue Extension. To accommodate pedestrians on the site, a sidewalk will be 
installed from the guard house to the front entrance of the building.  In addition, bicycle racks currently 
existing next to the building’s entrance. These bicycle racks will remain as part of the project.  However, for 
the following reasons, the Board determines that a sidewalk along the entire length of Krey Boulevard is 
not warranted: (a) there are no sidewalks along 3d Ave Extension, so there would be no place to connect a 
new sidewalk to; (b) the project will not create heavy volumes of pedestrian traffic that would warrant a new 
sidewalk; (c) no one at the NYISO facility currently uses CDTA services that would warrant the installation 
of a new sidewalk; (d) there are no nearby services (like retail centers, public parks or recreation areas, 
etc) that would generate pedestrian traffic that would use a new sidewalk; (e) the project is located in the 
Greenbush Commercial Park which generates little to no pedestrian traffic; (f) the CDTA comments 
acknowledge that its Shuttle Bee Bus Service will actually deviate to drop off passengers at the NYISO 
entrance, so no sidewalks would be needed; and (g) NYISO does not own or control the entire right-of-way 
along Krey Boulevard and therefore could not install a sidewalk.  
 
The proposed facility is not in close proximity to a designated Critical Environmental Area (“CEA”).   
 
As evidenced above, the Greenbush facility expansion will not create changes in two or more elements of 
the environment, no one of which has a significant impact on the environment, but when considered 
cumulatively would create one or more significant adverse environmental impacts. 
 
Finally, as discussed more fully above, to the extent the facility expansion may generate traffic at 
intersections within the Western East Greenbush Generic Environmental Impact Statement (“GEIS”) study 
area, or place an additional demand on public services (sewer, water, police, fire, etc.) which are provided 
from within the study area, such traffic and demands will not be significant or otherwise result in an 
exceedance of any of the impact thresholds established in the GEIS.  More specifically, trips to and from 
the facility, water and sewer usage, and other demands on public infrastructure and services will increase 
only marginally after the expansion is complete.  The additional trips will not, however, impair levels of 
service at any nearby intersections, nor will the additional water, sewer and other public service demands 
attributable to the expansion impair the functionality of these systems in any material way, or create a 
demand which exceeds the capacity of these systems.  In fact, the total additional square footage, and 
number of staff and visitors anticipated in connection with the Greenbush facility expansion will remain 
below the hypothetical growth opportunity previously assigned to the facility by the Town and other 
governmental agencies in connection with the development of the Greenbush Commerce Park (of which 
the facility is a part).  The Greenbush Commerce Park was previously the subject of three prior SEQRA 
reviews, including the preparation of a draft and final environmental impact statement by the Rensselaer 
County Industrial Development Agency.  The environmental conditions on the site were thoroughly studied 
and evaluated as part of these prior SEQRA reviews, and available to the Town in formulating the GEIS 
study area and thresholds. 
 

 
Findings 

In addition to the foregoing the Town Board has also determined that the Project will not
 

 result in: 

1. The creation of a material conflict with the Town of East Greenbush’s current community development 
plans or goals as officially approved and adopted. The Project is consistent with the Town’s 
comprehensive Plan and the character of the area surrounding the site. 

2. The impairment of the environmental characteristics of a Critical Environmental Area as designated 
pursuant to 6 NYCRR 617.14(g). No such area exists in or adjacent to the site.  

3. A major change in use of either the quantity or type of energy. The Project will increase the existing 
energy demands of the community. However, with the extension of the appropriate service 
infrastructure, there will be adequate demand to serve the Project. 



4. The creation of a hazard to human health. The Project will promote the public health, safety and welfare 
by providing appropriate mitigation measures satisfying the requirements of the Town’s Route 4 
Generic Environmental Impact Statement and associated Statement of Findings.  

5. The creation of a material demand for other actions that would result in one of the above 
consequences. The Project will not result in a demand for other actions. 

6. Changes in two or more elements of the environment, no one of which has a significant impact on the 
environment, but when considered together result in a substantial adverse impact on the environment. 
No such changes will result from the Project. 

7. Two or more related actions undertaken, funded or approved by an agency, none of which has or would 
have a significant impact on the environment, but when considered cumulatively would meet one or 
more of the criteria in 6 NYCRR 617.7(c). No such cumulative impacts will occur. 

 
For the reasons set forth above, the proposed Project is in conformance with the Western GEIS and 
Statement of Findings, will not have any significant adverse impact on the environment and will be subject 
to the GEIS mitigation fees established in the Western GEIS Statement of Findings and the issuance of a 
negative declaration under SEQRA is warranted.  

 
If Conditioned Negative Declaration (provide on attachment the specific mitigation measures imposed, and 
identify comment period (not less than 30 days from date of publication In the ENB) 
 



For Further Information: 
 
Contact Person: James Moore, AIA, Director of Planning, Town of East Greenbush 
 
Address: 225 Columbia Turnpike, Rensselaer, New York 12144 
 
Telephone Number: 518 694-4011 
 
For Type 1 Actions and Conditioned Negative Declarations, a Copy of this Notice is sent to: 
 
Chief Executive Officer, Town
 

 / City / Village      of East Greenbush, Rick McCabe, Supervisor 

Other involved agencies (If any)  
 
East Greenbush Town Board 
ATTN: Rick McCabe, Supervisor 
(518) 477-2005 – Ext. 202 
 
Rensselaer County Health Department 
ATTN: Roy Champagne, (518) 270-2962 
 
Rensselaer County Water/ Sewer Authority 
ATTN: John Fetscher, (518) 270-2914 
cc: Phil Dixon, Whiteman Osterman Hanna 
(518) 487-7726 
 
NYS Dept. of Environmental Conservation – Region 4 
ATTN: Nancy Adams, (518) 357-2069 
 
East Greenbush Planning Board 
ATTN: Rich Benko, (518) 694-4011 
 
U.S. Army Corp of Engineers 
ATTN: Christine Delorier,  
(518) 270-0588 
 
Town of North Greenbush Planning Board 
ATTN: Chip Ashworth (518) 283-5313 
 
NYS Public Service Commission 
ATTN: Jaclyn Brilling, (518) 474-6530 
 
Town of North Greenbush Zoning Board 
ATTN: Zoning Board Chairperson 
 
Town of Guilderland 
ATTN: Donald Cropsey 
 

Rensselaer County Bureau of Planning 
ATTN: Robert Pasinella, Jr., (518) 270-2921 
 
Capital District Transportation Authority 
ATTN: Kristina Younger, (518) 482-4199 
 
Bruen Rescue Squad 
ATTN: Board of Directors, (518) 477-8243 
 
Renss. Co. Industrial Development Agency 
ATTN: Robert Pasinella, Jr., (518) 270-2921 
 
East Greenbush Police Department 
ATTN: Christopher Lavin, (518) 479-2525 
 
NYS Office of Parks, Recreation & Historic 
Preservation  
ATTN: Douglas P. Mackey. (518) 237-8643 
 
East Greenbush Traffic Safety Committee  
ATTN: Dean Kennedy (518) 477-2005 
 
NYS Dept. of Transportation – Region 1 
ATTN: Kevin Novak, (518) 388-0434 
 
National Heritage Program  
ATTN: Jean Pietrusiak (518) 402-8935 
 
City of Rensselaer  
ATTN: Marybeth Petit (518) 465-1693 
 
Capital District Transportation Committee 
ATTN: Anne Benware, (518) 458-2161 
 
Rensselaer County Bureau of Planning 
ATTN: Robert Pasinella, Jr., (518) 270-2921 
 

    
Applicant (If any)    X 
     X 

X 
 
Environmental Notice Bulletin, Room 538, 50 Wolf Road, Albany NY, 12233-1750 (Type One Actions 
only) 



 

 

Attachment VIII. 

Certificate of Incorporation 
 
 
A copy of the Certificate of Incorporation of The New York Independent System Operator, Inc., 
and all amendments thereto, was filed with the New York Public Service Commission on 
December 10, 2009 in connection with Case No. 09-E-0857. 



 

 

Attachment IX. 
 

Affidavit of Rick Gonzales,  
Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the NYISO 



 
 

NEW YORK STATE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
 
-----------------------------------------------------------X 
In the Matter of Petition of The New York  
Independent System Operator, Inc. Under   Case No.  10-E-______ 
Public Service Law Section 69 for Authority 
to Incur Indebtedness for a Term in 
Excess of Twelve Months 
------------------------------------------------------------X 
 

AFFIDAVIT 
 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 
     ) ss.: 
COUNTY OF ALBANY  ) 
 
 

Ricardo Gonzales, being duly sworn, deposes and says: 

1. I am the Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the New York Independent 

System Operator, Inc. (“NYISO”).  My responsibilities include the day-to-day reliable operation 

of the New York Control Area transmission system, in compliance with all applicable NERC, 

NPCC, and NYSRC reliability rules and standards, operation of the ISO Day-Ahead and Real-

Time Wholesale Energy Markets and validation of the Energy Markets’ prices, operation of the 

NYISO Transmission Congestion Contract and Installed Capacity Markets.  I am responsible for 

ensuring that the NYISO Power Control Center Operations staff, power control center, and 

related facilities are adequate to meet the reliability needs of the New York State Bulk Power 

System today and in the future. 

2. I have read the foregoing Petition and understand its contents.  In support of the Petition, 

I hereby attest to the following: 
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Meeting Expanded Operational and Reliability Needs 

3. Before deciding to proceed with the Project, the adequacy of the existing NYISO 

facilities was assessed not only against current operational responsibilities and reliability 

requirements, but also against future responsibilities and requirements.  The assessment 

considered the lead time necessary to develop new control center facilities or to renovate existing 

facilities before the NYISO’s responsibilities surpass its capabilities.  The following is a 

discussion of the expanded market, operational and reliability needs that formed the basis of the 

NYISO’s assessment.   

Broader Regional Markets Initiatives 

4. The NYISO, in coordination with its neighboring Independent System Operators 

(“ISOs”) and Regional Transmission Organizations (“RTOs”), intends to implement a set of 

related market enhancements, collectively called the Broader Regional Markets initiatives.  

These initiatives will improve the NYISO’s ability to address complex seams issues, market 

inefficiencies, and reliability challenges that result from unscheduled power flows around Lake 

Erie.  More generally, the initiatives will improve inter-regional ISO efficiencies through the 

availability of enhanced market operations and ISO-to-ISO coordination.  These market 

enhancements are planned to be incorporated beginning in 2013 and, therefore, any required 

facility upgrades to take full advantage of these initiatives should be in place in that year.  The 

following is a summary of some of the Broader Regional Market initiatives: 

• Buy-Through of Congestion - Cost allocation and recovery of congestion costs from 

those external parties not currently participating in the NYISO markets but responsible, 

in part, for creating transmission system congestion.  Buy-Through of Congestion would 

require that the congestion cost resulting from a party’s transaction schedule be charged 
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based on the physical flow of power, unlike the current settlement determination that is 

based only on the party’s transaction contract path.  For example, a party’s transaction 

scheduled from Ontario to MISO to PJM would be charged for any resulting congestion 

impact in New York. 

• Market to Market Coordination - Redispatch of generators within a neighboring control 

area to address transmission constraints when that dispatch is more cost effective than the 

dispatch of generators within the control area experiencing the constraints. 

• Interface Pricing Revisions - Improvement of the pricing of energy for NYISO 

transaction schedules between individual grid operators (ISOs and RTOs) to allow for 

more efficient inter-regional power transfers. 

• Interregional Transaction Coordination - Flexible transaction scheduling provisions 

between individual grid operators (ISOs and RTOs) to improve market and operational 

efficiency by allowing transaction schedules to more frequently adjust to the ever-

changing system conditions and to respond to system contingencies. 

These market enhancements are designed to reduce uplift costs associated with congestion and 

real-time event management, to improve the capability to incorporate intermittent resources, and, 

thereby, to lower total system operating costs.  The NYISO expects the Broader Regional Market 

initiatives to enhance reliability through regional dispatch and result in cost savings of up to 

$193,000,000 annually1 that will benefit consumers in the State of New York. 

 

                                                 
1   See Potomac Report, Page 12. 
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Smart Grid Technologies 

5. The NYISO is in the preliminary stages of a Department of Energy (“DOE”) funded 

project, along with the New York Transmission Owners, to deploy a network of phasor 

measurement units (“PMUs”) on the New York power grid and to integrate the data collected 

from the PMUs to provide greater situational awareness for NYISO control center operators.  

This project is scheduled to be implemented by 2013.  The NYISO intends to integrate PMU 

data with existing NYISO systems at its control centers.  The applications that PMU technology 

will support include: 

• Wide-area visualization and monitoring. 

• Phase angle and frequency monitoring. 

• Inter-area oscillation detection and analysis. 

• Proximity to voltage collapse. 

• Dynamic model validation. 

• Fast frequency regulation. 

• Potential optimization of capacitor operation for reliability and loss reduction. 

In the long-term, the NYISO’s PMU network will interoperate with PMU networks in New 

England, the Mid-Atlantic, the Midwest, and Ontario to create broader situational awareness in 

the NYISO’s control centers and in control centers throughout the Eastern Interconnection.  This 

may help to avoid major system disturbances such as the 2003 Northeast regional blackout, 
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which resulted in significant costs2. 

6. Planned enhancements to the NYISO’s control center layout, to be implemented as part 

of the Project (as described in the Petition), will provide necessary infrastructure and state-of-

the-art visual displays to receive, process, and monitor changing system conditions effectively 

throughout the Eastern Interconnection received via the PMU network, providing the NYISO 

with the enhanced capability to take actions to assist in the maintenance of reliable system 

operations.    

7. The Project’s objectives are fully consistent with the New York Public Service 

Commission’s (“NYPSC” or the “Commission”) views about the value of PMUs to prevent or 

mitigate system disturbances.  The New York State Department of Public Service Second Report 

on the August 14, 2003 Blackout identifies needed steps to avoid future outages.  The report 

states that: 

The next step is modeling changes that could be made to the transmission 
system to see if those changes could prevent or mitigate the consequences 
of similar events.  Some of the more conventional steps that are being 
examined include reviews of protective relay settings for transmission 
lines and generators, evaluations of the adequacy of underfrequency and 
undervoltage load shedding, assessments of the adequacy of transmission 
connections within New York and with our neighbors, and use of 
sophisticated measurement devices (phasor measurement) to monitor the 
status of the entire Eastern Interconnection (most of the United States 
and Canada east of the Rockies). 3 

The Commission further expressed support for a New York State PMU network in its July 27, 

                                                 
2   For the United States alone, costs estimates resulting from the 2003 blackout ranged from $4 to $10 

billion.  U.S. Canada Power System Outage Task Force, Final Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout in the United 
States and Canada:  Causes and Recommendations (April 2004). 

3   The New York State Department of Public Service Second Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout – 
October 2005, at 19 (emphasis added). 
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2009 Order preliminarily authorizing rate recovery of funds to match DOE stimulus funds for the 

thirty-nine PMUs to be installed by the Transmission Owners.4  The NYPSC stated that: 

The statewide PMU network would provide a wide area and local region 
visualization of the transmission system.  The system would be set up with 
alarms to notify operators of possible voltage violations and angular 
separation of generators in other control areas and to be able to take 
preventive measures.  In addition, the system would provide a history for 
event re-creation following an event.  Each utility is expected to retrieve 
the data and have one or more phasor data concentrators to pick up the 
data and forward the data to the NYISO.  In concert with the NYISO 
project, RPI will develop software to collect the data, screen for bad data, 
alarm for conditions that could lead to a system collapse, and enable the 
users to work with information received from other ISO control areas.  
The full scale application of PMU[s] is expected to take several years to 
accomplish and develop the analytical tools to work with it.  Because this 
project provides system-wide benefits, expands an existing program and 
provides foundational information for the development of more advanced 
operational systems, we will approve it.5 

The Project was conceived, in part, to maximize and enhance the benefits from the integration of 

the PMU data and provide NYISO with improved visualization capabilities and situational 

awareness.  Had such tools been in place throughout the Eastern Interconnection in 2003, it is 

possible that the August 14, 2003 blackout could have been prevented or at least its effects 

limited.6  The statewide PMU network is scheduled to be completed in 2013.  Development of 

the Project and the statewide PMU network in parallel will provide the best platform for 

integrating the PMUs to improve its situational awareness and better allow for actions to be 

taken to guard against future disturbances. 

                                                 
4   Case 09-E-0310, Matter of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 – Utility Filings for 

New York Economic Stimulus, Order Authorizing Recovery of Costs Associated with Stimulus Projects (issued and 
effective July 27, 2009), at 20-21.  

5   Id., Order at 21 (emphasis in original).  

6   The Task Force estimated the total cost in the United States of the August 14, 2003 blackout was 
between $4 billion and $10 billion.  See Id., Final Report at 2. 
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Intermittent Renewable Energy Resources 

8. The Project is expected to meet longer-term reliability challenges for at least the next 

twenty years.  As greater amounts of renewable resources and related technologies are brought 

online in New York7 and elsewhere, today’s technology for managing such resources and related 

storage and grid management devices may not be adequate.  Specifically, reliability concerns 

may arise from infrequent and largely unpredictable wind plant ramp events that must be 

managed.  Such wind plant ramp events may occur during sudden drops in wind speeds or when 

wind speeds approach cut-out levels that can also cause sudden large drops in wind generation 

output levels.  As greater amounts of renewable resources are integrated, NYISO may need 

improved tools to manage wind ramp events, including the ability to receive and process real-

time data regarding wind speed and direction, requiring state-of-the-art monitoring capability 

using enhanced visualization displays and further enhancements to its current wind forecasting 

capabilities.  In addition, new limited energy storage technologies are being developed, such as 

flywheel and large scale battery technologies, to compliment the variable output of renewable 

resources.   

9. Moreover, considerable research is being applied to the problems of coordinated 

management of intermittent resources and storage, which may lead to future automation in the 

control of these resources.  As the level of intermittent energy resources, such as wind and solar, 

increases, the NYISO may need additional operations staff at its control centers to reliably and 

efficiently manage these technologies.  The Project will provide the infrastructure resources the 

NYISO needs to enhance situational awareness and forecasting capabilities, as well as the 

physical space needed to accommodate additional control center staff and equipment to manage 
                                                 

7   There are currently approximately 7,000 MW of wind projects in the NYISO’s interconnection queue. 
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the increased amounts of wind and other intermittent resources. 

10. Another related area of concern is the anticipated impact to New York State’s daily load 

profile resulting from a high penetration of Plug in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (“PHEVs”).  It is 

likely that technologies to manage PHEVs’ charging demand and other demand response will be 

developed to maintain reliability.  The Project will provide situational awareness to enhance 

monitoring capabilities in order to manage PHEVs, and the physical space to add additional 

control center staffing, if and when required. 

NERC Requirements 

11. The mandatory North American Electric Reliability Corporation (“NERC”) and other 

reliability standards that apply to the NYISO will continue to evolve and place additional 

requirements on the operation of the bulk electric system and wholesale markets.  The FERC has 

directed NERC to update and revise its standards in multiple respects.  The NYISO control 

centers must contain sufficient physical space and flexibility to incorporate new control center 

technologies and additional staffing to enable the NYISO to maintain compliance with evolving 

reliability requirements.  Most significantly, on November 18, 2010, FERC directed NERC to 

expand the definition of Bulk Electric System facilities to apply to all New York State 

transmission facilities 100 kV and above, excluding radial lines and distribution facilities.8   

12. FERC has directed NERC to file the revised definition of Bulk Electric System facilities 

in one year, and allowed for a transition plan of up to 18 months.  If NERC adopts the 100 kV 

standard for the Bulk Electric System definition, then the NYISO will require at least one 

                                                 
8   Revision to Electric Reliability Organization Definition of Bulk Electric System, Final Rule, Order No. 

743 FERC Stats. & Regs. 133 FR 61150 (Nov. 18, 2010).  
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additional control center position to comply with the expanded reliability oversight 

responsibilities for the transmission facilities 100 kV and above.  Accordingly, the NYISO will 

need to be prepared to carry out additional operational, oversight and reliability coordination 

approximately 30 months from FERC’s November, 2010 order (mid-2013).  Completion of the 

Project will provide sufficient physical space to accommodate the required additional future 

operator positions to the NYISO control center if and when NERC elects to implement the new 

Bulk Electric System definition. 

Specific Facilities Requirements to Meet Expanded Responsibilities 

13. The NYISO will need to accommodate the following capabilities in its control centers to 

implement the enhanced operational and reliability responsibilities described above: 

• Enhanced situational awareness by including additional visualization technologies in its 

control centers; and 

• Accommodate additional control room operations positions to manage related monitoring 

and coordination functions. 

Enhancing Situational Awareness 

14. The NYISO’s control centers will require improvements in visualization capabilities in 

the areas of: 

• Broader Regional Markets initiatives. 

• PMU data and the results of the related applications. 

15. The NYISO will enhance operators’ situational awareness via advanced video display 
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technology and a significant dedicated area of video wall displays, which requires space and new 

technology in both of the NYISO’s control centers.  The report on the August 2003 blackout9 

pointed to a lack of situational awareness by utility operators as a key element in the events 

leading to the blackout.  While the report does not recommend or require large format video 

displays as a remedy for this problem, most of the industry’s efforts in developing advanced 

visualization tools have focused on video presentations, both small format (on the operators’ 

desks) and large format (video walls).10 

Additions to the Control Room and Operations Staff 

16. The NYISO will also need to augment control room staff to manage its expanded 

operational and reliability responsibilities.  The NYISO has identified, and planned for, the 

inclusion of the following additional control room staff responsibilities: 

• The Broader Regional Markets initiatives will add new workload to: 

ο Establish and validate transaction schedules with each of the NYISO’s four 

neighboring control areas as often as every five or fifteen minutes, rather than on 

an hourly basis as is currently done. 

ο Market-to-Market coordination requires coordinating and validating redispatch 

action for, and from, neighboring control areas to ensure efficient resource 

utilization and satisfaction of reliability criteria. 

                                                 
9   U.S. Canada Power System Outage Task Force, Final Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout in the 

United States and Canada:  Causes and Recommendations (April 2004). 

10   For examples of recent investigations, see: http://www.oe.energy.gov/our_organization/rnd.htm; 
http://www.pnl.gov/main/publications/external/technical_reports/PNNL-19103.pdf; 
http://www.wrldc.com/docs/VHPSO_FINAL.pdf 
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ο Buy-Through of Congestion requires active monitoring for, and identification of, 

parallel flow impacts on NYISO constrained facilities to minimize unrecovered 

constraint management costs. 

ο The NYISO will have to add at least one additional control room staff position to 

implement the intra-hour transaction scheduling requirement of the Broader 

Regional Market initiatives.   

• The development of Smart Grid Technologies is accelerating and the integration of these 

technologies into the grid is increasing.  Control centers must be equipped to manage 

reliability concerns identified by PMUs and other Smart Grid Technologies.  It is possible 

that, within the expected lifetime of the Project, one or more new control center positions 

for the management of Smart Grid and renewable resources will be required.   

• Depending on NERC’s response to the FERC order to expand the definition of Bulk 

Electric System facilities, the NYISO may be required to add one additional transmission 

operator position in the control room to carry out additional operational and oversight 

responsibilities with respect to lower voltage transmission systems. 

17. The NYISO control centers should also contain sufficient space to accommodate an 

adequate staffing level necessary during events where the primary facilities are compromised or 

unavailable.  The additional staff positions (as described above) will further exacerbate existing 

space limitations.  Lack of adequate space at the alternate control center during a contingency 

event presents an unacceptable risk to reliability and to business continuity.  Facility 

accommodations must provide for sufficient space for personnel at both the primary and 

alternate control center.  The Project will provide sufficient space at both locations in order to 



maintain continued and uninterrupted reliability and market operations during a contingency

event.

18. In defining the scope and design for the Project, the NYISO carefully considered its

current business requirements as well as reasonable expectations for future expansion and

growth. While the NYISO currently expects that the scope of the Project will satisfy business

requirements for the foreseeable future, certain design considerations were incorporated that

could allow reasonable expansions should unforeseen changes to the NYISO business model or

responsibilities occur in the future. Design considerations included allowances for future

additional operator positions, site design that could accommodate future incremental building

additions. and interior design that could accommodate office reconfiguration for additional

seating. It is not expected that these future expansions will he required, hut the flexibility of the

design will permit future expansion at a reasonable cost should requirements dictate.

A
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NEW YORK STATE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
 
-----------------------------------------------------------X 
In the Matter of Petition of The New York  
Independent System Operator, Inc. Under  Case No.  10-E-______ 
Public Service Law Section 69 for Authority 
to Incur Indebtedness for a Term in 
Excess of Twelve Months 
------------------------------------------------------------X 
 

AFFIDAVIT 
 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 
     ) ss.: 
COUNTY OF ALBANY  ) 
 
Richard Dewey, being duly sworn, deposes and says: 

 

1. I am the Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of the New York 

Independent System Operator, Inc. (the “NYISO”).  As such, I am responsible for all aspects of 

the technology and facilities infrastructure used by the NYISO to reliably operate the New York 

bulk power grid and administer the New York wholesale electricity markets.  My responsibilities 

in the areas of technology include technology strategy, system design and planning, technical 

infrastructure management and support, quality assurance, and cyber security oversight and 

administration.  My responsibilities in the areas of facilities include the management and 

maintenance of all NYISO buildings and grounds, site planning, and physical security oversight 

and administration. 

2. I have read the foregoing Petition and understand its contents.  In support of the Petition, 

I hereby attest to the following: 
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Deficiencies at Existing Facilities 

3. After identifying the expanded responsibilities facing the NYISO and determining what 

will be required to meet those responsibilities, the NYISO spent considerable time assessing its 

current facilities to determine their suitability to meet these changing requirements, any 

deficiencies that need to be addressed, and to what extent the facilities can be modified or 

expanded, without significant new construction.  The following is a summary of that assessment 

divided between the three key facilities:  (1) the current primary control center at the NYISO’s 

Carman Road facility (the “Carman Property”), (2) the alternate control center and additional 

facilities at the NYISO’s Krey Boulevard facility (the “Krey Property”), and (3) the data center 

at the Carman Property.   

Current Primary Control Center 

4. The facility at the Carman Property was purpose-built as a control center in 1969 by the 

predecessor of the NYISO – the New York Power Pool – which used the building for offices and 

a control center from that date.  It is the oldest of the North American ISO and RTO control 

centers. 

5. The layout and construction of the Carman Property control center presents challenges to 

the continued reliable and efficient operation of the New York State electric grid.  The 

deficiencies that should be remedied in the near future to ensure continued reliable operations in 

light of the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities can be grouped as follows: 

• Control center layout. 

• Infrastructure deficiencies. 
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• Future expansion requirements. 

Layout 

6. While the NYISO and the New York Power Pool have maintained and renovated the 

control center over its life, there are several problems with the current layout and infrastructure 

that cannot be resolved without major construction. 

7. Installation of video display walls and related improvements will require a general 

reconfiguration of the control center to maximize visibility and improve situational awareness for 

control center operators.  While the existing tile mapboard has certain advantages, most ISO 

control centers have implemented video display walls in place of or supplemental to mapboards.  

The set of data presented on a video wall and the form of presentation can be changed moment-

to-moment and the technology allows for the rapid deployment of new presentations of data.  

These capabilities will help realize the full value of the Broader Regional Markets initiatives, and 

Smart Grid technologies, and will assist with the integration of renewable resources.  Large 

format video displays also allow for improved situational awareness for all control center 

operator positions.  This will provide a significant advantage if the control center’s operator 

complement is increased, and, therefore, the distance from the furthest operator to the wall 

displays lengthens. 

Infrastructure  

8. The Carman Property control center currently supports reliable and efficient electric grid 

operations.  However, as a result of the facility’s age, there are problems that need to be 

addressed in the near future to ensure continued reliable operations including the following: 
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• The existing 600 kW emergency generators are over 30 years old and are nearing end of 

life.  Two new 1500 kW generators have been purchased as replacements.  Before the 

new generators can be installed, there will have to be a substantial reconfiguration of the 

building power distribution system.  Reconfiguration of the building power system will 

replace much of the electric switchgear that connects the emergency generators to the 

building. 

• The existing power distribution and UPS equipment are protected by manual fire 

extinguishers, and the area is not suitable for the installation of a gas-based fire 

suppression system.  An automated fire suppression system is highly desirable as fires 

have proven to be one of the most probable risks to control centers.  This could 

reasonably be accomplished during the installation of new generators and switchgear. 

• The in-ground diesel fuel tanks for the emergency generators are nearing end of life and 

will need replacement to mitigate the risk of fuel leakage. 

• The building roof is nearing end of life and must be replaced to prevent further 

deterioration and possible equipment damage due to water leaks. 

• Many of the pumps, switchgear components, and mechanical systems are original to the 

building and nearing end of life.  These systems will need to be replaced or rebuilt to 

maintain reliable operations. 

Future Expansion 

9. The existing Carman Property and Krey Property control centers meet current reliability 

needs.  However, in the near future both control centers will need to be expanded to support the 



 
 

5 

NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  Given that it is reasonable to expect that additional 

operating positions may be needed beyond those now planned, any renovation of the control 

centers should include space for additional operator positions beyond what has been identified.  

The Carman Property control center is large enough to accommodate the minimum number of 

additional operator position consoles, but will require construction to incorporate further operator 

position consoles, particularly in conjunction with the redevelopment of the existing wallboard 

with video technology.  If the NYISO were to renovate the Carman Property as the primary 

control center, construction could take 24 to 36 months.1  The NYISO would need to operate 

from the Krey Property alternate control center for some of the construction time.  As discussed 

below, the Krey Property control center is not presently suitable for long-term operation. 

Krey Property Control Center 

10. In 2005, NYISO purchased the Krey Property to consolidate the majority of its staff into 

a single location.  As part of the renovations to the building, a new data center and a new 

alternate control center were constructed within the building.  The relocation of the alternate 

control center was primarily driven by the NYISO’s need to resolve certain security risks 

regarding the location of the then-existing alternate control center that had been identified by 

several security studies by U.S. agencies and the NYISO’s internal audit staff.2 

11. The control center at the Krey Property currently provides a reliable alternate control 

center for the NYISO’s existing responsibilities, as required by NERC.  However, the layout and 

construction of the control center present potential challenges to continued reliable and efficient 

                                                 
1 KEMA Report (as defined in the Petition), page 4-4. 

2 KEMA Report, page 5-1. 
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operation of the New York State electric grid.  The deficiencies that must be remedied in the near 

future to maintain continued reliable operations in light of the NYISO’s expanding 

responsibilities can be grouped as follows: 

• Control center layout. 

• Infrastructure deficiencies. 

• Future expansion requirements. 

Layout 

12. While the Carman Property has adequate space within the control center security zone, 

the Krey Property control center space is very limited.  If the NYISO is to operate from the Krey 

Property control center for more than a few days, arrangements must be made to move personnel 

normally occupying the offices surrounding the alternate control center to make room for the 

required operations support personnel from the primary control center.  If the Carman Property is 

unusable for more than a few weeks, approximately 75 employees would need to move to the 

Krey Property.  Business continuity plans provide for temporary relocation, but, over time, 

efficiency of operations will suffer if the relocation of staff is required for a longer period of 

time.  These 75 employees do not include approximately 10 management and administrative staff 

who would also be relocated if operations were to move to the Krey Property for more than a few 

days. 

13. The Krey Property control center video display wall is a two-high by twelve-wide matrix 

of projection cubes, installed into the front wall of the control room.  This display area of 512 

square feet is less than 25% of the Carman Property control center wallboard size (2090 square 
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feet).  The two-high column of projectors on the left side of the wall is used to display chart 

recorder data, and the remaining screens show the transmission one-line diagrams.  The Phase 1 

telemetry data is presented in the chart recorder space, but the data feed at the Krey Property 

control center is not considered as reliable as it is dependent on equipment at the Carman 

Property control center.  If the Carman Property control center is out of service, this data will not 

be available at the Krey Property control center. 

14. The size of the video wall is limited by the length of the room and the low ceiling height.  

While this video display wall is adequate for the current level of operations, it will not be 

adequate for the expansion required to meet the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  This is 

particularly true when considering video display capabilities for enhanced situational awareness. 

Infrastructure  

15. If the Krey Property control center is to continue as a reliable alternate control center for 

even the near future, shortcomings of the power supply system need to be addressed.  The Krey 

Property is fed from a single substation, and uses a single generator for non-critical load and 

another single generator for critical loads.  The supply to critical loads is configured for an 

additional generator that has not yet been installed.  There are no provisions for sharing or 

transferring loads between the two generators or for selective load shedding. 

16. The reliability of the Krey Property power supply is on the order of 97.5%, compared to 

99.9% for the Carman Property.3  This is acceptable for its current use as an alternate control 

center, but not acceptable if it is to be considered a viable primary control center. 

                                                 
3   This comparison assumes the complete loss of utility power and reflect the industry norms for the 

difference between a single emergency generator and an ‘N+1’ configuration. 
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Future Expansion  

17. The Krey Property control center meets current reliability requirements.  However, in the 

near future both control centers will need to be expanded, replaced, or renovated to support the 

expanded responsibilities identified above. 

18. One additional control room console position could possibly be added in the Krey 

Property control center by eliminating some office space.  However, the view of the video 

display from that console would be severely compromised with the acute angle to the screens, 

exacerbating an already marginal situation.  Expansion of the room itself is limited by its 

placement within the building; it is bordered on three sides by fixed walls.  The critical problem 

will be expanding the video display as needed to improve situational awareness.  The ceiling 

height is limited by the ceiling structure, which cannot reasonably be altered.  This severely 

limits the amount of data that can be shown on the video displays. 

Carman Property Data Center 

19. The NYISO, and its predecessor, the New York Power Pool, have realized good value 

from the Carman Property Data Center.  Over its forty-year life the Carman Property Data Center 

has been expanded, augmented, and renovated as needs and technology have changed.  The 

Carman Property Data Center is not without problems.  None of these problems in isolation is 

sufficient to necessitate replacing the center.  However, considering the age of the building, and 

the risks to reliability and business continuity that are presented if the NYISO had to carry out its 

core functions and new responsibilities at its existing facilities for an extended period of time, the 

NYISO believes that a new data center is warranted and that construction should be completed as 

soon as possible.   
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20. The Carman Property Data Center is an inefficient design.  The cost of this inefficiency is 

estimated to be $100,000 to $200,000 per year in excess energy costs that will be saved in a new 

data center.4  While not enough to by itself justify a new facility, the savings over the lifetime of 

a new data center can offset some of the construction cost.  The sooner these benefits could be 

realized, the greater the payback. 

21. Also, the near-term plans for the NYISO’s information technology infrastructure 

reinforce the need for a new data center.  The NYISO refreshes its IT infrastructure over multi-

year cycles, targeted at three years.  Several significant projects now underway would benefit 

from installation directly into a new data center (as opposed to installation into the existing 

center and subsequent movement to a new center).  Benefits would include reduced costs (labor 

and shorter project cycles) by avoiding the work to relocate the new hardware from the existing 

center to the new center and reduced risk of outages for the same reason. 

Alternatives and Why Proposed Project is Best Option 

22. As described above, both the Carman Property control center and the Krey Property 

control center have shortcomings in their layout, infrastructure, and their capacity to 

accommodate the expected new functionality and additional operating staff required to 

implement the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  The most pressing issues are the space 

constraints at the Krey Property control center, the out-of-date wall displays at the Carman 

Property control center, the aging infrastructure at the Carman Property, and the need for a new 

Carman Property Data Center.   

                                                 
4   See KEMA Report, page 6-1. 
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23. The constraints imposed by the conditions of the facilities at the Carman Property and the 

Krey Property and the requirements for reliable operations limit the effective alternatives to the 

following: 

• In accordance with industry best practices, the NYISO expects to conduct operations 

from a single control center (while the other center is planned out of service) for a limited 

time only (one day or less). 

• The needed renovations at the Carman Property are extensive and, depending on the 

approach, the construction schedule could extend 24 to 36 months.  During this 

construction time, the control center may not be available for operation as a primary or 

alternate control center for significant periods. 

• The adequacy of the Krey Property control center to support operations over a long term 

will lessen over time as control room staffing increases.  Current staff planning would at 

least reach, if not exceed, the design capacity of the Krey Property control center within 

the next calendar year. 

• The Krey Property control center cannot be meaningfully expanded due to the building’s 

design and construction. 

24. These constraints would require development of an interim alternate control center during 

the necessary renovation of the Carman Property control center.  Given the costs to establish an 

adequate facility and the fact that such a facility would be of limited long term value to the 

NYISO, this alternative is inadvisable.  If a third control center must be developed during 

renovation of the Carman Property, it would be better to devote such efforts to a new primary 
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control center.   

25. With the above conclusions in mind, the NYISO analyzed, from a cost-benefit 

standpoint, the following two possible projects as viable means by which to meet the expanded 

responsibilities described above. 

Alternative 1 

26. This option includes the following: 

• Renovate the Carman Road facility to house an expanded primary control center and 

new data center. 

• Expand the Krey Property to house a renovated alternate control center. 

• Update the Krey Property building infrastructure to support greater redundancy for 

commercial and emergency power. 

• Provide low-tech temporary building options located at Krey Property for operations 

support staff when operating as control center for extended periods. 

27. The Carman Property control center would be expanded to accommodate the additional 

operating positions necessary for the Broader Regional Markets initiative and other expanded 

responsibilities.  However, expanding beyond those additional positions would involve 

significant brick and mortar modifications since the control room is built out to existing exterior 

walls.   

28. The existing alternate control center at the Krey Property would be relocated to a new 
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15,000 square foot addition to the existing building.  This addition would only house the control 

center and a new video wallboard similar to the primary control center.  Future expansion of the 

alternate control center may not be viable since it would be built out to exterior walls.  

29. This plan includes provision for housing the additional operations staff at the Krey 

Property at the Krey Property in temporary trailers for extended operation.    

30. The plan would accommodate the need for increased situational awareness and smart grid 

functions on the video wallboards. 

31. The 2011-2013 cost estimate for this alternative is $56,200,000.5  This alternative would 

achieve approximately $150,000 in energy savings per year once the Carman Property data 

center commences operation and the old data center is retired.6   

Alternative 2 

32. This option includes the following: 

• New addition at the Krey Property site to house an expanded primary control center 

and office space for operations support staff. 

• Update the Krey Property infrastructure to support greater redundancy for 

commercial and emergency power  

• Renovate the Carman Property facilities to house a new data center, upgrade the 

emergency generators, and remediate aging infrastructure.  
                                                 

5 This estimate excludes costs incurred in 2009 and 2010. 

6 EIG Report (as defined in the Petition), page 14.  Savings would begin in year 3 of the Project. 
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33. The new Krey Property control center would be built initially for the additional operating 

positions that would address short term needs and accommodate potential long term needs, as 

envisioned by NYISO.  Expansion beyond those additional positions would be possible since 

renovations would involve interior sheetrock walls rather than exterior building walls.   

34. Under this alternative, the existing Carman Property control center would become the 

new alternate control center.  The static mapboard would remain and additional large video 

screens would be added around the side perimeters of the room for increased situational 

awareness.  This site also has the ability to be renovated at a future time to replace the static 

mapboard with a video wallboard and to reposition the operator consoles to accommodate 

additional operators. 

35. If the new alternate control center is required to be operational for extended periods 

(greater than two weeks), the operations support staff would be housed in existing office space, 

conference rooms and potentially the old data center area.    

36. The 2011-2013 cost estimate for this alternative is $48,900,000.7  This alternative would 

achieve approximately $150,000 in energy savings per year once the Carman Property data 

center begins operation and the old data center is retired.8 

37. Under this alternative, the NYISO has also identified gains in internal operational 

efficiencies by consolidating NYISO functions on a single campus.  These efficiencies are 

estimated to be approximately $700,000 per year beginning in year four of the Project (as 

                                                 
7 This estimate excludes costs incurred in 2009 and 2010. 

8 EIG Report, page 14.  Savings would begin in year 3 of the Project. 
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defined in the Petition).  These savings result from full time equivalent employee reductions of a 

physical security shift ($200,000) and other staff ($500,000). 

Cost Benefit Analysis Conclusions 

38. Alternative 2 provides NYISO with the foundation, feasibility and infrastructure to 

support its current and expanded responsibilities.  This option gives the NYISO flexibility in 

present day operation and in the future in both the control centers.  There is also no need for 

additional temporary facilities to be installed at the alternate control center, since existing 

offices, conference rooms and the old data center would be available to temporarily 

accommodate operations staff during a contingency event. 

39. The analysis of Alternative 1 indicated that although this option would fulfill the 

NYISO’s present day needs, it will not support future expansion due to limited space.  

Temporary office space to house the operation support staff would need to be installed at the 

Krey Property in the event that the primary control center becomes unavailable for use.  Even 

though the trailers would only be installed on an as-needed basis, the NYISO would have to 

absorb the annual cost to keep them available on short notice.  In addition, the Carman Property 

is limited in its utility because it is an aging facility that has been modified and adapted 

numerous times to meet the expanding needs of the NYISO. 

40. The results from this analysis and findings shows that Alternative 2 is the most economic 

plan with net present cost of $40,500,000 as compared to $48,200,000 for Alternative 1 through 

2021.  Alternative 2 positions the NYISO to meet its expanded responsibilities for the future and 

provides options for the NYISO to accommodate future growth. 
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NEW YORK STATE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
 
-----------------------------------------------------------X 
In the Matter of Petition of The New York  
Independent System Operator, Inc. Under  Case No.  10-E-______ 
Public Service Law Section 69 for Authority 
to Incur Indebtedness for a Term in 
Excess of Twelve Months 
------------------------------------------------------------X 
 

AFFIDAVIT 
 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 
     ) ss.: 
COUNTY OF ALBANY  ) 
 
Mary McGarvey, being duly sworn, deposes and says: 

1. I am the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the New York Independent 

System Operator, Inc. (the “NYISO”).  As such, I am responsible for oversight of all NYISO 

financial activities, including accounting, financial reporting, budgeting, procurement, credit 

management, and customer settlements.  Further, I also have responsibility for all NYISO 

treasury functions including investment of NYISO funds, origination of debt issuances and 

interest rate hedges, and monitoring of debt covenants. 

2. I have read the foregoing Petition and understand its contents.  In support of the Petition, 

I hereby attest to the following: 

3. The NYISO is mindful of the present economic climate and of the New York Public 

Service Commission (“NYPSC” or the “Commission”) directives to jurisdictional companies to 

prioritize and, where possible, defer expenditures to mitigate financial impacts upon ratepayers.  

Nevertheless, it is unavoidable that the NYISO will immediately incur expenditures connected 
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with its control centers in 2011 and beyond.  Because of its 20-year term, the expenditures to be 

financed through the Proposed Construction Facility (as defined and described in the Petition) 

will more gradually be passed on to ratepayers than under other possible financing options.  

Given the immediate need to expend funds to ameliorate deficiencies at its facilities, the NYISO 

believes that the short-term rate impacts of the Proposed Construction Facility are consistent 

with the NYPSC’s recent rulings. 

4. Given the current economic climate, the NYISO has further arranged for the payments to 

consist of interest only for the first three years of the loan.  Estimated amounts to be charged 

under Rate Schedule 1 over the next three years under the Proposed Construction Facility would 

be $100,000 for 2011, $1,000,000 for 2012, and $2,300,000 for 2013, representing less than 

0.1%, 1%, and 1.5%, of the NYISO’s Rate Schedule 1 budget for each respective year.  These 

amounts would, in turn, be allocated among the NYISO’s Market Participants according to Rate 

Schedule 1.  Approximately 75% of these amounts are borne by load serving entities including 

the several public utilities subject to the Commission’s retail rate jurisdiction, with the remainder 

to be paid by other stakeholders.  The table attached to the Petition as Attachment XVI further 

describes the cost of the Proposed Construction Facility to ratepayers in the State of New York. 

5. The Proposed Construction Facility, therefore, represents a way to gradually phase-in to 

rates expenditures the NYISO will be required to make to address the needs described herein at 

both the NYISO’s Carman Road facility (the “Carman Property”) and at its Krey Boulevard 

facility (the “Krey Property”). 

6. The commercial terms and conditions set forth in the Commitment Letter, attached to the 

Petition as Attachment I, represent the terms that the NYISO and Berkshire Bank, National 
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Association (“Berkshire”) have agreed to and are representative of those available in the market 

for comparable loans.  Berkshire is administrative agent for a syndicate of lending banks 

including, as of the date hereof, The Washington Trust Company and Pioneer Savings Bank, 

National Association (together with Berkshire, the “Lenders”).  While the NYISO has not yet 

executed a definitive loan agreement with the Lenders, it has executed a Commitment Letter and 

anticipates closing on the Proposed Construction Facility on or before August 31, 2011.  The 

NYISO expects that the material terms and conditions of the definitive loan agreement will be 

the same as or consistent with those set forth in the Commitment Letter.  

7. From 2008 through 2010, the NYISO sought, evaluated and negotiated various financing 

options for the Project with numerous multi-national, regional, community and other financial 

institutions, most of which are headquartered or contain a significant banking presence within 

New York State.1  When considering financing options to support the Project (as defined and 

described in the Petition), the overwhelming majority of these potential lenders were either 

unwilling to provide any loan commitment or limited their offers to a term no longer than five 

years.  Given the estimated useful life of the Project renovations, financing the cost over five 

years is generally not appropriate.   

8. Based on the NYISO’s discussions with potential lending sources, it is apparent that, in 

addition to an increased level of risk aversion amongst lenders, the recent economic crisis has 

resulted in lenders demanding deposits as part of any loan commitments, maintaining the ability 

to reset loan pricing and/or deny loan extensions, and avoiding lengthy loan terms.  Based on the 

results of the extensive negotiations mentioned above, the NYISO believes that the Proposed 

                                                 
1 Throughout 2008 and 2009 the NYISO pursued financing options with numerous potential lenders.  

During 2010, the NYISO met with 14 potential lenders, many of whom had also expressed interest in 2008 or 2009. 
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Construction Facility contains terms and conditions that, in their totality, are reasonable and 

competitive.   

9. One of the most advantageous aspects of the Proposed Construction Facility is the length 

of the loan commitment period.  When Berkshire extended the offer for the Proposed 

Construction Facility to the NYISO in November, 2010, they agreed to hold the loan 

commitment for a period of nearly ten months (until the August 31, 2011 proposed loan closing).  

This commitment timeframe allows the NYISO the necessary time to pursue required permits 

and approvals.  Since market conditions and other factors can change significantly over time, it is 

unusual for financial institutions to extend a financing offer with a commitment period of this 

duration.  

10. Another very favorable condition of the Proposed Construction Facility is the length of 

the loan term.  During the NYISO’s negotiations, the predominant loan term suggested by 

financial institutions was less than 20 years, which would have resulted in debt service 

repayment costs to Market Participants considerably higher than what is included in the 

Proposed Construction Facility.  However, the 20-year period of the Proposed Construction 

Facility (3-years’ interest-only payments during construction, followed by 17 years of principal 

and interest payments) defers principal repayment until mid-2014 and permits the NYISO’s 

current and future Market Participants to repay this financing over a period of time 

commensurate with the long-term investment in the Project.   

11. As mentioned above, financial institutions have placed an increased focus on receiving 

deposits as part of extending loan offers, particularly in connection with large or multi-year 

transactions.  The Proposed Construction Facility contains a requirement to place an amount 
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equal to 10% of the total loan commitment (up to $4,500,000) in deposits with the Lenders.  This 

level of depository requirement is considerably less than depository requirements in the majority 

of other financing options that the NYISO has recently considered.  

12. As is common in most real estate financings, the Proposed Construction Facility requires 

that the Lenders receive a security interest as part of this long-term financing.  The Lenders were 

willing to accept a security interest in the Carman Property, which avoids further encumbering 

the Krey Property.  Additionally, most commercial mortgages require a security interest in assets 

equal to the amount of the financing.  However, in this case, the security interest in the Carman 

Property is a fraction of the maximum principal amount of the Proposed Construction Facility. 

13. The covenants required as part of the Proposed Construction Facility are expected to 

mirror those in the NYISO’s existing financings, thereby not introducing any significant 

financial or operating restrictions and enabling the NYISO to maintain the same level of 

reporting and monitoring as is required by the NYISO’s existing debt. 

14. The Proposed Construction Facility also permits the NYISO to prepay the outstanding 

balance of the loan without penalty, as long as standard notice is provided to the Lenders.  This 

provides the NYISO the flexibility to consider potential alternatives to refinance this loan during 

its 20-year term, if economic conditions and the lending climate were to significantly change. 

15. From a cost perspective, the fees associated with the Proposed Construction Facility are 

generally consistent with other lending offers considered by the NYISO in connection with the 

Project and with several of the NYISO’s current credit facilities, including the 2010 Revolver 

and the 2011-2013 Budget Facility (as such credit facilities are described in the Petition).  The 

interest spread on the Proposed Construction Facility is also generally consistent with current 
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Introduction

• This presentation summarizes our assessment of the potential benefits of some 
of the Broader Regional Market (“BRM”) initiatives.

• In particular, we estimate the production cost savings that may be achieved by:

Coordinating flows around Lake Erie through:

– Coordinated congestion management between RTOs; and 

– The “buy-through congestion” initiative for transaction scheduling); and

Improving the utilization of interfaces between MISO, PJM, NYISO, Ontario, 
and New England.

• We report production cost savings because it is the most accurate measure of 
the improvement in economic efficiency.  

In most cases, the short-term consumer savings would be substantially higher 
(which is based on the price effects of the initiatives).
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Inefficient Pricing of Loop Flows

• To estimate the benefits of better coordination of flows around Lake Erie, we first 
estimate:

The quantity of loop flows across each of the ISOs’ flowgates; and
The inefficient pricing of the estimated loop flows;

– The inefficiency is reflected in the difference between the value of the flowgate 
capability and the charges to transactions that cause the loop flows.

– This difference provides insight about the potential efficiencies from 
coordinated congestion management and buy-through congestion provisions.

• For this analysis, we analyzed November 2008 through October 2009.

• The value of flowgate capability used by the loop flows depends on the marginal cost 
of re-dispatch for the monitoring ISO (the ISO on whose system the flowgate is on).

For example, if a flowgate is constrained with a $200/MWh shadow price and 150 
MW of flowgate capability is used by loop flows in the forward direction, the 
economic value of capability used by the loop flows is $30,000/hour.

This is equal to the congestion charges that would be collected if the 150 MW of flow 
resulted from transactions scheduled internally. 
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Inefficient Pricing of Loop Flows

• Transmission Line Loading Relief (“TLR”) is often called when loop flows 
are contributing to congestion on the flowgate. 

However, inefficiencies exist whether or not a TLR is called and the broader 
regional market initiatives will address these inefficiencies.

• When no TLR is called, loop flows are not charged (or paid) for their use of 
the flowgate.  In this case, the BRM initiatives will enhance efficiency by:

Providing efficient scheduling incentives for transactions by charging 
transactions that cause forward loop flows (contribute to congestion), and by 
paying transactions that cause negative loop flows (relieve congestion).
Reducing re-dispatch costs in the monitoring ISO.

• When a TLR is called, the costs incurred by transactions and the non-
monitoring ISOs may be substantially higher (or lower) than the marginal re-
dispatch cost in the monitoring ISO.  In this case, the BRM will:

Ensure that transactions that cause loop flows are charged (or paid) consistent 
with the cost of re-dispatch in the monitoring ISO.
Minimize the redispatch costs of the monitoring and non-monitoring ISOs. 
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Estimating the Quantity of Loop Flows

• We estimated forward and reverse loop flows resulting from:

Inter-control area transactions where the monitoring ISO is not on the contract 
path; and

Native generation-to-load impacts from the other three ISOs.

• We first used Powerworld software to estimate distribution factors relative to 
the key flowgates on each ISO’s system based on NERC planning cases.

• Loop flow impacts were calculated for each inter-control area transaction: 

For each transaction, the Transmission Distribution Factor (“TDF”) was 
calculated based on the source and sink of the transaction.

• Native generation-to-load impacts were calculated for each generator:

For each generator, the Generation-to-Load Distribution Factor (“GLDF”) was 
calculated as the difference between  the generator’s Generation Shift Factor 
(“GSF”) and the ISO’s load-weighted average Load Shift Factor (“LSF”).

These GLDFs were used to calculated the market flows across each flowgate.
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Estimating the Pricing Inefficiencies

• To identify pricing inefficiencies for the loop flows, the difference between the value 
of the flowgate and the costs incurred by the source of the loop flows is estimated. 

• The value of flowgate depends on the marginal redispatch cost to manage the 
congestion on the flowgate by the monitoring ISO.

For the MISO, NYISO, and PJM, this is the flowgate’s real-time shadow price.

For IESO, this is implied by the real-time nodal prices that are produced by its real-
time security-constrained dispatch software.

• The pricing inefficiencies can be placed in two categories:  
1. Under-priced Congestion:  this occurs when transactions are not charged for their 

loop flows, or where the value of the flowgate exceeds the costs incurred by non-
monitoring ISOs to help manage it.

2. Over-priced Congestion:  this occurs when transactions that are more valuable than 
the flowgate capability are curtailed (not estimated due to lack of data), or when non-
monitoring ISOs incur higher redispatch costs to help manage the congestion than 
the value of the flowgate.

• The following tables show these pricing inefficiencies.  They report the difference 
between the value of flowgate capability in the monitoring ISO and the charges (or 
payments) to sources of the loop flows.  
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Under-Priced Loop Flows

Monitoring ISO (in $millions):
Direction/Source of Loop Flows NYISO ONT MISO PJM
Forward NYISO GTL $3 $1 $17

ONT GTL $7 $16 $16
MISO GTL $7 $10
PJM GTL $57 $15

ONT - NYISO $1 $4
MISO - ONT $6
PJM - MISO $2 $1
NYISO - PJM $2

Total $79 $30 $19 $37

Reverse NYISO GTL $2 $2 $15
ONT GTL $9 $16 $14
MISO GTL $9 $10
PJM GTL $40 $16

ONT - NYISO $1 $3
MISO - ONT $1
PJM - MISO $2 $1
NYISO - PJM $3

Total $61 $32 $19 $33
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Over-Priced Loop Flows

Monitoring ISO:
Direction/Source of Loop Flows ONT

Forward MISO GTL $25
PJM GTL $27

PJM - MISO $1
NYISO - PJM $6

Reverse MISO GTL $29
PJM GTL $23

PJM - MISO $5
NYISO - PJM $1
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Conclusions of Loop Flow Analysis 

• Forward and reverse loop flows are significant through each of the four ISOs.
The total gross value of the over-priced and under-priced loop flows is almost 
$430 million. 
The BRM initiatives would capture some portion of this value by providing efficient 
incentives to schedule transactions and dispatch resources internally to minimize 
costs throughout the four ISOs’ systems.

– The portion of the value that would be captured by the BRM is very difficult to 
estimate.  It is based on the ability of other ISOs or schedulers to relieve the 
monitoring ISO’s constraints at a lower cost than the ISO’s real-time dispatch. 

– We believe a reasonable range for this portion is 10 to 20 percent.  
• These result may be understated for the following reasons:

Fuel prices were very low during the period studied, which reduces the value of 
congestion.
We did not have data on TLR-based curtailments and, therefore, have not 
identified cases where transactions were curtailed whose value exceed the value 
of the flowgate.
It does not identify the potential efficiency gains of scheduling transactions to 
relieve a constraint that was not scheduled under current rules.
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Analysis of External Interface Utilization

• In addition to the benefits of better coordination of transactions and internal 
dispatch to lower the costs of managing congestion in the region, the BRM 
addresses improving scheduling between ISO markets.

• Improved scheduling would more fully utilize the transmission interfaces 
between the markets and generate significant benefits.

These benefits are best measured as reduced production costs.
Production costs are reduced as lower-cost resources in one market displace 
higher-cost resources in the adjacent market. 
The result of this process is improved price convergence between the markets.

• We performed an econometric analysis estimate the benefits that are available 
from optimal scheduling of the interfaces between the markets.

• The portion of the savings that are ultimately realized depend on the actions 
taken by the ISOs.

Real-time coordination of the net scheduled interchange (“NSI”) (or intra-hour 
scheduling) would likely capture most of the savings.
Simply shortening the scheduling timeframes for participants would capture a 
much smaller share of the potential benefits. 
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Analysis of External Interface Utilization

• The largest source of benefits we estimated derives from improving the utilization of the 
interfaces between markets.  The analysis is described below. 

Ontario, MISO, and PJM Interfaces
• We first estimated how prices in each ISO respond to changes in the scheduled 

interchange (“NSI”) over the interface, recognizing that this price response varies as 
prices increase or when there is congestion leading to the interface.

Our model also controls for changes in the NSI over other interfaces.
We used the estimates to simultaneously optimize the interchange over each of the 
four inter-ISO interfaces around Lake Erie each 5 minutes, given the interface limits.

New England Interface
• To estimate the optimal NSI each 5-minutes for the NE interface, our analysis uses the 

generator offers in both markets and recognizes congestion leading to the interface.
Long Island Ties to CT and NJ
• Benefits for these ties were only calculated when congestion separated LI, CT or NJ from 

the broader RTO markets to avoid double-counting benefits from the primary interfaces.
• In these intervals, we estimate the optimal NSI adjustment, given transmission limits and 

scheduling restrictions.
HQ-NY Interface
• We have not estimated the benefits from dynamic dispatching the HQ interface, but 

estimated the reduction in uplift  costs and balancing congestion costs that BRM could 
achieve.  
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Summary of Estimated BRM 
Production Cost Savings

• The potential savings we estimate address two aspects of the BRM initiations.
• Both show significant potential economic efficiencies, although the benefits of 

improved utilization of the external interfaces is larger. 
• The following table summarizes the estimated annual benefits in the two areas, 

which totals:
$160 million in savings for the NYISO interfaces and constraints; and
$297 million in savings on all interfaces and constraints.

• In total, the benefits may be understated due to:
The low load and high surplus capacity that prevailed in 2009;  and
The relatively low fuel prices in 2009.

• The low fuel prices in 2009 can be addressed by adjusting the benefits to 
correspond to a more typical natural gas price.

The benefits should be highly correlated to natural gas prices because gas-fired 
units are on the margin in most periods in New York and the adjacent markets.
The table shows that at a $6 per MMBTU gas price, the benefits would rise to: 

– $193 million on the NYISO interfaces and constraints;
– $362 million for all interfaces and constraints.
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Summary of Estimated BRM 
Production Cost Savings

Coordination of Scheduled Interchange
Estimated 
Benefits

Fuel-Price 
Adj. Benefits*

New York - Ontario $66 $81
New York - PJM $46 $57
New York - New England $10 $12
Ontario - MISO $61 $75
MISO - PJM $48 $59

New York - HQ (Balancing Congestion Reduction) $8 $8
New York - HQ (Uplift Reduction) $11 $11
Long Island Ties to CT and NJ $5 $6

$255 $309

Total
Assumed 
Savings

Estimated 
Benefits

Fuel-Price 
Adj. Benefits*

Under-priced Congestion
NYISO Forward Loop Flows $79 10% $8 $10
NYISO Reverse Loop Flows $61 10% $6 $8
PJM Forward Loop Flows $37 10% $4 $5
PJM Reverse Loop Flows $33 10% $3 $4
MISO Forward Loop Flows $19 10% $2 $2
MISO Reverse Loop Flows $19 10% $2 $2
Ontario Forward Loop Flows $30 10% $3 $4
Ontario Reverse Loop Flows $32 10% $3 $4

Over-Priced Congestion
Ontario Forward Loop Flows $59 10% $6 $7
Ontario Reverse Loop Flows $58 10% $6 $7

$427 $43 $53

Total Estimated Savings - All Interfaces/Constraints $297 $362

*  Adjusted to a $6 per MMBTU Natural Gas Price

Coordinated Congestion Management
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BTC Charges and Transaction Scheduling

• Some object to Buy Through Congestion (“BTC”) charges because they believe BTC 
charges would shut-down inter-control area transaction scheduling.

• We evaluate this concern by quantifying the effects of BTC charges on the 
profitability of schedules around Lake Erie.

• We evaluate the IESO → MISO → PJM path from Nov 2008 to Oct 2009.  This is a 
common path that would likely be subject to higher BTC charges than other paths. 

The first analysis examines how BTC charges might affect the profitability of 
transaction scheduling.
The second analysis discusses the risks posed by BTC charges relative to the risks 
posed by the TLR process.

• Based on the results of the analyses, we find that:
BTC charges would generally reduce but not eliminate the incentives to schedule. 
BTC charges would not significantly increase the volatility of profits from 
scheduling.  Rather, it would add one additional factor to the set of uncertainties that 
participants currently face when forecasting the profitability of a schedule. 
The BTC proposal may reduce physical uncertainty because participants that elect to 
pay BTC charges are less likely to be curtailed by a TLR.
Finally, participants always have the option to not pay the BTC charges and be 
curtailed as they are today.
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Transaction Profitability –
With and Without BTC Charges

• The following figure summarizes the profitability of scheduling on the IESO to PJM 
path during the study period.  We assume $5/MWh of scheduling charges.

The blue bars show the share of transaction MWs in each range of profitability 
excluding BTC charges for NYISO flowgates. 
The maroon bars show the share of transaction MWs in each range of profitability 
including BTC charges for NYISO flowgates.
The table summarizes the transaction MW-weighted profitability as well as the 
share of transaction MWs that would be profitable with and without BTC charges.   

• The figure illustrates that although the BTC charges would reduce the profitability 
of these schedules, they would remain profitable. During the study period, 

Transactions earned an average of $2.89/MWh if BTC charges are included and 
$3.73/MWh if BTC charges are excluded.
The share of transaction MWs that are profitable was 61 percent if BTC charges are 
included and 64 percent if BTC charges are excluded.

• The small difference in the two profitability distributions implies that including 
BTC charges would not significantly change the overall variability of payoffs.

Hence, participants would not face substantially higher uncertainty about the 
profitability of scheduling in a particular hour than they do currently.
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Transaction Profitability –
With and Without BTC Charges

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

22%

>$
50

$4
5-

$5
0

$4
0-

$4
5

$3
5-

$4
0

$3
0-

$3
5

$2
5-

$3
0

$2
0-

$2
5

$1
5-

$2
0

$1
0-

$1
5

$5
-$

10

$0
-$

5

$0
-$

5

$5
-$

10

$1
0-

$1
5

$1
5-

$2
0

$2
0-

$2
5

$2
5-

$3
0

$3
0-

$3
5

$3
5-

$4
0

$4
0-

$4
5

$4
5-

$5
0

>$
50

Unprofitable Profitable
Profitability ($/MWh)

Sh
ar

e 
of

 T
ra

ns
ac

tio
n 

M
W

 (%
)

w/o BTC

w/ BTC

Profitability 
($/MWh) 

% of Profitable 
Transactions 

w/o BTC $3.73 64%
w/ BTC $2.89 61%

Note: The figure assumes a transaction fee of $5/MWh



-17-

Transaction Profitability and TLR Events

• The next figure illustrates the how profitability of scheduling was related to the 
frequency of TLRs (level 3A and above) called by the NYISO.

The TLR frequencies are shown according to the profitability of transaction 
scheduling on the path during the study period.

– For example, a TLR was called in 21 percent of the hours when the profit from 
scheduling would have been between $0 and $10/MWh.

The table in the chart reports: (i) the share of hours when a TLR was called, (ii) the 
share of profitable hours when a TLR was called, and (iii) the share of unprofitable 
hours when a TLR was called.

• TLRs were called more frequently in the hours when transactions would have been 
profitable than when they would have been unprofitable.

TLRs were called in 25 percent of the profitable hours and 18 percent of the 
unprofitable hours.
This implies that the TLR process is not just a source of uncertainty, but also 
reduces the overall profitability of scheduling this path.
The current TLR process may generate greater than the risk and uncertainty than 
would result from BTC charges.
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Transaction Profitability and TLR Events
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Conclusions and Recommendations

• The BRM initiates promise substantial efficiency benefits to the markets in the 
eastern interconnect.

• The congestion coordination proposals will likely achieve efficiency benefits and 
should not be a significant barrier to scheduling between and through the RTOs.

• However, the largest source of benefits are the efficiency savings achievable by fully 
utilizing the inter-RTO interfaces.

We would recommend this element of the BRM be the highest priority.
Simply shortening the scheduling timeframes would not likely capture a large share 
of the potential benefits.
Real-time coordination of the net scheduled interchange (“NSI”) (or intra-hour 
scheduling) would likely capture most of the savings.

– This does not constitute the ISOs participating in the market, just using bids and 
offers in each market to establish the optimal NSI in the same way RTOs establish 
optimal power flows across each transmission interface inside the markets.

Alternatively, participants could submit “spread bids and offers” indicating their 
willingness to import or export power for 15-minutes based on the RTOs’ short-term 
forecast of the real-time price difference between the RTOs.  

– If the RTOs’ forecasts are accurate, participants’ bids and offers should approach 
zero, allowing prices to converge almost completely.   
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1. Executive Summary 

The New York Independent System Operator (NYISO) is responsible for operating and 
maintaining the reliability of the bulk power system and administering the wholesale electricity 
markets in New York State. The grid and markets in New York State are among the most 
complex in the country and pose unique operational and reliability challenges. The NYISO 
operates the grid and administers the markets in New York State from its Primary Control 
Center at Carman Road and its Alternate Control Center at Krey Blvd.  

The NYISO engaged KEMA, Inc. (KEMA): (i) to review the adequacy of its Carman Road 
Control Center and Krey Blvd Control Center for accommodating the NYISO’s existing and 
imminent new responsibilities to ensure reliable grid operations and efficient market 
administration, and (ii) to make recommendations regarding any necessary modifications or 
improvements to the NYISO’s control centers in keeping with industry best practices. 

KEMA makes the following key findings and recommendations regarding the adequacy of the 
NYISO’s existing control centers: 

• Between 2011 and 2015, the NYISO will be required to meet expanded operational 
responsibilities and reliability requirements to ensure reliable grid operations and 
efficient market administration – the “Expanded NYISO Responsibilities” discussed in 
Section 3 of this report. 

• The NYISO’s control centers accommodate the NYISO’s existing responsibilities. 
However, the NYISO must address shortcomings in its control centers to implement the 
Expanded NYISO Responsibilities. Allowing the shortcomings to continue or adapting 
partial fixes places NYISO’s ability to implement the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities 
at risk and could compromise the NYISO’s ability to reliably perform core functions. 

• Both the Carman Road Control Center and the Krey Blvd Control Center have 
shortcomings in their layout and capacity to accommodate additional operating staff. 

• KEMA weighed alternative approaches for the NYISO to resolve the shortcomings in its 
control centers, and recommends that the NYISO construct a new Primary Control 
Center at Krey Blvd and convert the Carman Road facility into a viable and sustainable 
Alternate Control Center. 
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• KEMA also recommends that, if the NYISO accepts this recommendation, it initiate 
planning and construction as soon as practicable, as the work on the centers, estimated 
to take 24 to 36 months, must be complete before the staff and technology requirements 
to support the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities exceed the capabilities of the existing 
facilities. 

KEMA makes these key findings and recommendations on the basis of the following general 
findings, which are discussed in greater detail in this report. 

Expansion of Operational Responsibilities and Reliability Requirements 

The NYISO, along with the entire electric utility industry, is facing significant changes to the 
power system and to their operational responsibilities. The NYISO’s ability to implement the 
changes specific to the New York and neighboring region and presented in this report as the 
Expanded NYISO Responsibilities, will hinge on: 

• Developing additional information capture and presentation capacities in its control 
centers to enhance situational awareness. 

• Increasing control room staff to manage additional operational tasks. The NYISO has 
identified that it will need at least two, and likely more, control room positions to support 
the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities. 

KEMA assessed the adequacy of the existing control centers to accommodate both current 
operational responsibilities and reliability requirements and also the Expanded NYISO 
Responsibilities. The Expanded NYISO Responsibilities include: 

• Implementation of the Broader Regional Market initiatives. These initiatives address 
complex seams issues, market inefficiencies, and reliability challenges. More generally, 
these initiatives will improve inter-regional Independent System Operator coordination. 
The NYISO expects the implementation of these initiatives will save approximately $200 
million annually in wholesale electric power costs in New York. 

• Incorporation of Smart Grid technologies. The NYISO is in the early stages of a 
Department of Energy project to add phasor measurement units (PMUs) across the New 
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York State power system and to display the data collected from the PMUs to operators 
to enhance situational awareness1 within New York and throughout the broader region. 

• Incorporation of intermittent, renewable generation resources. There are currently 
approximately 7,000 MW of wind projects in the NYISO’s interconnection queue and the 
currently available tools to manage a substantial amount of intermittent, renewable 
resources may not be adequate. The NYISO must improve its ability to manage 
substantial additions of intermittent generation. 

• Compliance with evolving reliability requirements. The North American Electric Reliability 
Corporation (NERC) and other reliability standards that are applicable to the NYISO 
continue to evolve, and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) has 
directed NERC to update and revise its standards in multiple respects. 

The NYISO will be required to assume the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities between 2011 
and 2015. 

Assessment of the Carman Road and Krey Blvd Control Centers 

KEMA identified the following pressing issues with the existing design and infrastructure of the 
NYISO’s control centers that could compromise the NYISO’s ability to implement the Expanded 
NYISO Responsibilities: 

• Space constraints at the Krey Blvd Control Center. The control room at Krey Blvd is 
approximately one-half the size of the Carman Road control room. The addition of the 
anticipated new operating positions will exceed the design capacity of the room. Visibility 
to key operating data is compromised by the long and narrow form of the room. 

• Older technology wall displays at the Carman Road Center. North American ISOs and 
RTOs have replaced or augmented old technology wall displays with large-format video 
displays. While the Krey Blvd Control Center has a video wall, the Carman Road Control 
Center does not have this technology. 

                                                 
1 Situational awareness refers to the ability of system operators to continuously keep the system in an 
“analyzed state” so that system contingencies can be managed without violation of reliability standards or 
cascading outages. 
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• Aging infrastructure at Carman Road. The Carman Road center, at over 40 years of age, 
is the oldest center among ISOs and RTOs. Much of the infrastructure – emergency 
generators and their fuel tanks, electrical switch gear, the roof, and other pumps and 
motors – are near the end of their life and must be replaced. 

• As concluded by KEMA in another study, the Carman Road Data Center should also be 
redeveloped. 

These issues must be addressed if the NYISO is to continue to provide reliable and efficient 
service. Allowing the issues to continue or adapting partial fixes could compromise the NYISO’s 
ability to implement Expanded NYISO Responsibilities. 

Analysis of Alternatives 

The constraints imposed by the conditions of the existing facilities and the requirements for 
reliable operations limit the alternatives to resolve the control center issues: 

• The NYISO can operate with only a single center (while the other center is planned out 
of service) for a limited time – no more than a few hours. 

• The needed renovations at Carman Road are extensive and, depending on the 
approach, the construction schedule could extend 24 to 36 months. During this time, the 
center may not be available for operation as a primary or alternative control center for a 
significant period. 

• The adequacy of the Krey Blvd Control Center to support operations over the long term 
will lessen over time as the control room staffing increases. Current staff planning would 
at least reach, if not exceed, the design capacity of the Krey Blvd Control Center within 
the next calendar year. 

• The Krey Blvd Control Center cannot be meaningfully expanded due to limitations 
imposed by the building design and construction. 

These constraints would necessitate development of an interim alternate control center during 
the renovation of the Carman Road Control Center. KEMA cannot recommend this approach, as 
it would provide an incomplete solution for the long term and entail significant stranded costs. 
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KEMA finds that construction of a permanent facility is the best available alternative. Developing 
a new control center on the Krey Blvd campus has several benefits beyond addressing the 
shortcomings of the existing centers. 

A cost study of a new control center has been prepared by Energy Initiatives Group, LLC. 
Analysis from that report shows a positive cost benefit comparison to the development of a new 
control center on the Krey Blvd campus and redevelopment of the Carman Road facility as an 
alternate control center – the same plan recommended by KEMA. 
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2. Background and Introduction 

The NYISO is responsible for reliably operating the bulk power system and administering the 
wholesale electricity markets in New York State, including the New York metropolitan area ─ the 
largest urban area of the United States and one of the leading international centers of business, 
finance, and the arts. The grid and markets in New York State are among the most complex in 
the country and pose unique operational and reliability challenges. In large part, this is because 
the New York metropolitan area consists of a series of islands fed by highly congested 
transmission corridors that are susceptible to lightening strikes and other contingencies. 

The NYISO operates the grid and administers the markets in New York State from its Primary 
Control Center at Carman Road in Schenectady, NY and its Alternate Control Center at Krey 
Blvd in Rensselear, NY. The Primary Control Center began operation in 1969 under the 
NYISO’s predecessor, the New York Power Pool, and is the oldest ISO/RTO control center in 
North America2. 

The NYISO engaged KEMA (i) to review the adequacy of its Primary Control Center and 
Alternate Control Center for accommodating the NYISO’s existing responsibilities and expanded 
NYISO Responsibilities to ensure reliable grid operations and efficient market administration, 
and (ii) to make recommendations regarding any necessary modifications or improvements in 
keeping with industry best practices.3 

                                                 
2 KEMA conducted an informal survey of ISO and RTO control centers during this study. The construction 
dates for those ISO/RTOs responding follow (organization names are not listed by request). 

• ISO/RTO1 – 2006 (primary center); 2008 (backup center) 
• ISO/RTO2 – 2006; 2008 
• ISO/RTO3 – 2010; 2007 
• ISO/RTO4 – 2002; 2010 
• ISO/RTO5 – 2006; early 1980s 
• ISO/RTO6 – 2003; 2007 
• NYISO – 1969; 2005 

3 The scope of KEMA’s assignment did not include cost benefit analysis; however, this report references 
the findings of a cost benefit analysis performed by Energy Initiatives Group, LLC (EIG). Any additional 
discussion of cost in this report must be understood to be qualitative, based solely on KEMA’s extensive 
experience with electric utility operations and control and data center design and construction. 
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2.1 Methodology 

KEMA consultants met with the NYISO staff to review the current state of the Carman Road 
Control Center and the Krey Blvd Control Center. A first draft of the report was delivered and 
reviewed by the NYISO, errors in fact corrected, and the findings discussed. The findings of this 
assignment remain entirely those of KEMA. 

The final report represents the situation at both the Carman Road and Krey Blvd Control 
Centers as of the date of publication on the front cover, including consideration for growth 
projections and business evolutions. 

2.2 Experience and Qualifications of the Consultant 

N.V. KEMA of Arnhem, the Netherlands is internationally recognized for technical and 
management consulting, testing, inspection, and certification for businesses in the energy and 
energy consuming industries, assisting more than 500 clients in more than 70 countries. KEMA 
employs more than 2,000 full-time professionals and leading experts in many facets of the 
energy utility industry. Founded in 1927, KEMA serves the complete spectrum of participants in 
the energy marketplace and offers a full complement of services supporting generation through 
to the consumer side of the meter. KEMA, Inc, the North American unit of the company 
participated in the development of all of the North American ISOs and RTOs. 

.
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3. Expanded NYISO Responsibilities 

The adequacy of the existing control centers must be assessed not only against current 
operational responsibilities and reliability requirements, but also against likely future 
responsibilities and requirements – the “Expanded NYISO Responsibilities”. The assessment 
must consider the lead time necessary to develop new control center facilities or to renovate 
existing facilities before the NYISO’s responsibilities surpass its capabilities. For this reason, the 
NYISO and other entities in the electric power industry continually review the adequacy of the 
power system, forecast future developments, and evaluate the adequacy of the system to 
support those developments. The Expanded NYISO Responsibilities that form the basis of this 
assessment of the adequacy of the NYISO’s control centers include: 

• Implementation of the Broader Regional Market initiatives. 

• Incorporation of Smart Grid technologies. 

• Incorporation of intermittent, renewable generation resources. 

• Compliance with evolving reliability requirements. 

It should be noted that, whole some of these responsibilities are unique to the NYISO, The 
incorporation of Smart Grid technologies and intermittent, renewable generation and compliance 
with evolving regulatory requirements affect the electricity power industry as a whole. In fact, the 
Smart Grid and renewable generation requirements are being implemented around the globe. 

3.1 Evolving Responsibilities and Requirements 

Broader Regional Markets 

The NYISO, in coordination with its neighboring ISOs and RTOs, is implementing a set of 
related market enhancements, collectively the Broader Regional Markets initiatives. These 
initiatives will improve the NYISO’s ability to address complex seams issues, market 
inefficiencies, and reliability challenges that result from the circulation of electric power around 
Lake Erie. More generally, the initiatives will improve inter-regional Independent System 
Operator efficiencies through the availability of enhanced market and ISO-to-ISO coordination. 
These market enhancements are planned to be incorporated by 2013: 
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• Buy-Through of Congestion - Cost allocation to and recovery of constraint management 
costs from the parties responsible for creating the system congestion through the 
identification of the sources of loop flow. 

• Market to Market Coordination - Redispatch of generators within a neighboring control 
area to address transmission constraints when that dispatch is more cost effective than 
the dispatch of generators within the control area experiencing the constraints. 

• Interface Pricing Revisions – Improvement of the pricing of energy sales between 
individual grid operators (ISOs and RTOs) to allow for more efficient regional power 
transfers. 

• Interregional Transaction Coordination - Flexible transaction scheduling provisions to 
improve market and operational efficiency by allowing transaction schedules to adjust to 
the ever-changing system conditions and to respond to system contingencies. 

These market enhancements are designed to reduce uplift costs associated with congestion 
and real-time event management, to improve the capability to incorporate intermittent 
resources, and, thereby, to lower total system operating costs. The NYISO expects the Broader 
Regional Market initiatives to enhance reliability through regional dispatch and to save 
approximately $200 million annually4 in wholesale electric power costs in New York.  

Integration of Smart Grid Data 

The NYISO is in the preliminary stages of a Department of Energy-funded project, along with 
the New York Transmission Owners, to implement a network of phasor measurement units 
(PMUs) on the New York power grid and to integrate the data collected from the PMUs to 
provide greater situational awareness5 for NYISO dispatchers. This project is scheduled to be 
implemented by 2013. The NYISO intends to integrate PMU data with NYISO systems in its 

                                                 
4 Analysis of the Broader Regional Markets Initiatives, Joint NYISO-IESO-MISO-PJM Stakeholder 
Technical Conference on Broader Regional Markets, September 27, 2010, 
http://www.pjm.com/~/media/committees-groups/stakeholder-meetings/brmjsg/20100927/20100927-
analysis-of-the-broader-regional-markets-initiatives.ashxr 
5 Situational awareness refers to the ability of system operators to continuously keep the system in an 
“analyzed state” so that system contingencies can be managed without violation of reliability standards or 
cascading outages. 
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Carman Road and Krey Blvd Control Centers. The applications PMU technology will support 
include: 

• Wide-area visualization and monitoring. 

• Phase angle and frequency monitoring. 

• Inter-area oscillation detection and analysis. 

• Proximity to voltage collapse. 

• Dynamic model validation. 

• Fast frequency regulation. 

• Optimization of capacitor operation for reliability and loss reduction. 

In the long-term, the NYISO’s PMU network will interoperate with PMU networks in New 
England, the Mid-Atlantic, the Midwest, and Ontario to create broader situational awareness in 
the NYISO’s control centers and in control centers throughout the Northeast, and to facilitate 
rapid responses to system disturbances that will help avoid major system disturbances such as 
the 2003 Northeast regional blackout, which resulted in significant costs6. 

These capabilities, along with the actions being taken by the NYISO to understand and manage 
future Plug-in Electric Vehicle (“PEV”) charging demand, will require state-of-the-art monitoring 
and control capability to address reliability concerns resulting from the use of Smart Grid 
technologies and the anticipated demand requirements associated with significant use of PEVs. 

Incorporation of Renewable Resources 

The electric power industry, as a whole, lacks the tools to efficiently and under all conditions 
manage large amounts of wind and other intermittent resources. As greater amounts of wind 
resources are brought online in New York7 and elsewhere, today’s technology for managing 
wind resources may not be adequate to handle certain wind related events. Specifically, 
                                                 
6 For the United States alone, costs estimates resulting from the 2003 blackout ranged from $4 to $10 
billion. U.S. Canada Power System Outage Task Force, Final Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout in 
the United States and Canada:  Causes and Recommendations (April 2004) 
7 There are currently approximately 7,000 MW of wind projects in the NYISO’s interconnection queue. 
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reliability concerns arise from ramp events that must be managed. Wind plant ramp events 
occur during sudden drops in wind speeds or when wind speeds approach cut-out levels that 
cause sudden large drops in wind output levels. The industry, and the NYISO, must improve the 
tools to manage wind ramp events. The NYISO must be able to receive and process real-time 
data regarding wind speed and direction, requiring state-of-the-art monitoring capability. 

In addition, new limited energy storage technologies are being developed, such as flywheel and 
large scale battery technologies, to compliment the variable output of renewable resources. The 
NYISO is also studying the charging demands of Plug-in Electric Vehicles and how they would 
affect the overall dispatch. These new technologies will have to be integrated into the NYISO’s 
dispatch operations. 

Considerable research is being applied to the problems of coordinated management of 
intermittent resources, storage, and PEV charging; but until that time when appropriate 
automated tools are ready for production use, the NYISO may have to add staff to the control 
room floor to manually manage the resources. 

Additional Reliability Requirements 

The NYISO recognizes that mandatory North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) 
and other reliability standards that are applicable to the NYISO will continue to evolve. The 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) has directed NERC to update and revise its 
standards in multiple respects. The NYISO control centers must contain sufficient physical 
space and flexibility to incorporate new control center technologies and additional staffing to 
enable the NYISO to maintain compliance with evolving reliability requirements. It is widely 
expected that FERC will soon expand the definition of Bulk Electric System facilities, so that 
NERC standards apply to many additional transmission facilities 115 kV and above. If FERC 
takes this action, the NYISO would require an additional control center position to comply with 
the mandatory NERC standards. 

The NYISO control centers should also contain sufficient space to accommodate additional staff 
needed during events that threaten reliability, such as during adverse weather conditions. 

3.2 Effects on Control Center Needs 

The NYISO’s ability to realize the desired and expected benefits of the Expanded NYISO 
Responsibilities will hinge on the capability of its infrastructure to gather, assemble, and deliver 
the necessary information on system conditions both within New York State and regionally and 
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the ability of NYISO personnel to act on the information.  The NYISO will need to accommodate 
the following capabilities in its control centers to implement the Expanded NYISO 
Responsibilities: 

• Include additional information capture and presentation technologies in its control 
centers to enhance situational awareness. 

• Accommodate additional control room staff to manage the related monitoring and 
coordination functions. 

The NYISO will need to appropriately manage the workload of control room and support staff to 
reliably implement the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities. New functionality will entail new tasks 
and processes that, when added to the existing workload within the control room, will require 
additional staff to monitor and manage the grid. 

Enhancing Situational Awareness 

The NYISO’s control centers will require improvements in information capture and presentation 
capabilities in the areas of: 

• Regional wind and solar power production, forecast conditions, and intermittency 
expectations. 

• Existence and prediction of regional transmission system constraints. 

• Review and validation of system flows and the identification of the sources of these 
impacts. 

• PMU data and the results of the applications analyzing the data. 

Current conditions, short term predictions, and, most critically, changes to those conditions will 
need to be understood in real-time. 

The NYISO can enhance operator’s situational awareness via advanced video display 
technology and a significant dedicated area of video wall display (a dedicated large format 
display), which require space in both the NYISO’s control centers. 
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The report on the August 2003 blackout8 pointed to a lack of situational awareness by utility 
operators as a key element in the events leading to the blackout. While the report does not 
recommend or endorse large format video displays as a remedy for this problem, most of the 
industry’s efforts in developing advanced visualization tools have focused on video 
presentations, both small format (on the operators’ desks) and large format (video walls)9. 

Additions to the Control Room and Operations Support Staff 

The NYISO will also need to augment control room staff to manage the Expanded NYISO 
Responsibilities. The NYISO has identified, and planned for, the inclusion of the following 
additional control room positions: 

• The Broader Regional Markets initiatives will add new workload to: 

o Establish and validate schedules with each of the NYISO’s four neighboring 
regions as often as every five minutes, rather than on an hourly basis as is 
currently done. 

o Market-to-Market coordination requires setting up and validating redispatch 
action for, and from, neighboring control areas to ensure efficient resource 
utilization and satisfaction of reliability criteria. 

o Buy-Through of Congestion requires active monitoring for and identification of 
parallel flow impacts on NYISO constrained facilities to minimize unrecovered 
constraint management costs. 

The NYISO plans to add one additional control room staff position to implement the 
intra-hour scheduling. The NYISO will evaluate the addition of further control room staff 
positions as the workload of the Broader Regional Markets initiatives is better known. 

• The development of Smart Grid technologies is accelerating and the integration of these 
technologies into the grid is increasing. Renewable generation resources are being built 

                                                 
8 U.S. Canada Power System Outage Task Force, Final Report on the August 14, 2003 Blackout in the 
United States and Canada:  Causes and Recommendations (April 2004) 
9 For examples of recent investigations, see: http://www.oe.energy.gov/our_organization/rnd.htm; 
http://www.pnl.gov/main/publications/external/technical_reports/PNNL-19103.pdf; 
http://www.wrldc.com/docs/VHPSO_FINAL.pdf 
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and connected to a grid not designed for them. Control centers must manage reliability 
concerns identified by PMUs and other Smart Grid technologies. The NYISO is prudently 
preparing for increasing amounts of renewable resources, the output of which is often 
difficult to forecast and control, by planning for enhanced situational awareness 
technology, changing market rules, and considering adding a control room position 
assigned to the management of Smart Grid and renewable resources. As with the 
transaction scheduling position, this staffing requirement could very easily increase. 

• If FERC decides to expand the definition of Bulk Electric System facilities, so that NERC 
standards apply to many additional transmission facilities down to 115 kV, the NYISO 
expects to add one additional transmission operating position in the control room to 
address this change in NERC’s standards. 
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4. Carman Road Control Center Assessment 

The Carman Road Control Center, located in Guilderland, NY, was purpose-built as a control 
center in 1969 by the predecessor of the NYISO – the New York Power Pool – which used the 
building for offices and a control center from that date. The Carman Road Control Center is the 
oldest of the North American ISO and RTO centers10. 

The control room is approximately 8650 square feet, with a ceiling height of almost two and one-
half stories. The dominant feature of the control room is a curved tile mapboard 22 ft high and 
95 ft long (2090 ft2). The mapboard displays the NYISO transmission grid, down to 115 kV lines 
(details of some lower voltage lines are omitted, trading off completeness for clarity). Chart 
recorders presenting Phase 1 data11 are mounted below the mapboard. Supplemental LCD 
video displays are mounted within and around the board, showing lightning strikes, weather, 
news, and other information of interest to the operators. Five consoles face the mapboard. 
Operations support staff occupy offices surrounding the control room, with direct access to the 
control room. 

The layout and construction of the Carman Road Control Center presents challenges to the 
continued reliable and efficient operation of the New York state electric grid. This is particularly 
true when considering the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities described in Section 3 of this 
report. The deficiencies that should be remedied in the near future to ensure continued reliable 
operations can be grouped as follows: 

• Control Center layout. 

• Infrastructure deficiencies. 

• Future expansion requirements. 

• Cyber and physical security. 

                                                 
10 Ibid. footnote 2. 
11 Phase 1 data is telemetered directly from substations to the chart recorders and is monitored and 
alarmed independently of the Energy Management System. The operators consider the Phase 1 data as 
the most reliable source of critical operating information, as it is available even when the EMS is out of 
service. 
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4.1 Carman Road Control Center Layout 

While the NYISO and the New York Power Pool have maintained and renovated the Carman 
Road Control Center over its life, there are several problems with the current layout and 
infrastructure that cannot be resolved without major construction. 

Mapboard 

The existing tile mapboard performs very well in presenting a “big picture” overview of the 
transmission system in real time. The large format of the mapboard affords reasonable visibility 
throughout even a large control room. 

However, most ISO control centers have implemented video display walls in place of or 
supplemental to mapboards. While mapboards have advantages in operating costs and legibility 
(due to higher resolution), the set of data presented on a video wall and the form of presentation 
can be changed moment-to-moment and the technology allows for the rapid deployment  of new 
presentations of data. These capabilities will help realize the full value of the Broader Regional 
Markets initiatives, Smart Grid technologies, and the integration of renewable resources. 

Video displays also allow the same data to be presented wherever needed in the control room. 
This will provide a significant advantage as the control room area and operator complement 
grow and the distance from the furthest operator to the wall displays lengthens. 

NYISO must consider control room enhancements to accommodate video displays. The existing 
hard-wired mapboard should be replaced, in total or in part, with video displays. This will be a 
major construction effort and cannot be done while the room is occupied. 

Chart Recorders 

Currently, the CRT chart recorders showing Phase 1 data are mounted in the support structure 
below the mapboard itself. The real value of the chart recorders and the associated alarm and 
annunciation panels is that they are a base level of information directly connected to the field. 

In conjunction with upgrades to accommodate video display technology, the chart recorders 
should be removed and the Phase 1 data displays incorporated into the video display 
recommended above. The data can still be received directly from the field devices. Rather than 
display the data at just one location in the room, the information could be made available on the 
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room wall displays as well as at each separate position on displays at the operating position 
consoles. 

Console Layout 

The control room has five consoles, each facing the mapboard, with the Shift Supervisor 
occupying the center position. Operations personnel have indicated that efficient operations 
require them to be within easy visual and voice communication with each other and the 
mapboard. As more positions are added, this need will be more difficult to realize. This is 
particularly true if the single wall display of critical operating information is retained as a design 
principle. As the room is upgraded to accommodate video displays, the consoles will need to be 
rearranged for better visibility as well as communication between operators. Relocating the 
consoles and adding consoles will be a major task, involving relocating communications and 
power cabling as well as dismantling, moving and re-assembling the consoles themselves. 
While this can be done while the room is occupied, it will be distracting to the operators and 
could present a risk to reliability. 

4.2 Infrastructure Deficiencies 

The Carman Road Control Center currently supports reliable and efficient power system 
operation. However as a result of the facilities’ age, there are problems that need to be 
addressed in the near future to ensure continued reliable operations. 

• The existing 600 kW emergency generators are over 30 years old and are nearing end 
of life. Two new 1500 kW generators have been purchased as replacements. Before the 
new generators can be installed, there will have to be a substantial reconfiguration of the 
building power distribution system. Reconfiguration of the building power system will 
replace much of the switchgear. 

• The existing power distribution and UPS equipment are protected by manual fire 
extinguishers, and the area is not suitable for the installation of a gas-based fire 
suppression system. An automated fire suppression system is highly desirable as fires 
have proven to be one of the most probable risks to control centers. This could 
reasonably be accomplished during the installation of new generators and switchgear. 

• The in-ground diesel fuel tanks for the emergency generators are nearing end of life and 
will need replacement to mitigate the risk of fuel leakage. 
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• The building roof is nearing end of life and must be replaced to prevent further 
deterioration and possible equipment damage due to water leaks. 

• Many of the pumps, switchgear components, and mechanical systems are original to the 
building and nearing end of life. These systems will need to be replaced or rebuilt to 
ensure reliable operations. 

With careful planning each of the above items can be corrected, but with some disruption to 
operations at Carman Road. Importantly, changes to the electrical system will require outages 
of some duration and longer periods with reduced redundancy. 

Work has already begun to address those facility deficiencies that were deemed to be most 
urgent. However, during the time when the redundant systems are down there will be a higher 
risk to power system reliability. During outages at the Carman Road Control Center, operations 
can be conducted from the Krey Blvd Control Center. However, as discussed in Section 5 of this 
report, shortcomings of the Krey Blvd Control Center will increase the risks to reliable and 
efficient power system and market operation if the Krey Blvd Control Center is used for an 
extended period of time. 

4.3 Future Expansion 

The existing Carman Road and Krey Blvd Control Centers meet current reliability needs. In the 
near future both control centers will need to be expanded to implement the Expanded NYISO 
Responsibilities. The NYISO has already initiated work to add three consoles to the current 
complement, producing a total of eight control center positions. 

Given that it is reasonable to expect that additional operating positions may be needed beyond 
those now planned, any renovation of the control centers should include space for additional 
positions beyond the three identified new positions. The Carman Road Control Center control 
room is large enough to accommodate the identified expansion to eight consoles, but will 
require construction to incorporate further consoles, particularly in conjunction with the 
redevelopment of the existing wallboard with video technology. If the NYISO were to renovate 
Carman Road as the primary control center, construction could take 24 to 36 months. The 
NYISO would need to operate from the Krey Blvd Alternate Control Center for some of the 
construction time. As presented later in this report, the Krey Blvd Control Center is not presently 
suitable for long-term operation. 
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4.4 Physical and Cyber Security 

Physical access to and throughout the Carman Road Control Center is aligned with good 
industry practice and meets all industry and government security requirements. KEMA is not 
aware of any changes to requirements that could not be satisfied by the existing Carman Road 
Control Center, but certain temporary measures taken to meet existing standards could be 
improved with a facility designed to meet present day security requirements. 

The lack of office space at Carman Road has resulted in locating a number of operating support 
staff behind the mapboard. While NYISO manages these employees as essential personnel, a 
“best” solution would have them located outside the control room security perimeter. 

KEMA is currently auditing NYISO’s cyber security procedures and practices under a separate 
contract. At this early stage of that work, KEMA is not aware of any cyber security issues that 
can be attributed to shortcomings of the Carman Road Control Center. The authors of this 
report will review the final findings of cyber security audit and will issue an amendment to this 
report if issues are found with the Carman Road Control Center. 
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5. Krey Blvd Control Center Assessment 

In 2005 NYISO purchased an office building on Krey Blvd in Rensselaer, NY to consolidate the 
majority of its staff into a single location. As part of the renovations and retrofits to the building, a 
new data center and a new alternate control center were constructed within the building. The 
relocation of the alternate control center was primarily driven by the NYISO’s need to resolve 
certain security risks regarding the location of the then-existing alternate control center that had 
been identified by several security studies by U.S. agencies and the NYISO’s internal audit staff. 

The Krey Blvd Control Center is located on the second floor of the Krey Blvd facility, and 
occupies an area of approximately 4000 ft². The Krey Blvd Control Center has seven consoles 
facing a projection display wall configured as a 12 wide x 2 high matrix of video projection 
display cubes (512 ft2 of display area). An enclosed conference room, work areas for market 
and scheduling staff, and one supervisory office are located within the control room’s secure 
area. 

The Krey Blvd Control Center currently provides a reliable alternate control center, as required 
by NERC. However, the layout and construction of the Krey Blvd Control Center present 
challenges to continued reliable and efficient operation of the New York State electric grid. This 
is particularly true when considering the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities. The deficiencies 
that must be remedied in the near future to ensure continued reliable operations can be grouped 
as follows: 

• Krey Blvd Control Center layout. 

• Infrastructure deficiencies. 

• Future expansion requirements. 

• Cyber and physical security. 

5.1 Krey Blvd Control Center Layout 

While the Krey Blvd Control Center has served NYISO well since its development, there are 
problems with the current layout that cannot be easily resolved. 
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Room Configuration 

The Krey Blvd Control Center control room is a shallow rectangle, 80 ft wide and 44 ft deep (to 
the front of the video display wall). While the Carman Road Control Center has adequate space 
within the control room security zone, the Krey Blvd Control Center space is very limited. The 
floor area is less than half that of the Carman Road Control Center and includes work areas for 
operations staff who are located outside the control room in the Carman Road facility. 

There are seven consoles; four in the row closest to the video wall and three in a second row. 
Because of the shallow room depth, the operating positions at the ends of the room are outside 
of the optimum viewing angles of the video wall; therefore a considerable fraction of the video 
wall is not useful from these operating positions. The compromised view of the information 
presented on the wall could lead to misinterpretation of the operating conditions, increasing the 
risks to reliable operation. 

If the NYISO is to operate from the Krey Blvd Control Center for more than a few days, 
arrangements must be made to move personnel from the offices surrounding the Krey Blvd 
Control Center to make room for the required operations support personnel from the Carman 
Road facility. If the Carman Road Control Center is uninhabitable for more than a few weeks, 
approximately 75 employees would need to move to the Krey Blvd Control Center. Business 
continuity plans provide for temporary relocation, but, over time, efficiency of operations will 
suffer if the relocation of staff is required for a longer period of time. These 75 employees do not 
include approximately 10 management and administrative staff who would also be relocated if 
operations were to move to the Krey Blvd Control Center for more than a few days. 

Video Display Wall 

The Krey Blvd Control Center video display wall is a two-high by twelve-wide matrix of 
projection cubes, installed into the front wall of the control room. This display area of 512 ft2 is 
less than 25% of the Carman Road Control Center wallboard size (2090 ft2). The two-high 
column of projectors on the left side of the wall is used to display chart recorder data, and the 
remaining screens show the transmission one-line diagrams. The Phase 1 data is presented in 
the chart recorder space, but the data at Krey Blvd is not considered as reliable as it is 
dependent on equipment at the Carman Road Control Center. If the Carman Road Control 
Center is out of service, the Phase 1 data will not be available at the Krey Blvd Control Center. 

The size of the video wall is limited by the length of the room and the low ceiling height of 8 ft 3 
in (further discussed in Section 5.3). While this video display wall is adequate for the current 
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level of operations, it will not be adequate for the expansion required to meet the Expanded 
NYISO Responsibilities. This is particularly true when considering the video display 
requirements of incorporating Smart Grid technologies and the technologies for the 
incorporation of intermittent, renewable resources. 

The considerable differences between the wall displays at the Carman Road and Krey Blvd 
Control Centers are not commensurate with best practice. Ideally, the presentation of operating 
information would be identical at both the Carman Road and Krey Blvd Control Centers. In the 
ideal scenario, there would be no distinguishing characteristics between the operating floors at 
the two centers. The extreme difference is wallboard space (2090 ft2 versus 512 ft2), the 
different technologies (tile board versus video display), and the different presentation of 
information stemming from these differences is a shortcoming that compromises both short- and 
long-term operations from the Krey Blvd Control Center. 

5.2 Infrastructure Deficiencies 

If the Krey Blvd Control Center is to continue as a reliable alternate control center for even the 
near future, shortcomings of the power supply need to be addressed. The Krey Blvd building is 
fed from a single substation; uses a single generator for non-critical load and another single 
generator for critical loads. The supply to critical loads is configured for a second generator that 
has not yet been installed. There are no provisions for sharing or transferring loads between the 
two generators or for selective load shedding. 

The reliability of the Krey Blvd power supply is on the order of 97.5%, compared to 99.9% for 
Carman Road12. This is acceptable for its current use as an alternate control center, but not 
acceptable if it is to be considered a viable long-term primary control center. 

5.3 Expansion Requirements 

The Krey Blvd Control Center meets current reliability requirements. However, in the near future 
both control centers will need to be expanded, replaced, or renovated to support the 
requirements identified in Section 3. 

                                                 
12 This comparison assumes the complete loss of utility power and reflect the industry norms for the 
difference between a single emergency generator and an ‘N+1’ configuration. 
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One additional console position could possibly be added in the Krey Blvd Control Center, 
bringing the total up to eight positions, by eliminating some of the office space. However, the 
view of the video display from that console would be severely compromised with the acute angle 
to the screens, exacerbating an already marginal situation. Expansion of the room itself is 
limited by its placement within the building; it is bordered on three sides by fixed walls. The only 
available space for expansion would be to the operators’ left into the adjacent office space. 
Expanding into this space would further compound the problem with viewing angles because of 
extended width in relation to the shallow depth of the room. 

The critical problem will be expanding the video display as required to enhance situational 
awareness. The ceiling height is limited by the ceiling structure, which cannot reasonably be 
altered. This limits the video displays to 5’ high, given the 3’ height from the floor to the first row 
of screens required for visibility. This severely limits the amount of data that can be shown on 
the screens. 

5.4 Physical and Cyber Security 

Physical access to and throughout the Krey Blvd Control Center, is aligned with good industry 
practice and meets all industry and government security requirements. KEMA is not aware of 
any changes to requirements that could not be satisfied by the existing Krey Blvd facility. 

KEMA is currently auditing NYISO’s cyber security procedures and practices under a separate 
contract. At this early stage of that work, KEMA is not aware of any cyber security issues that 
can be attributed to shortcomings of the Krey Blvd Control Center. The authors of this report will 
review the final findings of cyber security audit and will issue an amendment to this report if 
issues are found with the Krey Blvd facility.
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6. Carman Road Data Center Assessment 

The NYISO separately engaged KEMA to review the adequacy of the Carman Road Data 
Center to support operations. The objective of that study was to review the current state of the 
data center at the Carman Road facility while accounting for growth projections in the area of 
power consumption, platform expansion, and identified business evolution, and to provide an 
assessment of current adequacy and a plan for expansion. 

The report was submitted to the NYISO in September 2010. The following is a synopsis of that 
report. 

NYISO has realized good value from the Carman Road Data Center. Over its forty-year life the 
Carman Road Data Center has been expanded, augmented, and renovated as needs and 
technology have changed. Deficiencies of the center have been reasonably worked around and 
the center has given the NYISO reliable service. 

The Carman Road Data Center is not without problems. None of these issues in isolation is 
sufficient to necessitate replacing the center. However, taken in total and recognizing the age of 
the building, consideration of a new data center is warranted. 

Determining the critical time when the Carman Road Data Center can no longer satisfy the 
NYISO’s needs is difficult. That moment must be identified some time in advance, at least 
eighteen months, to allow for the design and construction of a replacement. It is reasonable to 
expect that the Carman Road Data Center will remain useful over the next eighteen months, but 
sometime beyond that time, further work-arounds or replacement will become necessary. 

Considering the age of the building, the numerous compromises made to achieve the current 
lifetime, and the ongoing compromises to be made if the building is to continue as the primary 
control center, KEMA endorses a decision to begin work to construct a new data center. This 
determination is based on engineering principles. But there are other viewpoints that reinforce 
the desirability of a new data center. 

The Carman Road Data Center is an inefficient design. While our estimate of the cost of this 
inefficiency - $100,000 to $200,000 per year – is not enough to by itself justify a new facility, the 
savings over the lifetime of a new data center can offset some of the construction cost. The 
sooner these benefits could be realized, the greater the payback. 
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There also is the value to the NYISO in developing “green”, or at least “greener”, facilities. Other 
organizations such as Syracuse University, have constructed energy efficient data centers. 
Syracuse has constructed a data center that operates with effectively no power from the 
electricity grid (http://www.syr.edu/greendatacenter). While operating off the grid may not be 
realistic for the NYISO, positioning the company as environmentally proactive is appropriate for 
this day and age. 

Finally, the near-term plans for the IT infrastructure reinforce our findings. The NYISO refreshes 
the IT infrastructure over multi-year cycles, targeted at three years. Four projects now underway 
could benefit from installation directly into a new data center (as opposed to installation into the 
existing center and subsequent movement to a new center): 

• Replacement of the current-generation Ranger servers. 

• Replacement of the tape silo data backup system. 

• Replacement of the backbone networking hardware. 

• Inclusion of systems associated with the DOE Smart Grid project. 

The benefits, although not quantified as part of this report, would include reduced costs (labor 
and shorter project cycles) by avoiding the work to relocate the new hardware from the existing 
center to the new center and reduced risk of outages for the same reason. 

As found in the Carman Road Data Center report, while we cannot declare the state of the 
Carman Road Data Center to be in crisis, we fully support a decision to begin construction of a 
new data center. We believe a greater benefit will be realized the sooner this activity is started, 
in terms of realizing operating cost benefits, avoiding the stranded cost of partial solutions, and 
earlier mitigation of the risks endemic to the design compromises in the existing data center. 
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7. Analysis of Alternatives 

As described throughout this report, both the Carman Road Control Center and the Krey Blvd 
Control Center have shortcomings in their layout, infrastructure, and their capacity to 
accommodate the expected new functionality and additional operating staff required to 
implement the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities. The most pressing issues with the existing 
control centers are the space constraints at the Krey Center, the out-of-date wall displays at the 
Carman Road Control Center, and the aging infrastructure at Carman Road. As concluded in 
another study (and summarized in this report), the Carman Road Data Center should also be 
redeveloped. 

The constraints imposed by the conditions of the facilities at the Carman Road Control Center 
and the Krey Blvd Control Center and the requirements for reliable operations limit the effective 
alternatives: 

• The NYISO can only operate from a single center (while the other center is planned out 
of service) for a limited time – no more than a few hours. 

• The needed renovations at Carman Road are extensive and, depending on the 
approach, the construction schedule could extend 24 to 36 months. During this 
construction time, the center may not be available for operation as a primary or 
alternative center for a significant period. 

• The adequacy of the Krey Blvd Control Center to support operations over a long term 
will lessen over time as the control room staffing increases. Current staff planning would 
at least reach, if not exceed, the design capacity of the Krey Center within the next 
calendar year. 

• The Krey Blvd Control Center cannot be meaningfully expanded due to the building 
design and construction. 

The constraints clearly mandate development of an interim alternate control center during the 
renovation of the Carman Road Control Center. This center would need all of the current 
operational capabilities of the Carman Road Control Center to maintain compliance with FERC 
and NERC requirements. Establishing this control center will be no small task. Even with the 
construction of an adequate temporary alternate control center, the adequacy of the Krey 
Control Center for use as a primary control center over a long construction period is 
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questionable. Furthermore, a temporary alternate control center would be without long-term 
value. For all these reasons, we do not recommend this alternative. 

If a third control center must be developed during renovation of Carman Road, we recommend 
construction of a permanent facility. Developing a new center on the Krey Blvd campus has 
several benefits beyond addressing the shortcomings of the existing centers: 

• The new center can be designed with capacity for the known staff complement and for 
growth beyond that size. 

• The technology and arrangement of consoles and wall displays can be rethought, 
enhancing situational awareness. 

• Assuming that Krey Blvd would become the primary site, staff time travelling between 
corporate headquarters and the primary control center would be eliminated. Locating the 
primary control center on the campus would bring the key operating staff more fully into 
the NYISO corporate culture. 

• Under the same assumption, the Carman Road Control Center could be redeveloped 
into the alternative site – a role more commensurate with its remote location. 

• Location of the primary control center at the Krey Blvd site makes it immediately 
accessible to senior management during power system upsets. 

• The eventual decommissioning of the current Krey Blvd Control Center would free up 
valuable office space. 

A cost study of a new control center is being prepared by Energy Initiatives Group, LLC. 
Preliminary analysis from the current draft of that report shows a cost benefit to the 
development of a new control center on the Krey Blvd campus and redevelopment of the 
Carman Road Control Center as an alternate control center – the same plan recommended by 
KEMA. This Control Center Needs Assessment Study report will be updated when a final cost 
report is available. 
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8. Summary and Recommendation 

The NYISO has realized full value from the Carman Road Control Center. Over its forty-year life 
the Carman Road Control Center has been expanded, augmented, and renovated as needs and 
technology have changed. The Carman Road and Krey Blvd Control Centers have together 
enabled the NYISO to perform its operating responsibilities and meet reliability requirements. 
However, NYISO’s ability to implement the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities will be at risk 
without replacement or expansion of the existing control centers to provide for additional staff 
and enhanced situational awareness. 

KEMA has examined alternatives for redeveloping the control centers to provide for the 
additional staffing and technology required to maintain the reliable and efficient operation of the 
power grid in New York State and the administration of the wholesale electricity markets. For 
the reasons set forth in Section 7, KEMA recommends that the NYISO construct a new Primary 
Control Center at Krey Boulevard, and convert the Carman Road Control Center into a viable 
and sustainable alternate control center. 

KEMA also recommends that, if the NYISO accepts this recommendation, it should initiate 
planning and construction as soon as practicable, as the work on the control centers, estimated 
to take  24 to 36 months, must be complete before the staff and technology requirements to 
support the Expanded NYISO Responsibilities exceed the capabilities and capacity of the 
existing facilities. 
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1. Executive Summary 
 
The New York Independent System Operator (the “NYISO”) operates the bulk power system 
and administers the wholesale electricity markets in New York.  The NYISO’s primary 
control center is located on Carman Road, and the alternate control center is located on Krey 
Boulevard.  While the control centers are sufficient to allow the NYISO to meet its existing 
responsibilities, the NYISO has identified a number of additional responsibilities that it will 
be required to perform in the next one to four years that will require new technology and 
additional operations staff at its control centers.  The NYISO’s ability to meet these 
additional responsibilities could be compromised if the current control centers are not 
upgraded.  The NYISO is currently comparing the costs and benefits of several alternatives 
for upgrading its control centers that will enable it to meet future responsibilities. 
 
The NYISO has engaged the Energy Initiatives Group, LLC (“EIG”) to conduct a cost-
benefit analysis of the proposed alternatives and to determine which alternative is the most 
cost-effective approach for upgrading the NYISO’s control centers.  EIG has reviewed the 
alternatives proposed by the NYISO, including the modified alternative proposed by 
stakeholders.  EIG has reviewed the NYISO’s underlying assumptions and calculated the net 
present value of the costs of the alternatives. A benchmark survey was also conducted of the 
NYISO’s neighboring control centers to compare costs of construction and facility assets. 
 
Based on its analysis, EIG recommends that the NYISO proceed with its Alternative 3.  
Alternative 3 encompasses the construction of a new primary control center at Krey 
Boulevard and the redevelopment of the existing control center at Carman Road to serve as 
the alternate control center.  Of the proposed alternatives, Alternative 3 will best allow the 
NYISO to incorporate the Broader Regional Market Initiatives, which are estimated to yield 
approximately $358 million dollars in efficiencies across the markets administered by the 
participating ISO/RTOs.   Approximately $200 million dollars of this total will come from 
transactions on the interfaces of the New York Control Area, translating into significant 
savings in New York wholesale electric prices.   
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2. Introduction 
   
The NYISO is responsible for providing for the long-term, reliable operation of the bulk 
power grid in New York.  The NYISO has identified a number of additional responsibilities 
that the NYISO will be required to perform in the next one to four years that will require new 
technology and additional operations staff at its control centers.  The NYISO’s ability to 
meet these future responsibilities could be compromised if the current control centers are not 
upgraded.  The NYISO is currently examining several alternatives for upgrading its control 
centers to enable it to satisfy additional responsibilities.  The NYISO has requested and 
received feedback from various stakeholders regarding these alternatives, including a request 
from stakeholders that the NYISO obtain an independent cost-benefit analysis.  
 
The NYISO has engaged EIG to perform an independent analysis for the cost and benefit 
comparison of the two alternatives the NYISO has developed for upgrading its control 
centers as well as the modified alternative proposed by stakeholders.  EIG’s analysis included 
an independent review of the underlying need and cost comparison of the various 
alternatives.  This report is intended to provide independent information for consideration by 
NYISO staff, stakeholders, and regulators. 
 
2.1 Scope and Approach 
 
In conducting its review, EIG performed the following tasks: 
 

• Reviewed the following alternatives, previously identified by the NYISO:   
o Alternative 2: expand the existing control center at Carman Road 
o Alternative 3: build a new control center at the Krey Boulevard campus 
o Alternative 2A: expand the existing control center at Carman Road and add 

trailers and associated upgrades at the Krey Boulevard campus to house 
support staff when needed to operate at ACC. 

 
• Reviewed the following for design alternatives 2 and 3: 

o Assumptions 
o Cost Estimates 
o Supporting Documentation. 

 
• Toured the NYISO’s facilities for background support for alternatives 2 and 3. 

 
• Offered an opinion as to the accuracy of the NYISO’s analysis. 

 
•  Reviewed stakeholders’ modified proposal for an alternative, low-tech option 

(Alternative 2A).  This review specifically included consideration of whether during a 
long-term emergency, temporary office structures could be procured, installed, and 
occupied such that back-up operations could be managed without incurring the higher 
costs of building out office space. 

o Reviewed Alternative 2A in terms of: 
 Costs 
 Risks 
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 Practical Feasibility. 
 

• Considered the age and condition of existing infrastructure. 
• Benchmark neighboring control centers. 
• Prepared a final report of findings and recommendations. 

 
In addition, in performing these tasks, EIG considered the following factors:  
 

• Operational efficiencies which could be achieved by consolidating onto a single 
campus.  

o Reviewed and analyzed identified opportunities 
o Provided a net present costs recommendation as to the most cost effective 

approach to meet these reliability needs.   
 

• Anticipated functional requirements of control center due to industry changes that 
will require control center expansion such as: 

o Increased situational awareness and presentation to operators 
o Requirement changes due to future Bulk Electric System (“BES”) definition 

expansion by NERC 
o Broader Regional Markets coordination 
o Increased operation coordination between NYISO and neighboring 

ISO/RTOs. 
      
2.2 Background 
 
The NYISO has identified a number of additional responsibilities that it will be required to 
perform in the next one to four years and that will require new technology and additional 
operator staff at its control centers.  The expanded NYISO responsibilities cover areas such 
as potentially expanded NERC standards, reliability and market additions, and new 
situational awareness tools.  For example: 
 

1. Broader Regional Markets (“BRM”),  which will require intra-hour transaction 
scheduling, loop flow, and congestion management 

2. Situational awareness tools, including phasor measurement units and wide-area 
displays to increase the NYISO’s readiness to integrate alternative supply 
resources such as demand response, PHEV, flywheels, battery storage, and other 
limited energy storage resources 

3. Management of increasing levels of renewable resources 
4. Evolving and more stringent NERC Critical Infrastructure Protection (“CIP”) 

standards 
5. Expanded definitions of the Bulk Power System by FERC and subsequent 

additional responsibilities under NERC. 
 
When these expanded NYISO responsibilities develop, the NYISO must take action to 
expand the existing control room and update technology.  The NYISO has explored various 
options to update their facilities to meet future expanding demands and to correct identified 
deficiencies. 
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2.3 Methodology 
 
The study started with a physical tour of both facilities at Krey Boulevard and at Carman 
Road. The tour revealed issues regarding asset conditions, replacement needs, and space 
requirements to accommodate future growth to a maximum of 133 staff positions required 
for control room and operational support tasks. These functions include the following: 
 

• Operations 
• Grid Operations 
• Operator Training 
• Reliability  & Compliance 
• Auxiliary Market Operations 
• TCC Market Operations 
• Energy Market Operations 
• Commitment Analysis 
• Scheduling Supervisor 
• Price Validation 
• Power System Application Engineering 
• Operations Analysis 
• Information Technology 
• Facilities 
• Human Resources. 

 
Additionally, discussion was held regarding the proximity of outage coordinators with 
control room staff, situational awareness and non-compliance risk, and requirements related 
to implementation of Broader Regional Markets starting in 2011, with full implementation by 
2013, and smart grid projects currently being implemented by transmission owners. Also, 
EIG considered the anticipated change by the FERC to expand the definition of the Bulk 
Power System and subsequent requirements imposed on the NYISO’s control centers.  
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3. Analysis of Proposed Alternatives 
 
The existing primary control center (the “PCC”) at Carman Road is an aging facility built in 
1969 to support the New York Power Pool (“NYPP”).  The NYISO inherited the control 
room at Carman Road from the NYPP when the NYISO was formed.  Various infrastructure 
repairs and needed upgrades were identified by the NYISO in recent years.  However, the 
NYISO deferred the work due to an inability to obtain financing in 2008 and 2009 and used 
the time to relook at all the alternatives and emerging work load.  In addition, control room 
technology, such as the static tiled mapboard, has not been significantly updated in 40 years. 
 
When the PCC was initially constructed, its designers could not envision how power system 
operation would function in today’s complex market environment, and the control center 
does not accommodate the tools now required by system operators to reliably operate the 
power system.     
 
The NYISO is proceeding with certain enhancements and improvements at the Carman Road 
PCC that would be compatible with any of the potential expansion items under consideration. 
 
The existing alternate control center (the “ACC”) at Krey Boulevard is located in a recently 
renovated facility.  However, the space is limited for expansion of operator console positions 
and the existing video wallboard has limited functionality due to the room’s size and ceiling 
height.  The video wallboard cannot display all of the information required by the operators 
for a high-level overview of the New York Control Area (“NYCA”).  Additionally, as the 
new Phasor Measurement Unit (“PMU”) Project is implemented as part of the DOE Smart 
Grid project, adequate space will not be available for presenting this information on the video 
wallboard with other related NYCA information.  The ACC is supplied by a single 
distribution feeder and a single generator backup for critical load.  For extended operation of 
the ACC, a diversely-routed second distribution feeder should be considered and installed.  
 
EIG reviewed and compared the costs and underlying assumptions of the three alternatives, 
taking into consideration certain benefits expected from the proposed upgrades. 
 
3.1 Alternative Overview 
 
3.1.A Alternative 2: 
 
This option includes the following: 
  

1.  Renovate the Carman Road facility to house an expanded PCC and new data center 
2.  Update the Krey Boulevard building infrastructure to support greater redundancy for 

commercial and emergency power. 
 
3.1.B Alternative 3: 
 
This option includes the following: 
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1. New addition at Krey Boulevard site to house an expanded PCC and office space for 
operations support staff. 

2. Update the Krey Boulevard building infrastructure to support greater redundancy for 
commercial and emergency power  

3. Renovate the Carman Road facility to house a new data center, upgrade the 
emergency generators, and remediate aging facilities  

 
3.1.C Alternative 2A: 
 
   This option includes the following: 
  

1. Renovate the Carman Road facility to house an expanded PCC and new data center 
2. Expand the Krey Boulevard facility to house a minimal ACC 
3. Update the Krey Boulevard building infrastructure to support greater redundancy for 

commercial and emergency power 
4. Provide low-tech building options located at Krey Boulevard for operations support 

staff when operating in extended ACC mode when needed 
 
3.2 Alternative Details 
 
3.2.A Alternative 2 Details 
 
The Carman Road PCC can be expanded to accommodate the total of seven operating 
positions immediately required, and up to ten total operating positions to accommodate 
future growth envisioned by the NYISO.  However, expanding beyond those ten positions 
would involve significant brick and mortar modifications since the control room is built out 
to existing exterior walls.   
 
The PCC expansion would accommodate a potential increase in the work load of the 
Reliability Coordinator function due to an expanded definition of the Bulk Power System.   
 
The existing ACC at Krey Boulevard is, however, currently limited to seven operating 
positions, and the existing video wallboard is limited in its situational awareness 
functionality, both due to the room’s size and the ceiling height.  The video wallboard cannot 
display all of the information required by the operator for high level overview of the NYCA, 
much less neighboring control areas with which NYISO has joint operating agreements.  
 
Under this alternative, there is no provision made for housing the approximately 75 operation 
staff at the ACC necessary for extended operation.   
  
While the renovated PCC would accommodate the need for increased situational awareness 
and smart grid functions on the video wallboard, the existing ACC could not accommodate 
the increased functions due to the limited size of the board.  In addition, the ACC facility 
cannot be expanded to allow the increase of operator positions, from the seven immediately 
required, to up to ten that may be needed to handle future, potential expanded NYISO 
responsibilities. 
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As a result of these findings, Alternative 2 was found not to be a viable option and no further 
evaluation of this alternative was conducted. 
 
3.2.B Alternative 3 Details 
 
The new Krey Boulevard PCC would be built initially for up to ten operating positions that 
would address short term needs (two to three additional operating positions) and 
accommodate potential long term needs, as envisioned by NYISO.  Expansion beyond those 
ten positions would be possible since renovations would involve sheetrock walls rather than 
exterior building walls.   
 
The PCC and ACC could accommodate the potential increase in work load of the Reliability 
Coordinator function due to an expanded definition of the Bulk Power System. 
 
Under this alternative, the existing Carman Road facility becomes the ACC.  It has five 
operating positions currently, with the capability to expand  to ten positions.  The static 
mapboard would remain and additional large video screens would be added around the side 
perimeters of the room for increased situational awareness.  However, the static mapboard 
does not lend itself to increased situational awareness.  This site also has the ability to be 
renovated at a future time to replace the static mapboard with a video wallboard and to 
reposition the operator consoles to accommodate up to ten operator positions. 
 
When the ACC at Carman Road is required to be operational for extended periods (greater 
than two weeks), the operations support staff would be housed in existing conference rooms 
and the old data center area.    
 
Under this alternative, both the PCC and ACC could accommodate the need for increased 
situational analysis and smart grid functions on the PCC video wallboard and ACC large 
video screens.    
 
Both the PCC and ACC could accommodate the need for implementation of Broader 
Regional Markets with the ten operator consoles positions. 
 
Working with NYISO, the cost estimate for this alternative is $48.9 million.  See Table 2 in 
the cost analysis section for a summary of the cost components. 
 
Under this alternative, the NYISO has identified gains in internal operational efficiencies by 
consolidating NYISO functions on a single campus.  These efficiencies are estimated to be 
approximately $0.7 million dollars per year beginning in year four of the project.  These 
savings result from full time equivalent (“FTE”) employee reductions of a physical security 
shift ($0.2 M) and other staff ($0.5 M). 
 
Additionally, based on the KEMA data center study, there are approximately $0.15 M in 
energy savings per year once the Carman Road data center is in operation and the old data 
center is retired. These savings would begin in year three of the project.  
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3.2.C Alternative 2A Details  
 
The Carman Road PCC would be expanded to accommodate up to ten operating positions 
necessary for the Broader Regional Markets initiative and additional expanded 
responsibilities.  However, expanding beyond those ten positions would involve significant 
brick and mortar modifications since the control room is build out to existing exterior walls.   
 
The existing ACC at Krey Boulevard would be relocated to a new 15,000 square foot 
addition to the existing building.  This addition would only house the control room and a new 
video wallboard similar to the PCC.  Future expansion of the ACC may not be viable since it 
would be built out to exterior walls.  
 
The PCC and ACC could accommodate potential increases in work load of the Reliability 
Coordinator function due to an expanded definition of the Bulk Power System. 
 
This plan includes provision for housing approximately 75 operations staff personnel at the 
ACC at Krey Boulevard in temporary trailers for extended operation.    
 
The PCC and ACC could accommodate the need for increased situational awareness and 
smart grid functions on the video wallboards   
 
Under this alternative, both the PCC and ACC could accommodate the implementation of 
Broader Regional Markets and additional expanded responsibilities with increased console 
space for seven to ten positions. 
  
Working with NYISO, EIG has developed cost estimates for this alternative.  The cost 
estimate for this alternative is $56.2 million.  See Table 3 in the cost analysis section for a 
summary of the cost components. 
 
In this alternative, based on the KEMA data center study, there are approximately $0.15 M in 
energy savings per year once the Carman Road data center is in operation and the old data 
center is retired.  These savings begin in year three of the project. 
 
3.3 Summary of Alternatives 
 
Table 1 presented below summarizes the advantages and disadvantages of the three options. 
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Table 1: Summary of Advantages and Disadvantages 
 

 

Do Nothing 
(But 

Immediate 
Repairs) 

Alternative 2 

Expand Carman 
Road (PCC)Krey 

(ACC) 

Alternative 
3 New Krey 

PCC and 
Carman as 

ACC 

Alternative 
2A 

Addresses Immediate 
Infrastructure conditions Yes  Yes Yes  Yes  

Complies w/Regulatory 
Requirements:  

    

-Today Yes  Yes Yes  Yes 
-Potential expansion to 

100kv  No  High Risk for ACC Yes  Yes  

Accommodates Smart 
Grid No  Not for ACC Yes  Yes  

Increase Situational 
Awareness No  Not for ACC Yes  Yes  

Accommodates future 
Expansion No  No Yes  No 

Increased Coordination 
with Neighboring ISO No  No Yes  Yes 

Accommodates BRM 
with Financial Benefits No  High Risk for ACC Yes Yes 

 Cost estimate Not  Viable Not Viable $48.9 M $56.2 M 
Operational Efficiencies 
(Savings)   $0.85 M/yr 

after Year 3 

$0.15 M 
/yr after 
year 2 
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4. Cost Comparison Analysis  
 
Tables 2 and 3 (Section 4.1) depict the base costs and necessary cash flow for Alternative 2A 
and 3 and the years in which investments are made at each facility. 
 
Tables 4 and 5 (Section 4.2) represent the cash flows for the projects as well as the efficiency 
savings, energy savings and the net present costs of each project out through 2021. 
 
Chart 1 shows the cumulative net present costs of the project through 2021. 
 
In this analysis a discount rate of 7% was assumed and an escalation factor of 3% for 
salaries.  
 
The result from this analysis and findings shows that Alternative 3 is the most economic 
plan.  It positions the NYISO to meet its expanded responsibilities for the future and gives 
the NYISO options for growth.   
 
4.1 Summary of Base Costs of Proposed Alternatives 
 
Table 2: Alternative 2A Base Costs  
 

Carman Road Primary Option – Alternative 2A

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total

Carman Road Data Center / Generators 10.9 2.5 13.4

Carman Road Temp Backup Control Room and 
Krey Blvd Backup Control Room - Design

1.2 1.2

Krey Blvd. Backup Control Room 4.0 11.0 15.0

Carman Road Temp Backup Control Room 3.0 3.0

Carman Road Control Room - Design 1.2 1.2

Carman Road Control Room 12.0 8.5 20.5

End-state Office Retrofit 1.0 1.0

Temp Office Trailers/Services and Site Security 
(at Krey Blvd.)

.9 .9

Annual Sub-Totals: 12.1 6.5 15.2 12.0 9.4 1.0 $56.2M
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Table 3: Alternative 3 Base Costs 
 

Krey Blvd. Primary Option – Alternative 3

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total

Carman Road Data Center / Generators 10.9 2.5 13.4
Krey Blvd. Control Room Design 1.2 1.2
Krey Blvd. Construction 17.0 17.3 34.3

Annual Sub-Totals: 12.1 19.5 17.3 $48.9M
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4.2 Analysis of the Net Present Costs 
 
A net present costs (“NPC”) analysis was performed comparing Alternative 3 and 2A to 
determine which alternative was the most economic plan. The analysis included the data and 
control center modification costs as well as the energy and staff efficiency savings.   
 
The results of this analysis, indicates that Alternative 3 is the most economic plan. These 
results are shown in Tables 4 and 5 and Chart 1. 
 
Table 4: Krey Boulevard. Alternative 3 NPC Analysis 
 
 

Krey Boulevard Primary Option – Alternative 3
Net Present Cost

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total

Project Costs 12.1 19.5 17.3 48.9

Energy 
Savings

0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 1.4

Efficiency 
Savings

0.7 0.73 0.74 0.77 0.79 0.81 0.84 0.61 6.2

Annual Sub-
Totals:

12.1 19.5 17.2 -0.9 -0.9 -0.9 -0.9 -0.9 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 $41.3

Present Cost 12.1 18.2 15.0 -0.7 -0.7 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.5 -0.5

Net Present 
Cost

12.1 30.3 45.3 44.6 44.0 43.3 42.7 42.1 41.6 41.0 40.5 $40.5
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Table 5: Carman Road Alternative 2A NPC Analysis 
 
 

Carman Road Primary Option – Alternative 2A
Net Present Cost

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total

Project Costs 12.1 6.5 12.5 15.2 12.0 9.4 1.0 56.2

Energy 
Savings

0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 1.35

Annual Sub-
Totals:

12.1 6.5 15.1 11.9 9.3 0.85 -0.15 -0.15 -0.15 -0.15 -0.15 $54.85

Present Cost 12.1 6.07 13.14 9.67 7.06 0.61 -0.09 -0.09 -.09 -.08 -.08

Net Present 
Cost

12.1 18.2 31.3 41.0 48.0 48.7 48.6 48.5 48.4 48.3 48.2 $48.2
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Chart 1: Net Present Costs of Alternatives 2A & 3 
 

 
 
 
4.3 Analysis of the Net Present Costs of Alternative 3 with BRM Impacts: 
Costs Offset by Savings 
 
An additional NPC analysis was performed for Alternative 3.  This analysis presents the 
impacts of the project if the Broader Regional Markets is implemented in the NYCA. 
 
Additional project costs were included for the required market design and software 
development cost and the costs of additional 6 FTEs required to support operations.  These 
additional costs were taken from the NYISO Budget & Priorities Working Group 
presentation dated September 24, 2010.  
 
As mentioned earlier in the report, when Broader Regional Markets are implemented, 
approximately $200 million dollars in savings across New York interfaces can be achieved as 
identified in the presentation titled “Analysis of the Broader Regional Market Initiatives” 
presented on September 27, 2010 by David D. Patton, Ph.D. of Potomac Economics.  This 
presentation was made to the Joint NYISO-IESO-MISO-PJM Stakeholder Technical 
Conference on Broader Regional Markets. 
 
Rather than considering the full $200 million dollars in savings, the analysis performed 
assumed a very conservative savings of $50 million dollars in the first year of 
implementation in 2013 and $100 million dollars per year thereafter beginning in 2014. 
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With the implementation of Broader Regional Markets, this analysis shows a positive cash 
flow with savings considered beginning in 2013 or 2014.  
 
Table 5 and Chart 2 depict the cash flows, savings and NPC of Broader Regional Markets 
savings of $100M/year impacts to Alternative 3. 
 
A sensitivity analysis was performed to compare the full BRM $200 million dollars per year 
in savings as outlined in the Patton report as compared to the conservative savings of $100 
million dollars per year.  For this sensitivity $100 million dollars was assumed in the first 
year of implementation in 2013 and $200 million dollars per year thereafter beginning in 
2014.  Based on this analysis a positive NPC for the $200M/year BRM savings would occur 
in 33 months as compared to 37 months in the $100M/year BRM Savings. 
 
Table 6 depicts the cash flows, savings and NPC of Broader Regional Markets savings of 
$200M/year impact to Alternative 3. 
 
Chart 3 depicts the comparison between the Broader Region Markets savings of $100 million 
dollars per year and $200 million dollars per year. 
 
Chart 4 depicts the comparison of the positive NPC time frame for the Broader Region 
Markets savings of $100 million dollars per year and $200 million dollars per year. 
 
Table 5: Krey Boulevard Alternative 3 NPC Analysis with BRM Impacts 
 

Krey Boulevard Primary Option – Alternative 3
Net Present Cost Includes BRM Cost & Savings 

(BRM $100M Savings Alternative)
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total

Project Costs 15.1 22.5 20.4 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.3 67.7

Project 
Savings

50 101 101 101 101 101 101 102 102 860

Annual 
Totals: 
(Savings –
Costs)

-15.1 -22.5 29.8 99.8 99.8 99.7 99.7 99.7 99.7 100.3 100.9 792.3

Present Cost -15.1 -21 26 81 76 71 66 62 58 55 51

Net Present 
Cost

-15.1 -36 -10 71 147 218 285 347 405 460 511 $511
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Chart 2: Net Present Costs of Alternatives 3 with BRM ($100M/yr Savings) 
Implemented 
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Table 6: Alternative 3 with Comparison of BRM Implementation with $100M/yr and 
$200M/yr in Savings 
 

Krey Boulevard Primary Option – Alternative 3
Net Present Cost Includes BRM Cost & Savings 

(BRM $200M Savings Alternative)
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total

Project Costs 15.1 22.5 20.4 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.3 67.7

Project 
Savings

100 201 201 201 201 201 201 202 202 1708

Annual 
Totals: 
(Savings –
Costs)

-15.1 -22.5 80 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 1642

Present Cost -15.1 -21 70 163 152 142 133 124 116 109 102

Net Present 
Cost

-15.1 -36 34 197 349 491 624 749 865 974 1075 1075
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Chart 3: Alternative 3 with Comparison of BRM Implementation with $100M/yr and 
$200M/yr in Savings 
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Chart 4: Positive NPC Comparison of BRM with $100M/yr Savings and $200M/yr 
Savings 
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5. Benchmarking Analysis 
EIG conducted surveys of representative ISO, RTO and TO control centers neighboring the 
NYSIO footprint to determine best practices for a bulk power control centers. The surveys 
initially revealed that each of these companies have either gone through recent renovations or 
were planning for upgrades in the near future, of their Primary and/or Alternate Control 
Centers.  Some of these companies have elaborate Alternate Control Centers (ACC) and 
others have minimal facilities as a backup.  The companies that have minimal ACC facilities 
recognize that they will have to upgrade these facilities, in the near future, to meet emerging 
markets and additional responsibilities.  
For security purposes, the surveyed companies are referenced as Companies A, B, C, and D. 
 
Company A   
Company A moved into their newly constructed Primary Control Center (PCC) in 2007.  
This new center consisted   of a new three story building that houses the Control Center, data 
center and support staff and renovation of their existing building. These buildings are 
powered by two diversely routed distribution feeders fed from diverse substation. They have 
two uninterruptable power supplies (UPS’s), and two emergency generators. The second 
floor, of the new building, contains the control room and houses the operations support staff 
(outage planning, day ahead market, short term market, etc). Operations support staff (market 
service, transmission planning, market development, customer service, etc) are located in 
offices on the third floor of the new building. Additional support staff, (human resources, 
legal, settlements, communication group, etc) are located in the refurbished building.  The 
data center, UPS’s, and IT are located on the first floor of the new building. The new 
building is approximately 100,000 square feet in size.  The project cost for construction and 
renovation was approximately $49.5 million dollars including required IT infrastructure.  
The control room has eight operator positions.  Seven are staffed 24x7 and one is a spare.       
Company A believes their present configuration is adequate to accommodate their expected 
future responsibilities.  They mentioned their consoles would have to be redesigned if they 
required additional operator staff in the control room beyond the existing 8 positions.      
The primary control center has a video wall board is three cubes high by nine cubes wide.  
Expansion capability exists to add three cubes to each end of the wall board if required for 
future situational awareness functionality.   An evaluation process is being undertaken to 
explore new technology for a video wall replacement  
Company A’s Alternate Control Center (ACC) is located within an hour from its PCC.   The 
ACC is only sized for the   operators and operations support staff (outage coordinators, day 
ahead market, engineering staff that support control room).  There is no video wall system at 
this facility.  Their back up data center is also located in the facility. They feel that this 
facility meets their short term (one week) work load requirements, but they would need a 
more permanent facility for extended operations (longer than a week).  
 Security at the PCC and ACC consist of fences surrounding the facilities, surveillance 
cameras, card key readers and guards at the gates.   
 
Company B  
Company B’s Primary Control Center (PCC) was built in 1969 and has been renovated 
several times since. This facility has a total of 45000 square feet of space.   They have 18000 
square feet of office space above ground, which houses support staff.  This building is 
powered by two diversely routed distribution feeders supplied from diverse substation. There 
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are two UPS’s, and two emergency generators. The data center is also located in this 
building.  
The control room   is 6800 square feet and was last renovated in 2009 at a cost of $2.5 
million dollars ($368/SF) which included only fixtures and furniture.  It did not include IT 
infrastructure upgrades nor HVAC related work.    The control room has nine operator 
positions. Six are staffed 24x7 and three are spares.    Seven additional positions are used by 
operational support staff.  The control room has multiple a video walls. One used for 
transmission dispatch which is 4 cubes high by 14 cubes wide, one for generation dispatch 
which is three cubes high by five cubes high and one for operations support which is two 
cubes high by four cubes wide.  Expansion is limited to due to the construction of the area is 
below grade.     
Company B’s Alternate Control Center (ACC) is located within an hour from its PCC.  The 
ACC is comprised of multiple buildings.  One contains their backup data center and the other 
houses the control room.  Combined, the two buildings are 50,000 square feet. As with the 
PCC, this facility is supplied by two diversely routed distribution feeders supplied from 
diverse substation. There are two UPS’s, and two emergency generators.   Originally built in 
late 1960’s, this facility was renovated in 2007 at a cost of $34 Million dollars ($680/SF).  
The ACC control room has nine operator positions and seven additional positions for support 
staff.  The ACC is designed to mimic the PCC in function, layout and tools (consoles, video 
walls, phones systems, etc) so that the operators can continue to perform their 
responsibilities.    This facility also contains a twenty position operator training center and a 
separate room with eighty LAN positions, both of which would be used by support staff.  
Security at the PCC and ACC, consist of fences surrounding the facilities, surveillance 
cameras, card key readers, biometrics, and guards at the gates. The biometrics uses finger 
prints and card key combination. They have plans to add man traps in the future.  
 
 
Company C   
Company C has just completed building a new Primary Control Center which consisted of 
the refurbishing of an existing building and the construction of an addition to house the 
control center.  This new facility is 48000 square feet and was completed at a cost of 
approximately $30 million dollars ($625/SF).  
The building is supplied by two diversely routed distribution feeders fed from diverse 
substations.  There are two UPS’s, and two emergency generators. The data center is also 
located in this facility. Communication facilities are also diversely routed into the building.  
The control room has eight operator positions. Four are staffed during the day shift, while 
three are staffed during the night shift and the remaining positions are spares. There is a 
video wall that is four cubes high and twelve 12 cubes wide.   
Support staff is located within the vicinity of the control room.  
Company C’s ACC is located within an hour from its PCC.   It consists of an open room with 
operator consoles Projection screens are used in lieu of video wallboards.   The ACC space is 
limited. The facility is capable of handling the operators and operational support staff.  At the 
present their ACC is not large enough for them to conduct business for an extended period of 
time. The facility is supplied by two diversely routed distribution feeders supplied from 
diverse substations. There are two UPS’s, and two emergency generators. The ACC also 
contains the backup data center. 
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Security at the PCC consists of fences surrounding the facilities, surveillance cameras, card 
key readers, biometrics, man traps and guards at the gates. The biometrics uses finger prints 
and card key combination.  
  
Company D  
Company D has just completed renovation to an existing building to house their Primary 
Control Center.   
The building is supplied by two diversely routed distribution feeders fed from diverse 
substations.  There are two UPS’s, and two emergency generators. The data center is also 
located in this facility.    
The control room has eight operator positions. Three are staffed 24x7 and five are spares. 
There is a video wall that is two cubes high and twelve 12 cubes wide.   
Support staff is located within the vicinity of the control room.  
Company D’s Alternate Control Center is located within an hour from its PCC.   It consists 
of an open room with operator consoles. No video wall or projection screens are used.   The 
ACC space is limited. The facility is capable of handling the operators and operational 
support staff.    The facility is supplied by two diversely routed distribution feeders supplied 
from a single substation. There is one UPS, and emergency generator. The ACC also 
contains the backup data center for the control room only. 
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 Benchmarking  Summary 
 

 Company 
A 

Company B Company 
C 

Company 
D 

Primary Control Center     
Year Built/ Renovated 2007 2009 NA 2010 
Size of Facility in Square Feet 100,000 50,000 48,000 N/A 
Cost of Construction $49.5M $34 M $30 M N/A 
Cost per Square Foot $495 $680 $625 N/A 
Dual feeders separate sources Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Primary & Backup UPS Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Primary & Backup Emergency Generators Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Data Center Located in Primary Facility Yes Yes Yes Yes 
  Console Positions  /Spare 8/1 9/3 8/3 8/5 
Video Wallboard Yes Yes Yes Yes 
 Facility Meets Long Term Needs Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Alternate Control Center     
Dual feeders separate sources Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Primary & Backup UPS Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Primary & Backup Emergency Generators Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Backup Data Center Located in Alternate 
Facility 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Facility Design with Operator Positions/ 
number of positions 

No/room 
with desks 

Yes/9 No/room 
with desks 

Yes/3 

Display Wall No Yes No No 
Facility Accommodates Operational Support 
Staff 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Accommodates Non Operational Support 
Staff 

No Yes No No 

Facility Meets Long Term Needs No Yes No Yes 
Security:     
    Fences/Barriers PCC/ACC PCC/ACC PCC/ACC PCC/ACC 
    Card Keys PCC/ACC PCC/ACC PCC/ACC PCC/ACC 
    Surveillance Cameras  PCC/ACC PCC/ACC PCC/ACC PCC/ACC 
    Biometrics No PCC/ACC PCC/ACC No 
    Man Traps No No PCC/ACC No 
    Security Guard PCC/ACC PCC/ACC PCC/ACC PCC 

 
Benchmark Conclusion 
 
The benchmark survey indicates that NYISO’s plan to update their Primary and Alternate 
Control Center facilities is in line with the neighboring control centers efforts to update their 
facilities. The survey also indicates that NYISO’s construction cost per square foot estimate 
is comparable to the neighboring control center’s costs.  
Although, Companies A and C’s Alternate Control Center facilities does not meet their future 
needs they are aware that they will have to upgrade these facilities in the near future. 
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6. Conclusions and Recommendations 
  
The NYISO’s Carman Road Primary Control Center (“PCC”) has served the organization 
well over the past forty years of operation.  In addition, the Krey Boulevard Alternate 
Control Center (“ACC”) has met the initial needs of the NYISO.  Today, the NYISO 
recognizes that the age and limitations of the two facilities will not accommodate the 
expanded responsibilities of the NYISO in the near term (one to four year timeframe), and 
that both facilities will require updating to meet their future operating roles.   
 
Examples of these expanded responsibilities are:  
 

1. Broader Regional Markets 
2. Situational awareness tools 
3. Management of increasing levels of renewable resources 
4. Evolving and more stringent NERC CIP standards 
5. Expanded definitions of the Bulk Power System and subsequent additional 

responsibilities as the NERC Reliability Coordinator  
 
With these additional responsibilities in mind, the NYISO has developed options that would 
provide for long-term, reliable, and updated control center facilities to support its future 
reliability and market functions.    
 
In an effort to determine the best facility option that would meet the NYISO’s future 
requirements, the following factors were considered:  
 

1. Functionality and age of present facilities 
2. Facility requirements to sustain future control center responsibilities  
3. Costs  
4. Risk 
5. Long term use of ACC  

 
During the analysis of NYISO’s options it was determined that Alternative 2 was not a viable 
option due to the space constraints of the Krey Boulevard ACC.  This facility will not 
support extended operation nor the future expanded NYISO responsibilities and should be 
removed from further consideration by the NYISO and market participants.  Alternative 2A 
was developed to address the shortcomings of Alternative 2. 
 
Alternative 3 provides NYISO with the foundation, feasibility and infrastructure to support 
its current and expanded responsibilities.  This option gives the NYISO flexibility in present 
day operation and in the future in both the PCC and ACC facilities.  There is also no need for 
additional temporary facilities to be installed at the ACC, since conference rooms and the old 
data center would be available for this use. 
   
The analysis of Alternative 2A indicates that although this option will fulfill the NYISO’s 
present day needs, it will not support future expansion due to limited space.  Temporary 
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office space to house the operation support staff would be installed at Krey Boulevard in the 
event that the Carman Road PCC becomes unavailable for use.  Even though the trailers will 
only be installed on an as-needed basis, the NYISO will have to absorb the yearly cost to 
have them available on a moment’s notice. In addition, the Carman Road location is an aging 
facility that has been modified and adapted to meet the current needs of the NYISO 
 
The results from this analysis and findings shows that Alternative 3 is the most economic 
plan with an NPC of $40.5 M as compared to $48.2 M for Alternative 2A through 2021.  It 
positions the NYISO to meet its expanded responsibilities for the future as well as giving 
options for NYISO to grow.   
 
Based on the analysis above, EIG recommends proceeding with Alternative 3.  Realizing that 
current time lines for implementing the NYISO’s Alternative 2A or 3 are in the 22 – 34 
month range, it is reasonable and prudent that the NYISO proceed with the recommended 
plan as soon as possible.  
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Table of Costs to Ratepayers 
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ESTIMATED IMPACT ON NYISO MARKET PARTICIPANTS 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Over Loan Life

Estimated Annual Debt Service Cost (principal & interest), in $ millions 0.1$           1.0$           2.3$           4.0$           4.1$           

Estimated Rate Schedule 1 MWh Throughput, in millions of MWh * 167.7         169.9         172.3         173.2         174.2         

Equals:  Annual Rate Schedule 1 Impact in $/MWh 0.00$         0.01$         0.01$         0.02$         0.02$         

Times:  Estimated Rate Schedule 1 allocation for net purchasers 75% 75% 75% 75% 75%

Equals:  Estimated Annual Rate Schedule 1 Impact in $/MWh for net purchasers 0.00$       0.00$       0.01$       0.02$       0.02$       Measured in $/MWh

*  Estimated Rate Schedule 1 MWh Throughput for 2011 - 2013 is based on projections updated by NYISO during August 2010.  2014 - 2015 estimated Rate 
   Schedule 1 Throughput was calculated using escalation factors from the 2010 NYISO Gold Book.

ESTIMATED IMPACT ON NY RESIDENTIAL CONSUMERS ** 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Over Loan Life

Average Residential Annual Consumption (wholesale kWh) 7,480         7,480         7,480         7,480         7,480         

Annual Rate Schedule 1 Impact in $/MWh for net purchasers (~75% allocation) 0.00$         0.00$         0.01$         0.02$         0.02$         

Equals:  Estimated Annual Impact on NY Residential Consumers 0.00$       0.03$       0.07$       0.13$       0.13$       2.42$                   Measured in $ 

**  Consumption estimates based on 2009 retail sales figures from the EIA plus estimated distribution losses

ESTIMATED IMPACT ON NY COMMERCIAL & INDUSTRIAL CONSUMERS ** 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Over Loan Life

Average C&I Annual Consumption (wholesale kWh) 90,819       90,819       90,819       90,819       90,819       

Annual Rate Schedule 1 Impact in $/MWh for net purchasers (~75% allocation) 0.00$         0.00$         0.01$         0.02$         0.02$         

Equals:  Estimated Annual Impact on NY Commercial & Industrial Consumers 0.04$       0.40$       0.91$       1.57$       1.60$       29.38$                 Measured in $ 

**  Consumption estimates based on 2009 retail sales figures from the EIA plus estimated distribution losses

NYISO
DEBT SERVICE COSTS FOR PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION FACILITY
ESTIMATED COST IMPACTS TO PARTICIPANTS AND CONSUMERS
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	XI. Affidavit (Mary McGarvey).pdf
	1. I am the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the New York Independent System Operator, Inc. (the “NYISO”).  As such, I am responsible for oversight of all NYISO financial activities, including accounting, financial reporting, budgeting, procurement, credit management, and customer settlements.  Further, I also have responsibility for all NYISO treasury functions including investment of NYISO funds, origination of debt issuances and interest rate hedges, and monitoring of debt covenants.
	2. I have read the foregoing Petition and understand its contents.  In support of the Petition, I hereby attest to the following:
	3. The NYISO is mindful of the present economic climate and of the New York Public Service Commission (“NYPSC” or the “Commission”) directives to jurisdictional companies to prioritize and, where possible, defer expenditures to mitigate financial impacts upon ratepayers.  Nevertheless, it is unavoidable that the NYISO will immediately incur expenditures connected with its control centers in 2011 and beyond.  Because of its 20-year term, the expenditures to be financed through the Proposed Construction Facility (as defined and described in the Petition) will more gradually be passed on to ratepayers than under other possible financing options.  Given the immediate need to expend funds to ameliorate deficiencies at its facilities, the NYISO believes that the short-term rate impacts of the Proposed Construction Facility are consistent with the NYPSC’s recent rulings.
	4. Given the current economic climate, the NYISO has further arranged for the payments to consist of interest only for the first three years of the loan.  Estimated amounts to be charged under Rate Schedule 1 over the next three years under the Proposed Construction Facility would be $100,000 for 2011, $1,000,000 for 2012, and $2,300,000 for 2013, representing less than 0.1%, 1%, and 1.5%, of the NYISO’s Rate Schedule 1 budget for each respective year.  These amounts would, in turn, be allocated among the NYISO’s Market Participants according to Rate Schedule 1.  Approximately 75% of these amounts are borne by load serving entities including the several public utilities subject to the Commission’s retail rate jurisdiction, with the remainder to be paid by other stakeholders.  The table attached to the Petition as Attachment XVI further describes the cost of the Proposed Construction Facility to ratepayers in the State of New York.
	5. The Proposed Construction Facility, therefore, represents a way to gradually phase-in to rates expenditures the NYISO will be required to make to address the needs described herein at both the NYISO’s Carman Road facility (the “Carman Property”) and at its Krey Boulevard facility (the “Krey Property”).
	6. The commercial terms and conditions set forth in the Commitment Letter, attached to the Petition as Attachment I, represent the terms that the NYISO and Berkshire Bank, National Association (“Berkshire”) have agreed to and are representative of those available in the market for comparable loans.  Berkshire is administrative agent for a syndicate of lending banks including, as of the date hereof, The Washington Trust Company and Pioneer Savings Bank, National Association (together with Berkshire, the “Lenders”).  While the NYISO has not yet executed a definitive loan agreement with the Lenders, it has executed a Commitment Letter and anticipates closing on the Proposed Construction Facility on or before August 31, 2011.  The NYISO expects that the material terms and conditions of the definitive loan agreement will be the same as or consistent with those set forth in the Commitment Letter. 
	7. From 2008 through 2010, the NYISO sought, evaluated and negotiated various financing options for the Project with numerous multi-national, regional, community and other financial institutions, most of which are headquartered or contain a significant banking presence within New York State.  When considering financing options to support the Project (as defined and described in the Petition), the overwhelming majority of these potential lenders were either unwilling to provide any loan commitment or limited their offers to a term no longer than five years.  Given the estimated useful life of the Project renovations, financing the cost over five years is generally not appropriate.  
	8. Based on the NYISO’s discussions with potential lending sources, it is apparent that, in addition to an increased level of risk aversion amongst lenders, the recent economic crisis has resulted in lenders demanding deposits as part of any loan commitments, maintaining the ability to reset loan pricing and/or deny loan extensions, and avoiding lengthy loan terms.  Based on the results of the extensive negotiations mentioned above, the NYISO believes that the Proposed Construction Facility contains terms and conditions that, in their totality, are reasonable and competitive.  
	9. One of the most advantageous aspects of the Proposed Construction Facility is the length of the loan commitment period.  When Berkshire extended the offer for the Proposed Construction Facility to the NYISO in November, 2010, they agreed to hold the loan commitment for a period of nearly ten months (until the August 31, 2011 proposed loan closing).  This commitment timeframe allows the NYISO the necessary time to pursue required permits and approvals.  Since market conditions and other factors can change significantly over time, it is unusual for financial institutions to extend a financing offer with a commitment period of this duration. 
	10. Another very favorable condition of the Proposed Construction Facility is the length of the loan term.  During the NYISO’s negotiations, the predominant loan term suggested by financial institutions was less than 20 years, which would have resulted in debt service repayment costs to Market Participants considerably higher than what is included in the Proposed Construction Facility.  However, the 20-year period of the Proposed Construction Facility (3-years’ interest-only payments during construction, followed by 17 years of principal and interest payments) defers principal repayment until mid-2014 and permits the NYISO’s current and future Market Participants to repay this financing over a period of time commensurate with the long-term investment in the Project.  
	11. As mentioned above, financial institutions have placed an increased focus on receiving deposits as part of extending loan offers, particularly in connection with large or multi-year transactions.  The Proposed Construction Facility contains a requirement to place an amount equal to 10% of the total loan commitment (up to $4,500,000) in deposits with the Lenders.  This level of depository requirement is considerably less than depository requirements in the majority of other financing options that the NYISO has recently considered. 
	12. As is common in most real estate financings, the Proposed Construction Facility requires that the Lenders receive a security interest as part of this long-term financing.  The Lenders were willing to accept a security interest in the Carman Property, which avoids further encumbering the Krey Property.  Additionally, most commercial mortgages require a security interest in assets equal to the amount of the financing.  However, in this case, the security interest in the Carman Property is a fraction of the maximum principal amount of the Proposed Construction Facility.
	13. The covenants required as part of the Proposed Construction Facility are expected to mirror those in the NYISO’s existing financings, thereby not introducing any significant financial or operating restrictions and enabling the NYISO to maintain the same level of reporting and monitoring as is required by the NYISO’s existing debt.
	14. The Proposed Construction Facility also permits the NYISO to prepay the outstanding balance of the loan without penalty, as long as standard notice is provided to the Lenders.  This provides the NYISO the flexibility to consider potential alternatives to refinance this loan during its 20-year term, if economic conditions and the lending climate were to significantly change.
	15. From a cost perspective, the fees associated with the Proposed Construction Facility are generally consistent with other lending offers considered by the NYISO in connection with the Project and with several of the NYISO’s current credit facilities, including the 2010 Revolver and the 2011-2013 Budget Facility (as such credit facilities are described in the Petition).  The interest spread on the Proposed Construction Facility is also generally consistent with current market trends.  Based on the one-month LIBOR rate as of December 1, 2010, the annual interest rate for the Proposed Construction Facility would be 3.51%.

	X. Affidavit (Rich Dewey).pdf
	1. I am the Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of the New York Independent System Operator, Inc. (the “NYISO”).  As such, I am responsible for all aspects of the technology and facilities infrastructure used by the NYISO to reliably operate the New York bulk power grid and administer the New York wholesale electricity markets.  My responsibilities in the areas of technology include technology strategy, system design and planning, technical infrastructure management and support, quality assurance, and cyber security oversight and administration.  My responsibilities in the areas of facilities include the management and maintenance of all NYISO buildings and grounds, site planning, and physical security oversight and administration.
	2. I have read the foregoing Petition and understand its contents.  In support of the Petition, I hereby attest to the following:
	Deficiencies at Existing Facilities

	3. After identifying the expanded responsibilities facing the NYISO and determining what will be required to meet those responsibilities, the NYISO spent considerable time assessing its current facilities to determine their suitability to meet these changing requirements, any deficiencies that need to be addressed, and to what extent the facilities can be modified or expanded, without significant new construction.  The following is a summary of that assessment divided between the three key facilities:  (1) the current primary control center at the NYISO’s Carman Road facility (the “Carman Property”), (2) the alternate control center and additional facilities at the NYISO’s Krey Boulevard facility (the “Krey Property”), and (3) the data center at the Carman Property.  
	Current Primary Control Center

	4. The facility at the Carman Property was purpose-built as a control center in 1969 by the predecessor of the NYISO – the New York Power Pool – which used the building for offices and a control center from that date.  It is the oldest of the North American ISO and RTO control centers.
	5. The layout and construction of the Carman Property control center presents challenges to the continued reliable and efficient operation of the New York State electric grid.  The deficiencies that should be remedied in the near future to ensure continued reliable operations in light of the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities can be grouped as follows:
	6. While the NYISO and the New York Power Pool have maintained and renovated the control center over its life, there are several problems with the current layout and infrastructure that cannot be resolved without major construction.
	7. Installation of video display walls and related improvements will require a general reconfiguration of the control center to maximize visibility and improve situational awareness for control center operators.  While the existing tile mapboard has certain advantages, most ISO control centers have implemented video display walls in place of or supplemental to mapboards.  The set of data presented on a video wall and the form of presentation can be changed moment-to-moment and the technology allows for the rapid deployment of new presentations of data.  These capabilities will help realize the full value of the Broader Regional Markets initiatives, and Smart Grid technologies, and will assist with the integration of renewable resources.  Large format video displays also allow for improved situational awareness for all control center operator positions.  This will provide a significant advantage if the control center’s operator complement is increased, and, therefore, the distance from the furthest operator to the wall displays lengthens.
	8. The Carman Property control center currently supports reliable and efficient electric grid operations.  However, as a result of the facility’s age, there are problems that need to be addressed in the near future to ensure continued reliable operations including the following:
	9. The existing Carman Property and Krey Property control centers meet current reliability needs.  However, in the near future both control centers will need to be expanded to support the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  Given that it is reasonable to expect that additional operating positions may be needed beyond those now planned, any renovation of the control centers should include space for additional operator positions beyond what has been identified.  The Carman Property control center is large enough to accommodate the minimum number of additional operator position consoles, but will require construction to incorporate further operator position consoles, particularly in conjunction with the redevelopment of the existing wallboard with video technology.  If the NYISO were to renovate the Carman Property as the primary control center, construction could take 24 to 36 months.  The NYISO would need to operate from the Krey Property alternate control center for some of the construction time.  As discussed below, the Krey Property control center is not presently suitable for long-term operation.
	Krey Property Control Center

	10. In 2005, NYISO purchased the Krey Property to consolidate the majority of its staff into a single location.  As part of the renovations to the building, a new data center and a new alternate control center were constructed within the building.  The relocation of the alternate control center was primarily driven by the NYISO’s need to resolve certain security risks regarding the location of the then-existing alternate control center that had been identified by several security studies by U.S. agencies and the NYISO’s internal audit staff.
	11. The control center at the Krey Property currently provides a reliable alternate control center for the NYISO’s existing responsibilities, as required by NERC.  However, the layout and construction of the control center present potential challenges to continued reliable and efficient operation of the New York State electric grid.  The deficiencies that must be remedied in the near future to maintain continued reliable operations in light of the NYISO’s expanding responsibilities can be grouped as follows:
	12. While the Carman Property has adequate space within the control center security zone, the Krey Property control center space is very limited.  If the NYISO is to operate from the Krey Property control center for more than a few days, arrangements must be made to move personnel normally occupying the offices surrounding the alternate control center to make room for the required operations support personnel from the primary control center.  If the Carman Property is unusable for more than a few weeks, approximately 75 employees would need to move to the Krey Property.  Business continuity plans provide for temporary relocation, but, over time, efficiency of operations will suffer if the relocation of staff is required for a longer period of time.  These 75 employees do not include approximately 10 management and administrative staff who would also be relocated if operations were to move to the Krey Property for more than a few days.
	13. The Krey Property control center video display wall is a two-high by twelve-wide matrix of projection cubes, installed into the front wall of the control room.  This display area of 512 square feet is less than 25% of the Carman Property control center wallboard size (2090 square feet).  The two-high column of projectors on the left side of the wall is used to display chart recorder data, and the remaining screens show the transmission one-line diagrams.  The Phase 1 telemetry data is presented in the chart recorder space, but the data feed at the Krey Property control center is not considered as reliable as it is dependent on equipment at the Carman Property control center.  If the Carman Property control center is out of service, this data will not be available at the Krey Property control center.
	14. The size of the video wall is limited by the length of the room and the low ceiling height.  While this video display wall is adequate for the current level of operations, it will not be adequate for the expansion required to meet the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  This is particularly true when considering video display capabilities for enhanced situational awareness.
	15. If the Krey Property control center is to continue as a reliable alternate control center for even the near future, shortcomings of the power supply system need to be addressed.  The Krey Property is fed from a single substation, and uses a single generator for non-critical load and another single generator for critical loads.  The supply to critical loads is configured for an additional generator that has not yet been installed.  There are no provisions for sharing or transferring loads between the two generators or for selective load shedding.
	16. The reliability of the Krey Property power supply is on the order of 97.5%, compared to 99.9% for the Carman Property.  This is acceptable for its current use as an alternate control center, but not acceptable if it is to be considered a viable primary control center.
	17. The Krey Property control center meets current reliability requirements.  However, in the near future both control centers will need to be expanded, replaced, or renovated to support the expanded responsibilities identified above.
	18. One additional control room console position could possibly be added in the Krey Property control center by eliminating some office space.  However, the view of the video display from that console would be severely compromised with the acute angle to the screens, exacerbating an already marginal situation.  Expansion of the room itself is limited by its placement within the building; it is bordered on three sides by fixed walls.  The critical problem will be expanding the video display as needed to improve situational awareness.  The ceiling height is limited by the ceiling structure, which cannot reasonably be altered.  This severely limits the amount of data that can be shown on the video displays.
	Carman Property Data Center

	19. The NYISO, and its predecessor, the New York Power Pool, have realized good value from the Carman Property Data Center.  Over its forty-year life the Carman Property Data Center has been expanded, augmented, and renovated as needs and technology have changed.  The Carman Property Data Center is not without problems.  None of these problems in isolation is sufficient to necessitate replacing the center.  However, considering the age of the building, and the risks to reliability and business continuity that are presented if the NYISO had to carry out its core functions and new responsibilities at its existing facilities for an extended period of time, the NYISO believes that a new data center is warranted and that construction should be completed as soon as possible.  
	20. The Carman Property Data Center is an inefficient design.  The cost of this inefficiency is estimated to be $100,000 to $200,000 per year in excess energy costs that will be saved in a new data center.  While not enough to by itself justify a new facility, the savings over the lifetime of a new data center can offset some of the construction cost.  The sooner these benefits could be realized, the greater the payback.
	21. Also, the near-term plans for the NYISO’s information technology infrastructure reinforce the need for a new data center.  The NYISO refreshes its IT infrastructure over multi-year cycles, targeted at three years.  Several significant projects now underway would benefit from installation directly into a new data center (as opposed to installation into the existing center and subsequent movement to a new center).  Benefits would include reduced costs (labor and shorter project cycles) by avoiding the work to relocate the new hardware from the existing center to the new center and reduced risk of outages for the same reason.
	Alternatives and Why Proposed Project is Best Option

	22. As described above, both the Carman Property control center and the Krey Property control center have shortcomings in their layout, infrastructure, and their capacity to accommodate the expected new functionality and additional operating staff required to implement the NYISO’s expanded responsibilities.  The most pressing issues are the space constraints at the Krey Property control center, the out-of-date wall displays at the Carman Property control center, the aging infrastructure at the Carman Property, and the need for a new Carman Property Data Center.  
	23. The constraints imposed by the conditions of the facilities at the Carman Property and the Krey Property and the requirements for reliable operations limit the effective alternatives to the following:
	24. These constraints would require development of an interim alternate control center during the necessary renovation of the Carman Property control center.  Given the costs to establish an adequate facility and the fact that such a facility would be of limited long term value to the NYISO, this alternative is inadvisable.  If a third control center must be developed during renovation of the Carman Property, it would be better to devote such efforts to a new primary control center.  
	25. With the above conclusions in mind, the NYISO analyzed, from a cost-benefit standpoint, the following two possible projects as viable means by which to meet the expanded responsibilities described above.
	26. This option includes the following:
	27. The Carman Property control center would be expanded to accommodate the additional operating positions necessary for the Broader Regional Markets initiative and other expanded responsibilities.  However, expanding beyond those additional positions would involve significant brick and mortar modifications since the control room is built out to existing exterior walls.  
	28. The existing alternate control center at the Krey Property would be relocated to a new 15,000 square foot addition to the existing building.  This addition would only house the control center and a new video wallboard similar to the primary control center.  Future expansion of the alternate control center may not be viable since it would be built out to exterior walls. 
	29. This plan includes provision for housing the additional operations staff at the Krey Property at the Krey Property in temporary trailers for extended operation.   
	30. The plan would accommodate the need for increased situational awareness and smart grid functions on the video wallboards.
	31. The 2011-2013 cost estimate for this alternative is $56,200,000.  This alternative would achieve approximately $150,000 in energy savings per year once the Carman Property data center commences operation and the old data center is retired.  
	32. This option includes the following:
	33. The new Krey Property control center would be built initially for the additional operating positions that would address short term needs and accommodate potential long term needs, as envisioned by NYISO.  Expansion beyond those additional positions would be possible since renovations would involve interior sheetrock walls rather than exterior building walls.  
	34. Under this alternative, the existing Carman Property control center would become the new alternate control center.  The static mapboard would remain and additional large video screens would be added around the side perimeters of the room for increased situational awareness.  This site also has the ability to be renovated at a future time to replace the static mapboard with a video wallboard and to reposition the operator consoles to accommodate additional operators.
	35. If the new alternate control center is required to be operational for extended periods (greater than two weeks), the operations support staff would be housed in existing office space, conference rooms and potentially the old data center area.   
	36. The 2011-2013 cost estimate for this alternative is $48,900,000.  This alternative would achieve approximately $150,000 in energy savings per year once the Carman Property data center begins operation and the old data center is retired.
	37. Under this alternative, the NYISO has also identified gains in internal operational efficiencies by consolidating NYISO functions on a single campus.  These efficiencies are estimated to be approximately $700,000 per year beginning in year four of the Project (as defined in the Petition).  These savings result from full time equivalent employee reductions of a physical security shift ($200,000) and other staff ($500,000).
	38. Alternative 2 provides NYISO with the foundation, feasibility and infrastructure to support its current and expanded responsibilities.  This option gives the NYISO flexibility in present day operation and in the future in both the control centers.  There is also no need for additional temporary facilities to be installed at the alternate control center, since existing offices, conference rooms and the old data center would be available to temporarily accommodate operations staff during a contingency event.
	39. The analysis of Alternative 1 indicated that although this option would fulfill the NYISO’s present day needs, it will not support future expansion due to limited space.  Temporary office space to house the operation support staff would need to be installed at the Krey Property in the event that the primary control center becomes unavailable for use.  Even though the trailers would only be installed on an as-needed basis, the NYISO would have to absorb the annual cost to keep them available on short notice.  In addition, the Carman Property is limited in its utility because it is an aging facility that has been modified and adapted numerous times to meet the expanding needs of the NYISO.
	40. The results from this analysis and findings shows that Alternative 2 is the most economic plan with net present cost of $40,500,000 as compared to $48,200,000 for Alternative 1 through 2021.  Alternative 2 positions the NYISO to meet its expanded responsibilities for the future and provides options for the NYISO to accommodate future growth.




